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GS) COMPANY LIMITED

CHINA RESOURCES (H

1.43%*

59.55%*

EEEHAERAT

China Resources Land Limited

72.29%%*

EHERLEEERLT

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

EFEVEEERS
Residential Property
Management Services

EERA
1,3 6 2 Projects under management

& RIER
1, 8 8 2 Contracted projects

280 O EE®mE
° GFA under management

BET K sq.m. in million

335.5  Gonractea e

HET K sq.m. in million

“BE-_Z-_—F+=-A=+—AH
As of 31 December 2022

142

B L E MY EEIE RS
Commercial Operational and
Property Management Services

BMEELRBBEYDDPLOERERR(BEEY
ROLDHEIER)

Number of contracted shopping mall under
commercial operational services (including
shopping mall subleasing projects)

36

REELRBEYHOLEMEBEER (BEE
WO HEIER )

Number of opened shopping mall under
commercial operational services (including
shopping mall subleasing projects)

32

HEELRBEFEERIER M
Number of contracted office under
commercial operational services

27

HEELRBEFECHEEER
Number of opened office under commercial
operational services
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China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (“CR Mixc
Lifestyle”) (stock code: 1209. HK) is the leading property
management and commercial operational services provider
in China. Upholding to our corporate vision to “become a
trustworthy and popular urban quality-life service provider
among customers”, CR Mixc Lifestyle fully capitalizes
on the superior operational capabilities, abundant
ecological resources and strong integrated membership
system to build an urban quality-life service platform
featured with “multiple property types, all customers
and full spectrum of product and service offerings”. Our
commercial management business focuses on high-end
and high-quality shopping mall segment and, by promoting
*MIXC”, “MIXC ONE” and “MIXC World” as our core brands
and leveraging on our industrial-leading commercial
operational capabilities, our aim of high quality and
large-scale development has been persistently pursued,
striving to become “the PRC’s No.1 brand in commercial
operational and management”. For property management
business, concentrating on three main segments, namely
high-quality residential projects, urban public space and
office buildings and industrial parks, and using “MIXC
Services” as the core brand, we uphold to our business
layout of covering all property types across all regions
so as to become “the PRC’s most influential urban space
operational service provider”. As of 31 December 2022,
the GFA of the residential and commercial properties under
our property management services was approximately
299.2 million sg.m. and the GFA of the shopping malls
and office buildings under our commercial operational
services was approximately 11.0 million sg.m. In the
future, the Company will further increase investment in
technology and take technological innovation as the core
edge to continuously strengthen our integrated ecosystem,
facilitate urban development and play a leading role in
creating people’s happy life.
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COMPANY HONOR

2022

2022FERHENBEFENEENOA — BRFELH
No. 1 among 2022 Most Influential Commercial Real
Estate Enterprises — Van Sound Club

2022 F ERFEMERERENOC.A — BE
No. 1 among 2022 Commercial Property Enterprises
with Outstanding Performance — Guandian

2022F E R EME M EERENO. 1 — B2
No. 1 among 2022 Commercial Property Brand Value
with Outstanding Performance — Guandian

2022 F YR RIE AREETOP.7 — R 7Tk
No. 7 among Top 100 Property Service Enterprise in

China of 2022 — China Index Academy

2022 BRF (B2 LT AR08 TOP.6 — S /EFHIE
Fehe

No. 6 among Top 10 Listed Property Services
Companies of 2022 — E-House Real Estate Research
Institute

20227 B E RIS 4R E B IINO.6 — F 5

No. 6 among 2022 Property Service Enterprises in
Terms of Comprehensive Strengths in China — China
Property Management Research Institution

2022FEEMTLVEFELEELEERE — 2 EH
EReREMETIEZES

Star Award for 2022 Excellent Operation and
Management Enterprises of Shopping Malls — China
Real Estate Chamber of Commerce — Commercial
Real Estate Association

2021

RETEEFZENBETOP100 £ —% — BRRL%s
First among Top 100 Most Influential Commercial
Real Estate Enterprises — Van Sound Club

B E RIS BREXTOP10 — P IEHZEE
Top 10 Property Service Enterprise in China — China
Index Academy

REYEREERE ETAR1058TOP7 — 5 EEEN
Febe

No. 7 among Top 10 Listed Property Services
Companies in China — E-House Real Estate Research
Institute

HEEEIMAETOP1005 — % — B
First among Top 100 China Commercial Real Estate
— Guandian Index Academy

R EMEMPERIRTOP100 £—8 — BIEIEHMEL
First among Top 100 Commercial Property
Enterprises with Outstanding Performance -
Guandian Index Academy

MERBEELREENTOPS — R

Top 8 Property Service Enterprises in Terms
of Comprehensive Strengths — China Property
Management Research Institution

2018=2020——

HEYEERERREEF 1S — PEBEEH K
11th among Top 100 Property Management
Companies in China — China Index Academy




2020
(“hAva=pv

BRI E S EREL RFTOP10 NO.1 — BE
Ei=t G

No. 1 among Top 10 Property Service Enterprise in
Terms of Multiple Type Operational Services in China
— Guandian Index Academy

HEYEEERBmE — SECESE — mlin
China Property Quality Service Brand — CRIC China

REMERBFERELEETREE — FRESHARLR
Enterprise with Corporate Social Responsibility in the
PRC Property Management Service industry — China
Index Academy

MERBEEENBAR — PEMEERRS
Potential Unicorn of Property Management Service —
China Property Management Research Institution

TEMEEERBME — HECEEE — mlin
China Property Quality Service Brand — CRIC China

2019—

R EIY ARG R E L St mE 3 — P EIIR R
China Leading Property Management Companies
in terms of Characteristic Service — China Index
Academy

2018-2019——

REEFEECEMEEEBEIORE—R — FEFEME
*he

First among Best 10 of China Commercial Real
Estate Developers Brand Value — China Real Estate
Association

—Z==%%4% | Annual Report 2022 | /

2018

MEMEZENTOPI0E—& — HEFERME
TOP100%f 5t 48

First among Top 10 Commercial Property Companies
in terms of Industry Influence — China Commercial
Property Top 100 Research Group

HEEMERBECEBEMEEL108FE—F — FEE
WEXGE

First among Best 10 of Operations of China
Commercial Real Estate Developers — China Real
Estate Association

2017

HEBEMERRERES — B — PEEEH L
First among Top 100 Commercial Property Companies
in China — China Index Academy

2046-20+-Smmm

BRI ETOP1005E £ —% — BRAER
First among Top 100 China Commercial Real Estate —
Guandian Property Institute
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=1
A under management of residential
properties

280.0

B8 Tk
Million Square Meters

EEMEEHEER
Contracted GFA of residential properties

335.5

BEFIHK
Million Square Meters

BYHLTER

Retail sales of shopping malls

126.4

ARE+ET
RMB Billion

EREXEVTLEE

Number of opened shopping malls

386

EREBYTOEE
GFA of opened shopping malls

9.2

EE R
Million Square Meters

2 B

Number of members
3,400
&

Ten thousands
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

2022 2021 REER
Year-on-Year
Growth
EEYEEE RS Residential Property
Management Services
& RZEmE (FEHFK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in 335,467 185,904 80.5%
thousands)
EREEmENIEEHE Number of projects for contracted 1,882 1,041 80.8%
GFA
EEREmE (TEFK) GFA under management (sg.m. in 279,949 146,833 90.7%
thousands)
TEREEBEMNEEHE Number of projects for GFA under 1,362 754 80.6%
management
BYHOBEELERBERDES Commercial Operational
2 R 7% Services and Property
Management Services for
Shopping Malls
EREEmE (FEFK) Contracted GFA (sqg.m. in 15,148* 13,014 16.4%
thousands)
AREEmMENIEEHE Number of projects for contracted 142* 122 16.4%
GFA
EFREIEEZERE (TEHK) GFA of projects opened (sg.m. in 8,968 7,378 21.6%
thousands)
EFRXEE&E Number of projects opened 84 69 21.7%
BEFEREELRK Commercial Operational
Services for Offices
EREEEE (TEHK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in 2,097 1,900 10.4%
thousands)
AREEEBEMNEEHEAE Number of projects for contracted 32 30 6.7%
GFA
P FE S RS EEEE GFA under commercial operational 1,766 1,622 8.9%
(FF7K) services
(sg.m. in thousands)
B L RGAIEE 2B Number of projects under 27 25 8.0%

commercial operational services

Please refer to page 26 of this report for the basis of the contracted GFA and the number of projects for contracted
GFA as of 31 December 2022.
* BABZE_T_—_F+_A=+t—HERAREEELERREEENIARMEMELE  F2HAREFE26H -
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2022 2021 REER
Year-on-Year
Growth
BFBYXEERY Property Management Services
for Offices
& RZEmE (FEHK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in 13,195 10,003 31.9%
thousands)
ERELMERIEE #E Number of projects for contracted 158 127 24.4%
GFA
YEEERBHEEER GFA under property management 10,526 8,213 28.2%
(FFEFHK) services (sg.m. in thousands)
MEEERRBEHIIER HE Number of projects under property 145 115 26.1%
management services
FTENBER (AREBEERT) Selected Financial Information
(RMB million)
W Revenue 12,016 8,875 35.4%
EH Gross Profit 3,611 2,759 30.9%
HRRHEE ARGEAFHE Profit for the year attributable to 2,206 1,725 27.9%
owners of the parent
SREHER AEEZOFEFE Core net profit attributable to 2,225 1,702 30.7%
owners of the parent
FTEEEEBRYE Selected Balance Sheet Data
(AR¥EETR) (RMB million)
BEE Total assets 25,838 21,592 19.7%
B Total debt 11,512 7,703 49.5%
- Eny b Total equity 14,326 13,889 3.1%
FEKLEE Selected Financial Ratios
EF| Gross profit margin 30.1% 31.1% -1.0pt
R INEE Net profit margin 18.4% 19.4% -1.0pt
AR NS Core net profit margin 18.5% 19.2% -0.7pt
EREREZF (ARET) Basic earnings per share, (RMB) 0.967 0.756 27.9%
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

RARARSUBREZ2ARE T _—F+—
A=+—ALZFE ((AFE]) XEOERR

Et}éo

—E-—F BRERBABER  MEEMEA
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BHP B RREERERE S - BHET ISR
BHE - BEEETSEERBIRA - 1750
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% o

TECCF EREAEZREEMSERRR
R ERECHEEAERFEANBIER - EE
AEmEEDEE — M6 - HREHNET
BOEIRHRBEREREN  HEAANBE R
B METEXFHERBRERYE  RELM
BT R RZBIUMENEE - BEAMISGED
BEENE  BRYEIUETSE VRRMAE
BRE BRREEER-

| am pleased to present the annual business review for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (“Year”) and outlook of the
Group to the shareholders.

In 2022, as the international situation was turbulent and
also due to other factors, China encountered severe
challenges in economic growth. The Chinese government
issued a package of policies to “stabilize the economy” in
a timely manner to effectively cope with multiple shocks
and ensure the overall stability of the macro economy.
The annual gross domestic product of China exceeded
RMB120 trillion for the first time, leading global major
economies in terms of real growth. The total retail sales
of social consumer goods remained stable, reinforcing
China’s position as the world’s second largest consumer
market and demonstrating China’s strong resilience and
growth potential. The demand and supply of the real estate
market continued to reach an equilibrium, and the market
share of leading real estate enterprises increased steadily.
The industry was transforming to a new development
model at an accelerating rate, and the value chain has
been shifting to the back-end operations.

In 2022, due to the excellent performance of the global
personal luxury goods consumption market, mainstream
luxury goods groups achieved significant growth in
results, while the domestic consumption in high-end goods
was still restrained to a certain extent and decreased
slightly in the short term, the trend of growing mainstream
consumer groups and consumption upgrade remained
unchanged. Due to the emergence of the real estate crisis
in China, the problems of insufficient marketization and
lack of independence in property management industry
were exposed and there was a serious divergence in
market valuation in the capital market. The leading
property enterprises seized the market window to rapidly
enlarge their management scale and realize high-quality
development.
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STEADY GROWTH OF ANNUAL RESULTS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RETURN

Since the Listing, the management of the Company
has always pursued high-quality results to create value
for shareholders in a sustainable manner. In 2022, the
Company was promoted as a constituent stock of the Hang
Seng Index on the occasion of the second anniversary
of its Listing, continuously enhancing its influence and
reputation in the capital market. The Group realized
an annual consolidated revenue of RMB12.016 billion,
representing a year on year (“YoY”) increase of 35.4%,
and a core net profit of RMB2.225 billion, representing a
YoY increase of 30.7%. The Group’s earnings per share
relating to core net profit was RMB0.975. Solid growth was
achieved in all core performance indicators. On top of the
special dividend of RMB0.3643 (equivalent to HK$0.4069)
per share declared in light of the second anniversary of
the Listing, the Board has resolved to recommend the
declaration of a final dividend of RMB0.312 (equivalent
to HK$0.357) per share, representing a YoY increase of
13.0%, and together with the interim dividend of RMBO0.127
(equivalent to HK$0.145) per share paid in 2022, the
annual payout rate increased from 37% of 2021 to 45%,
further boosting the return to shareholders.

CONSOLIDATION OF ADVANTAGES IN
COMMERCIAL MANAGEMENT BUSINESS

In 2022, the Group’'s commercial management business
continued to lead the development of the industry and
further consolidated its competitive advantages and
leading position in the high-end market. Against different
challenges, the Group made swift deployment to fully
implement the strategies of capturing resources, attracting
customers, adopting favourable policies and controlling
expenses, so as to ensure the core indicators of its
operating shopping malls grew against the market. The
Group realized an annual retail sales of RMB126.44 billion,
representing a YoY increase of 6.3%. The Group achieved
an operating profit of RMB9.452 billion from the property
owners side, representing a YoY increase of 2.2%, and
the operating profit margin from the property owners side
was 59.7%, driving the Group’s annual revenue from
commercial operating services for shopping malls to
RMB2.48 billion, representing a YoY increase of 16.5%.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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“FFTZA=+—H  AEEBEYRLEERY
X EERBEBMAEETEMT - £ ETHE86(E -

FREGBRBEFEMAF  HEREEMAF -
Eiﬁilaftﬁm%%%%T HAREE
£80.7%KF AFEERSTIEEERYEE
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TR R STYEEERVMETEREBRGR
AT{EY T - EEIEE271@ -

The Group accelerated the expansion of its commercial
operation services and opened 16 new shopping malls
throughout the Year, leading the industry with an average
opening rate (excluding international brands) of 90.9%.
The Group further cooperated closely with leading
strategic brands and opened three new luxury MIXC
in Wuhan, Fuzhou and Haikou during the Year, thus
increasing the number of luxury MIXC under operation
to 11, which ranked first in the industry in terms of scale
of luxury shopping malls. During the Year, the Group
signed 13 new commercial light asset expansion projects,
including 11 TOD projects and 10 core city projects.
Through an innovative model, the Group acquired the PPP
project of Shenzhen Longgang Universiade Center (F3II%E
fEAZEAR ) and Xi'an Airport Terminal Project (8% #15fin
UEIEIE B ), ranking first in the industry in terms of scale and
quality of expansion. As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s
shopping mall operation and property management
services business covered 67 cities, and 86 projects were
under operation.

By stably retaining existing tenants and attracting new
tenants, the office building business maintained an
occupancy rate at 80.7% in a difficult environment of an
industry-wide upward vacancy rate. The revenue from
office building operation and property management
services for the Year amounted to RMB1.73 billion,
representing a YoY increase of 20.7%. As of the end
of 2022, the office building operation and property
management business covered 47 cities, and 27 projects
were under operation.
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HIGH QUALITY GROWTH OF PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT BUSINESS

In 2022, the Group’s property management business
adhered to high-quality development, actively transformed
the urban space operation business, and achieved
steady growth in various core operating indicators.
The Group recorded an annual revenue of RMB7.802
billion, representing a YoY increase of 46.9%. The Group
continued to improve the basic property service quality
with customer satisfaction reaching 89 points, maintaining
its leading position in the industry. The Group continuously
optimized and improved service efficiency, maintaining
stable gross profit margins for basic services. Revenue
from the community value-added service increased
significantly by 73.3% YoY, accounting for 16.1% of
revenue from the property management business.

During the Year, the Group completed the largest merger
and acquisition in the industry. After completing the
transactions of Zhongnan Services (FERF), Yuzhou
Property (82M#%) and Jiuzhou Property (JLMN#Z),
the Group becomes one of the top tier companies in the
industry in terms of management scale, with an additional
contracted GFA of 143 million sg.m. in the Year. The
Group fully developed its urban space operation business,
completed the establishment of urban space operation
product standards, conducted in-depth practice in projects
such as Houhai (#£)8) in Shenzhen, Nanshan (FELL) in
Chongging and Dong’an Lake (2% #) in Chengdu, and
newly obtained “property management city” key projects
at Nanhu Street (@##7:&) and Sungang Street (¥m@H
&) in Shenzhen. As of 31 December 2022, the Group's
residential and other property management business
covered 153 cities across China, with 280 million sg.m.
GFA under management and 336 million sg.m. contracted
GFA.
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INITIAL ACHIEVEMENT IN MEMBERSHIP
BUSINESS

In 2022, the Group successfully launched its own bonus
point brand “MIXC Star (B £)” and launched its
independently developed platform system for the operation
of membership to connect the commercial management
and property management of the Group and CR Land’s
businesses including marketing, health care, long-term
rental, hotels, etc., realizing the recognition of membership
status and bonus points across all business sectors,
and continuously improving members’ satisfaction and
consumption contribution through cross-segment bonus
points and interest operation. As of 31 December 2022,
the total number of members of MIXC Star exceeded 34
million, with approximately 8.45 million new members
during the Year, laying a solid foundation for further
understanding the demand of members and enhancing
cross-segment bonus points and interest operations.

COMPREHENSIVELY DEEPENING
ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

In 2022, focusing on cost reduction, quality improvement
and efficiency enhancement, the Group strictly controlled
expenses, optimized the remuneration incentive
mechanism, and accelerated the implementation of the
“streamlined, flat, dynamic and self-driven” ([1&fRF -
& 1B%E]) two-level management and control system to
promote the continuous improvement of average employee
efficiency. As of 31 December 2022, the per capita
commercial GFA under management increased by 11%
YoY, and the per capita property GFA under management
increased by 13% YoY, effectively contributing to the
high-quality growth of the Group’s performance.
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COMPREHENSIVELY PROMOTING
DIGITAL DEVELOPMENT

In 2022, the Group independently established a
digital team integrating production and research to
comprehensively promote digital development. The
commercial management business comprehensively
improved the tenant sourcing and commercial
management system and created brand-new tenant entry
and online trading tools, empowering tenants’ operation;
fully upgraded “E-MIXC (—2&%)” APP to greatly
optimize members’ experience. The property management
business completed the launch of the new system, “Zhaoxi
(#8E)", to improve owners’ experience and empower
front-line employees, and comprehensively upgraded
the property charging system, laying a foundation for
further cost reduction, quality improvement and efficiency
enhancement.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE (“ESG”)

In 2022, the Group continued to practice the concept of
sustainable development, formulating ESG, carbon peaking
and carbon neutrality strategies, officially releasing the
ESG strategic system to the public, and was successfully
included in the “HSI ESG Enhanced Index” and “HSI ESG
Enhanced Select Index”. The Group actively fulfilled its
responsibility as a state-owned enterprise by supporting
the combat of COVID-19 pandemic at the forefront to
ensure supply and promoting the integration of modern
service industry into the construction of beautiful villages
to facilitate rural revitalization.
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to 2023, the global economy is still faced
with the challenges of geopolitical tensions and growth
stagnation. China is expected to gradually introduce more
effective and vigorous economic revitalization policies,
leading to a gradual recovery in domestic investment
and consumption. In terms of commercial management,
benefiting from the accelerating pace of consumption
upgrade and people turning to consumers at a younger
age, the global luxury market remains to have more
than 60% growth potential by 2030. With a bright market
prospects, China’s luxury consumption market share is
expected to expand further. The high-end and quality
shopping centers in China will be benefited in the long
run. In terms of property management, it is expected
that policies will remain positive, regulations will be more
transparent and the industry players will have huge
potential for development. Leading property enterprises,
as the pioneers in market transformation, will conduct
mergers and acquisitions, thereby increasing the industry
concentration and contributing to the healthy development
of the property management market in the long run.

The Group will adhere to the strategic positioning of “urban
quality life service platform” ([WM@RELEERBEFE]) to
create a world-class enterprise with “excellent products,
outstanding brand, leading innovation and modern
governance” ( [EREH - REEZE - AIFEL . A
#IEHK | ). We will focus on core capacity building, and
continuously strengthen the control over core resources
to improve service standard, providing customers with
products and services beyond their expectations and
reinforcing our competitiveness in the industry. At the
same time, the Group will put its emphasis on brand
operation management by speaking for the industry
and engaging with the media, to demonstrate its high-
quality service image and become the most influential
brand in light asset management. Focusing on scientific/
technicalized production and upstream and downstream
derivative business expansion, we will continue to explore
business intelligence upgrade and business model
innovation to enhance operating efficiency and improve
resource monetization. Furthermore, we will focus on the
management of benchmarking to benchmark against the
world’s best enterprises and make continuous efforts
in corporate governance reform, emphasize green
development, and create an agile organization and high-
quality development management system that meets the
needs of light asset management.
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In 2023, the Group’s commercial management business
will ride on the trend of consumption upgrade by further
cooperating strategically with core brands and introducing
and incubating scarce and innovative brands to reinforce
the Group’s economic moats brought by these brands
and to continuously improve the competitive strengths
of the Group’s products. We will make a good synergy
with the parent company, focus on opportunities to stock
up quality existing projects in core cities and continue
to strengthen high-quality expansion. Meanwhile, the
Group will proactively explore innovative products
and business models to become “the number 1 brand
in China’s commercial operation management”. The
property management business will adhere to high-
quality development, continue to improve market-
oriented direct expansion capabilities, actively focus on
high-quality project acquisition opportunities, and fully
integrate existing mergers and acquisitions projects.
It will also continue to optimize the hierarchical and
classified management of projects, keep improving the
quality of basic services through benchmarking, optimize
management efficiency and reduce management costs. On
the basis of community value-added services, the Group
will enhance integrated facilities management capabilities
on commercial buildings and urban space commercial
operation, build a comprehensive value-added service
system, and accelerate its progress to become the most
influential “urban space operation service provider” in
China. The membership business will further benefit the
system construction, with cross flow of members across
business as the core, expand the points pool and create
a proprietary product system with China Resources
characteristics, enhancing operational capabilities to
empower the development of the core business. In
addition, the Group will promote cooperation with more
external partners in different businesses to enrich business
ecosystem, and to continue to build a “2+1" integrated
business model. Meanwhile, with the focus on “reducing
costs, improving quality and increasing efficiency”, the
Group will continue to deepen organizational changes,
optimize management efficiency, accelerate the
digitalization of commercial operational management,
property management, membership and common systems,
fully promote the implementation of core projects of
scientific/technicalized production for core businesses to
continuously improve the average employee efficiency.
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In 2023, the Group will proactively seize opportunities
brought by policies and in the market to become a world-
class enterprise at an accelerated pace and make every
effort to achieve steady growth in corporate performance
and enhance shareholders’ value.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like
to extend my heartfelt gratitude to the shareholders,
customers and all sectors of society who have been
paying close attention to and supporting the development
of the Group. We are confident that we can overcome
challenges and grasp opportunities to achieve outstanding
development and continue to create more value for our
shareholders, our staff and our customers!
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business is divided into two main segments:
(i) residential property management services; and (ii)
commercial operational and property management
services.

Residential property management services: The Group
provides management services for residential properties
and other non-commercial properties comprising public
facilities such as stadiums, parks and industrial parks,
and brings various services to families and residents in
the communities to meet their living needs. The Group’s
residential property management services can be
categorized as follows:

° Property management services, including security,
cleaning and greening, as well as repair and
maintenance services to (i) property developers for
properties prior to their delivery, and (ii) property
owners, property owners’ associations or residents
for properties sold and delivered;

o Value-added services to property developers,
including consultancy, preliminary preparation, and
pre-delivery marketing services; and

° Community value-added services, including
community living services, and brokerage and asset
services.

Commercial operational and property management
services: commercial properties under the Group’s
management include shopping malls and office buildings.

For shopping malls, the Group provides:

° Commercial operational services, including
pre-opening management and operation
management services;

o Property management and other services, principally
including security, cleaning and greening, repair
and maintenance, as well as other value-added
services; and

o Commercial subleasing services, where the Group
leases certain quality shopping malls from their
owners and sublease to tenants such as retail stores
and supermarkets.
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For office buildings, the Group provides:

° Commercial operational services, including tenant
sourcing, asset management and operational
services, and opening preparation services; and
property management and other services, principally
including security, cleaning and greening, repair
and maintenance, as well as other value-added
services.

The table below sets forth details of revenue by business

KU AGETS ¢ segment and type of services as of the dates indicated:
BE+=-HA=+-—H
As of 31 December
—E-= B4
2022 2021
(AR%F ) % (AR¥EFIT) %
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
EEYXEE RS Residential property management
services
WS E R RT Property management services 5,572,668 46.4 3,772,249 42.5
1 49 57 25 78 RO S (B AR TS Value-added services to property 973,404 8.1 813,029 9.2
developers
AL B AR TS Community value-added services 1,255,982 10.4 724,777 8.1
NEE Subtotal 7,802,054 64.9 5,310,055 59.8
MEBERYMEEERE Commercial operational and
property management services
EEL2/ 1SN Shopping malls 2,482,323 20.7 2,130,267 24.0
g7iE Office buildings 1,731,802 14.4 1,435,062 16.2
N Subtotal 4,214,125 35.1 3,565,329 40.2
A&F Total 12,016,179 100.0 8,875,384 100.0
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Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands)
Number of projects for contracted GFA 1,882 1,041
GFA under management (sg.m. in thousands)
Number of projects for GFA under management 1,362 754
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RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
SERVICES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's
revenue from property management services amounted
to RMB7,802.1 million, representing a YoY increase of
46.9% and accounting for 64.9% of the total revenue.
The increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the
consolidation of the financial statements of the companies
acquired and the significant increase in GFA under
management brought by marketization and expansion.
As of 31 December 2022, there were 1,362 managed
residential and other non-commercial properties,
representing an increase of 608 as compared to the
corresponding date in 2021; the aggregate GFA under
management was 280.0 million sg.m., representing a YoY
increase of 133.1 million sgq.m..

The table below sets forth details of the contracted GFA
and GFA under management of residential and other
non-commercial properties as of the dates indicated:

R+=A=+—H
As of 31 December
—E-C8F SIS e
2022 2021
335,467 185,904

279,949 146,833
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TEREVAMEFREEERNE DR B R The table below sets forth a breakdown of the number of

EXTYHEEE  EERREEBERA - UARR residential properties under management, the aggregate

FraHARE R B MEEERBH WA - GFA under management as of the dates indicated, and
revenue generated from property management services by
type of property developer for the periods indicated:

Wt=A=+-B/8BZ+-A=t-RLEE

As of/For the year ended 31 December

—B-CE —E_F
2022 2021
it g
BEEE BEE#A g REER R s
GFA under ~ Number of GFA under Number of
management projects Revenue  management projects Revenue
(F¥HK) (AR%TR)  (FEAX) (AREFT)
(sq.m. in (sg.m. in
thousands) (RMB’000)  thousands) (RMB'000)
EHEN CR Land 115,519 652 3,221,197 95,777 511 2,819,316
ER(£8) BRAR China Resources (Holdings) 164,430 0 2,351,471 51,056 243 952,933
(T2 (£@) ) & Company Limied (‘CRH'),
HARDANRESN its holding companies, and
WBAR (5[ FEEEE]) their respective subsidiaries
BE=-HHER (collectively, “CR Group”) and
third-party developers
&t Total 279,949 1,362 5,572,668 146,833 754 3,772,249
B 13 2 D % e 1) BT RS VALUE-ADDED SERVICES TO PROPERTY
DEVELOPERS

BHEZZ-_—_F+-A=+—HILFE  ~&H For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
REMEREENEERBKARBARKEI73.4 recorded revenue generated from value-added services
BET RALLERE19.7% R A8.1% » £ to property developers of RMB973.4 million, representing
ZRARNEBRHIE QR BILRABRAIES o a YoY increase of 19.7% and accounting for 8.1% of the
total revenue. Such increase was mainly attributable to
the increase caused by the consolidation of the financial
statements of the company acquired by the Group.
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COMMUNITY VALUE-ADDED SERVICES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded revenue generated from community value-added
services of RMB1,256.0 million, representing a YoY
increase of 73.3% and accounting for 10.4% of the total
revenue. The increase was primarily resulted from the
increase in community services, assets operation and
investment services provided to property tenants driven
by the Group’s increased management scale and deeper
business development.

COMMERCIAL OPERATIONAL AND
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’'s
revenue from the commercial operational and property
management services to shopping malls amounted to
RMB2,482.3 million, representing a YoY increase of
16.5% and accounting for 20.7% of the total revenue. As
of 31 December 2022, the Group provided commercial
operational services to 84 opened shopping mall
projects with an aggregate GFA of 9.0 million sg.m., a
vast majority of which were also receiving the Group’s
property management services. In addition, the Group had
two opened shopping mall subleasing projects as of 31
December 2022.

85.3% of the segment revenue was generated from
the provision of commercial operational services and
property management services to shopping malls, with
the remaining revenue from the provision of commercial
subleasing services.
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The table below sets forth details of the contracted GFA
and GFA of projects opened under commercial operational
services and property management services for shopping
malls as of the dates indicated:

R+=B=+-—~H
As of 31 December

—EC-CF —E-—F

2022 2021

BRBERBE (TEHK)* Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands)* 15,148 13,014
ARBREMEMNIEESE" Number of projects for contracted GFA* 142 122
EFXEEEEmE (TF¥H5K) GFA of projects opened (sg.m. in thousands) 8,968 7,378
EHZEEESE Number of projects opened 84 69

NREAMERE AR E DR ATUR B B
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YERER RGO U A -

The table below sets forth a breakdown of the number of
opened shopping malls receiving commercial operational
services and the aggregate GFA as of the dates indicated,
and revenue generated from commercial operational
services and property management services by type of
property developer for the periods indicated:

Wt=A=+-B/BZ+-A=t-RLEE

As of/For the year ended 31 December

—E-CE “E--F
2022 2021

i3] g

BEER BEEYA Wi RERE EELE g
GFA under ~ Number of GFA under Number of

management projects Revenue management projects Revenue
(FERK) (AR®FR)  (FTAK) (ARBTT)

(sq.m. in (sg.m. in
thousands) (RMB’000)  thousands) (RMB'000)
ZHEN CR Land 7,671 67 1,915,735 6,368 53 1,692,229
EHEERE-FFEE  CR Group and third-party developers 1,297 17 201,183 1,010 16 168,775
&t Total 8,968 84 2,116,918 7,378 69 1,761,004

The contracted GFA and number of projects for contracted GFA as of 31 December 2022 included those

attributable to shopping mall subleasing projects. The contracted GFA and number of projects for contracted GFA
excluding shopping mall subleasing projects are 14,768 sqg.m. in thousands and 139 as of 31 December 2022

respectively.

. BE_Z-__F+ A=+ -BNAREZEEEIAREZERENEBRE REBYT OO BB EENERREERER
EREEMENBEEHAE - MHIKREDPLAHER  HE_T__F+_A=+—HANAFRAEEEERERELEED

HEHAE DR AE14,768 T F 75K K 1391 -
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OFFICE BUILDINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’'s
revenue from the commercial operational and property
management services to office buildings was RMB1,731.8
million, representing a YoY increase of 20.7% and
accounting for 14.4% of the total revenue. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group provided
commercial operational services for 27 office buildings
with an aggregate GFA of 1.8 million sq.m., and property
management services for 145 office buildings with an
aggregate GFA of 10.5 million sg.m..

92.7% of the segment revenue was generated from the
provision of property management services to office
buildings, with the remaining revenue from the provision of
commercial operational services.

The table below sets forth details of the contracted GFA
and GFA under management of office buildings as of the
dates indicated:

W+=—A=+—8
As of 31 December
—E_-= e e
2022 2021
EEEE RS Commercial operational services
AREEmE (FTEFHK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 2,097 1,900
ERZEmMERNIEB A Number of projects for contracted GFA 32 30
FFEE RS EEER GFA of the commercial operational services 1,766 1,622
(FEHFK) (sg.m. in thousands)
EESREIEEHE Number of projects for commercial operational 27 25
services
Y B PR Property management services
EREEmE (FTFHK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 13,195 10,003
EREEMERIEE B Number of projects for contracted GFA 158 127
M E R R R EE A GFA of the property management services 10,526 8,213
(FFEHK) (sg.m. in thousands)
Y EERSHIER A Number of projects for property management 145 115

services
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The table below sets forth a breakdown of the number of
office buildings under management, the aggregate GFA
under management as of the dates indicated, and revenue

BR4A : generated from commercial operational services and
property management services for the periods indicated
by type of property developers:

Rt=B=+-R/BE+=A=t-ALFE
As offFor the year ended 31 December
ZB-CE “E--F
2022 2021
i3] e
BEER ERHA Wi BEMEE CEL g
GFA under Number of GFA under Number of
management projects Revenue management projects Revenue
(FEAK) (AR%TR) (FEAX) (ARETT)
(sg.m. in (sq.m. in
thousands) (RMB’000)  thousands) (RMB'000)

BEEERY Commercial operational setvices

EREN CR Land 1,327 21 107,111 1,255 20 128,551

EHEERE-FFEE  CR Group and third-party developers 439 6 19,452 367 5 30,353

&5t Total 1,766 27 126,563 1,622 % 158,904

NEEERE Property management services

EHEN CR Land 1,775 98 1,230,396 6,582 81 1,047,275

ERSEAE=FHEE  CR Group and third-party developers 2,751 47 374,843 1,631 34 228,883

it Total 10,526 145 1,605,239 8,213 115 1,276,158
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OUTLOOK

The Group plans to selectively acquire, or establish joint
ventures with, property management and commercial
operational service providers with complementary
strengths or with a certain operation scale and profitability.
Meanwhile, the Group will adhere to its strategy to
penetrate regional market and take advantage of its
business network in cities with business presence
established and the brand advantages. In particular, it
will continue to expand the property management service
portfolio to all property types across the business while
focusing on medium and high-end segment in terms of
commercial operational services. In addition, it will strive
to secure quality projects from third parties, thereby
enhancing market share and realizing economies of scale.

The Group will continue to collaborate with CR Land to
secure new engagements of property management and
commercial operational services for residential properties
and commercial properties developed or owned by CR
Land ensuring stable business expansion. The Group also
plans to undertake management services engagements
related to properties owned by CRH, such as industrial
parks and factories. In addition, the Group aims to
capitalize on new business opportunities from CRH and
CR Land to expand into new property segments and
strengthen the Company’s platform.
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The Group adheres to the principle of high-quality
services. Drawing on years of professional experience
in commercial retail and service fields and following the
trend of technology innovation and digital transformation,
we will continue to improve our professional operation and
service system to achieve high-quality development and
ongoing enhancement of customer experience. Meanwhile,
we aim to introduce more CRH and CR Land’s services
and resources to the Company’s managed properties so
as to bring more value to our customers. Furthermore, we
will also leverage our advantages in “space, customer and
resource” to construct an integrated ecosystem featuring
with all segments, all customers, all products and a full
spectrum of service offerings with the goal of becoming
the creator of urban ecological services and better life of
people.

The Group plans to pursue strategic investments in
national or regional service providers with specialized
businesses that are synergistic with the Group’s business,
such as brokerage, asset management and new retail,
to build an ecosystem of service offerings that promotes
customer loyalty. Meanwhile, the Group plans to pursue
strategic investments in upstream and downstream
business partners in the Company’s industry to enhance
the Company’s profitability and broaden the Group’s
customer base.
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The Group intends to further integrate residential
communities, shopping malls and office buildings under
our management to create more business opportunities.
We plan to promote the membership system to attract
third-party merchants and further develop our platform and
ecosystem by creating value and growth opportunities, and
continue to enhance the functionality of our membership
programs to capture members’ interest in our products
and services, boost their loyalty and further attract new
users to our ecosystem in an efficient manner. We will
also consolidate our membership programs, which allows
the Company to fully understand the needs of users,
enrich the options for the interests of the members,
improve customers’ cross platform experience, realize
cross-segment customer diversion. We will actively
leverage on the Company’'s membership programs to
promote our corporate brand and enhance our brand
image and customer loyalty.

The Group plans to promote digitization initiatives of
“technology-based production, operation digitization,
data capitalization and space intellectualization” to
enhance operational efficiency and users’ experience
by technology empowerment. We also plan to pursue
strategic investments in technology companies relating to
commercial operation, property management and urban
management. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to
upgrade the functionality and capability of our digitized
service platforms under commercial management
business, such as “E-MIXC"and “Officeasy” apps, to
reconstruct and improve the system for the core property
management business and create a unique experience for
our users.
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The Group plans to attract talents with competitive
remuneration packages and excellent corporate culture
and reputation, and organize regular training provided by
senior employees and external consultants. The Group
will also continue to refine its remuneration scheme and
formulate employee incentive mechanism to better align
their benefits with our interest. In addition, the Group plans
to enhance the sense of pride, mission and professionalism
of its employees through the promotion of corporate
culture.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s revenue is mainly generated from two
business segments: (i) residential property management
services; and (ii) commercial operational and property
management services.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’'s
revenue amounted to RMB12,016.2 million, representing a
YoY increase of 35.4%, which was primarily due to (i) the
considerable growth in results caused by the consolidation
of the financial statements of the companies acquired and
the significant increase in the GFA under management as a
result of market expansion; and (ii) the increase in revenue
from commercial operational and management services
driven by the increase in the number of contracted
commercial projects from CR Land and third-party property
owners.

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprises (i) staff costs,
(ii) subcontracting costs, (iii) utilities costs, (iv) common
area facility costs, and (v) office and related expenses.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s cost of
sales amounted to RMB8,405.2 million, representing a YoY
increase of 37.4%, which was primarily due to the increase
in various types of corresponding costs resulting from the
continuous growth of business scale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the gross profit of
the Group amounted to RMB3,610.9 million, representing
a YoY increase of 30.9%, and the gross profit margin was

30.1%, representing a YoY decrease of 1 percentage

point.

The table below sets forth details of the gross profit and

RFE gross profit margin by segment as of the dates indicated:
BE+-A=+-B+=fEA
For the twelve months ended 31 December
—E--F —T-—fF
2022 2021
EF ER= EM ENE
Gross profit Gross profit  Gross profit ~ Gross profit
margin margin
(AR¥T ) % (AREFT) %
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
FEYEEERY Residential property management
services
MEEE R Property management services 782,623 14.0 567,354 15.0
B IEERS Value-added services to property 355,684 36.5 259,045 319
developers
tLR 18 (E AR 7 Community value-added services 334,480 26.6 198,978 275
NEE Subtotal 1,472,787 18.9 1,025,377 19.3
BEBEERYWEETERYK Commercial operational and
property management services
BYd Shopping malls 1,548,431 62.4 1,329,256 62.4
BT Office buildings 589,716 34.1 403,885 28.1
N+ Subtotal 2,138,147 50.7 1,733,141 48.6
CEH) Total 3,610,934 30.1 2,758,518 31.1
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the gross profit
margin of residential property management services was
18.9%, representing a YoY decrease of 0.4 percentage
point. The decrease in the segment’'s gross margin was
mainly affected by the amortisation of intangible assets
arising from the acquisition of companies. Excluding the
impact of amortisation of intangible assets, the segment’s
gross profit ratio was 19.8%, representing a YoY increase
of 0.5 percentage point.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the gross
profit margin of commercial operational and property
management services was 50.7%, representing a YoY
increase of 2.1 percentage points, which was mainly
due to the effective cost control and the improvement of
operating efficiency.

GAIN ON CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded gain on changes in fair value of investment
properties of RMB43.3 million, which was mainly related
to the valuation change of the Group’s subleasing project,
Lanzhou MIXC and Shenzhen Buji MIXONE.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded other income and gains of RMB579.9 million,
representing a YoY increase of 10.8%, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in the interest income of bank
deposits.

MARKETING EXPENSES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded marketing expenses of RMB151.2 million,
representing a YoY increase of 160.3%, which was
mainly attributable to the increase in expenses for market
expansion as the Group devoted more effort in business
expansion.
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ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’'s
administrative expenses were RMB1,052.8 million,
representing a YoY increase of 28.5%, which was mainly
due to the Group’s business expansion and the increase in
staff costs and office expenses.

INCOME TAX

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's
effective income tax rate was 23.8%, representing a YoY
decrease of 2.3 percentage points, which was mainly due
to the Group benefiting from the preferential taxation policy
in Qianhai, Shenzhen.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s net
profit was RMB2,213.2 million, representing a YoY increase
of 28.2%.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
total bank deposits and cash (including restricted bank
deposits) are mainly held in RMB and amounted to
RMB12,722.8 million, representing a decrease of 8.65%
as compared to the end of last year, mainly due to the
acquisitions and mergers and repayment of overseas
loans.

GEARING RATIO

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's
gearing ratio was 44.6%, representing an increase of 8.9
percentage points as compared with that as of the end
of last year. The gearing ratio was calculated by total
liabilities divided by total assets.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 5 January 2022, Runying Property Technology Service
Company Limited* (B E R KRB AR 2 A]) (“Runying”)
(as the purchaser), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Tianjin Yujia Life Service Company Limited”
(REREATEREAR AR (“Tianjin Yujia”) (as the seller)
entered into a framework agreement for the proposed
sale and purchase of the entire equity interest in Yuzhou
Property Service Company Limited* (BMNYERBERA
Al) ("Yuzhou Property”). On 8 March 2022, Runying and
Tianjin Yujia entered into an equity transfer agreement.
The consideration of the sale and purchase of the equity
interest in Yuzhou Property was RMB 1,058 million. Yuzhou
Property is principally engaged in the business of property
management services in the PRC. As of the Latest
Practicable Date, the transaction was completed. Further
details of the transaction are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 5 January 2022 and 8 March 2022.

On 20 January 2022, Super Honour Development Limited
(BliBZE AR A F)) (“Super Honour”) (as the purchaser), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
equity transfer agreement with, among others, HongKong
Rainbow Property Limited (B8 WEBRAF]) (“Seller
1") and HongKong Lehuo Property Limited (& i%4& 1%
AFRAA]) (“Seller 2", together with Seller 1, the “Sellers”),
pursuant to which (i) Super Honour has agreed to acquire,
and Seller 1 has agreed to sell, the entire equity interests
of Nantong Changle Property Co., Limited* (BB K24
%5 A7) (“Nantong Changle”); and (ii) Super Honour
has agreed to acquire, and Seller 2 has agreed to sell,
1% of the equity interests of Jiangsu Zhongnan Property
Services Co., Ltd.* (T&FTEYERBKERAF]) (“Jiangsu
Zhongnan”). On 27 April 2022, Super Honour and, among
others, the Sellers entered into a supplemental agreement
to the equity transfer agreement. The consideration of
the sale and purchase of the equity interest in Nantong
Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan was RMB2,485 million.
Nantong Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan and its
subsidiaries and branches are principally engaged in the
business of property management services in the PRC.
As of the Latest Practicable Date, the transaction was
completed. Further details of the transaction are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 20 January
2022 and 27 April 2022.

*

for identification purpose only
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On 28 September 2022, Super Honour (as the purchaser),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an equity transfer agreement with, Shinsun Lifestyle
Services Hong Kong Limited (“Seller 3”) and Goldenfinger
Hong Kong Limited (“Seller 4”) pursuant to which (i) Super
Honour has agreed to acquire the entire equity interests
in Zhuji Xiangsheng Property Service Co., Limited* (5 &+
EYEREBRAF) (“Zhuji Xiangsheng’) sold by Seller
3 and to accept the transferred payables from Seller 3
or its related parties; and (ii) Super Honour has agreed
to acquire 2% of the equity interests in Zhejiang Shinsun
Property Service Co., Ltd*CHIHEMERBERAR])
(“Zhejiang Shinsun”) sold by Seller 4. Zhuji Xiangsheng,
Zhejiang Shinsun and its subsidiaries and branches are
principally engaged in the business of basic property
management services, owner value-added services, non-
owner value-added services and parking space sales
agent services in the PRC. The transaction was not
completed and was terminated on 28 March 2023. Further
details of the transaction are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 28 September 2022 and 28 March
2023.

The Group will continue to invest in property development
project when deemed appropriate. It is expected that
our internal financial resources are sufficient for any
necessary funding demands. Save for the above and
as disclosed in the “Subsequent Events” in this report,
as of 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant
investments and material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. In addition,
save as disclosed in the section “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the Group has no future
plans for material investments or capital assets.

*

for identification purpose only
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PROCEEDS OF THE LISTING

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on the
Stock Exchange on 9 December 2020, with total proceeds
of the Listing amounted to approximately RMB11,600.4
million after deducting the underwriting fees and relevant
expenses.

As at 31 December 2022, RMB3,223.3 million of the
proceeds of the Listing had been utilized. The remaining
amounts were held by way of bank deposits.

BE
_ECCE
R%=-% tZB RoBoCE
TR -t TZB  RZEER
St +2fA -8 LHRE
FERERE #BR FERERE LXBR TR
ARERFENZHER i) RE ks icEe WERAE FEHE  REREX
Actual use of
net proceeds
Proceeds  during the twelve Proceeds  Expected timeline
Planned  unusedas of ~ monthsended  unused asof for fully utilizing
useof net 31 December 31 December 31 December  the net proceeds
Business objective as stated in the Prospectus Proportion  proceeds 2021 2022 2022 from the Listing
AEEEEL  ARMEBER AEEBER  AREEER
RMB million ~ RMB million RMB million ~ RMB million
() BRMFERNBREL FHOBRRANUE 60% 6,960.3 6,903 15029 54574 WIEZRETAN
(i Making strategic investments and acquisitions to expand our property By December 2025
management and commercial operational businesses
(i) RULBRBNANE LTHEERNERIRE 15% 1,740.1 16480 1204 1516 R-Z-RET-AM
(il Pursuing strategic investment in providers of value-added services and across By December 2025
the upstream and downstream supply chain of our industry
(i) REEERIEZANELLILE 15% 1,740.1 16123 202 1321 W-E-RET-AE
(i) Investing in information technology systems and smart communities By December 2025
(iv) EEASR-RAARE 10% 11600 - = - RIECRFTCAE
(v) Working capital and general corporate uses By December 2025
100% 11,600.4 10,2205 1,843.5 8,377.1
st BB RA - BERENRUERER - Note: The sum of the data may not add up to the total due to

rounding.
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PROPERTY HELD FOR INVESTMENT

As of 31 December 2022, two properties of the Group,
Shenzhen Buji MIXC ONE and Lanzhou MIXC were
recognized as the investment property under HKFRS 16 in
the consolidated statement of financial position, and the
relevant percentage ratios of such investment property
exceeds 5% pursuant to Rule 14.04(9) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). Shenzhen Buji MIXC ONE is located
at No. 2 Xiangge Road, Buji Area, Longgang District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC, and Lanzhou
MIXC is located at No.2, Qingyang Road, Chengguan
District, Lanzhou, Gansu Province, the PRC. They are
currently used for commercial subleasing services and
held under long-term lease. During the effective term of
the lease contract, the lessor has no right to unilaterally
terminate the contract except for force majeure events
and extreme conditions such as the default on rental
payment by the Group, illegal operation and damage to
the buildings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2021: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had no pledge of
assets (31 December 2021: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As the Group’s business is mainly conducted in the PRC,
we mainly adopt RMB as the settlement currency. As of
31 December 2022, non RMB assets and liabilities mainly
included the cash of HK$35.75 million and US$83,301.23,
The Group has settled in full the HK dollar denominated
borrowings on 29 July 2022. The management believed
that the operation of the Group was not exposed to
material foreign currency risk. No significant impact was
caused by the fluctuation of RMB exchange rate on the
Group's financial position. Currently, the Group does not
have any hedging policies against its foreign exchange
risk, but the management will actively monitor the foreign
exchange exposure and make necessary adjustments in
accordance with the changes in market environment.
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EMPLOYEE AND COMPENSATION
POLICY

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had 40,239 full
time employees in Mainland China and Hong Kong
(31 December 2021: 28,654). The Group remunerates
its employees based on their performance, working
experience and market salary levels. In addition,
performance bonus is granted on a discretionary basis.
Other employee benefits include provident fund, insurance
and medical coverage.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s capital commitments
amounted to RMB50.7 million (31 December 2021:
RMB17.8 million).

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENT UNDER RULE 13.21 OF
THE LISTING RULES

The Company entered into the following loan agreements
which have specific performance covenant of its
controlling shareholders. The obligations of such loan
agreements continue to exist as of the Latest Practicable
Date. As of the Latest Practicable Date, CRH beneficially
owns directly or indirectly approximately 73.72% of the
issued share capital of the Company, and CR Land is the
single largest shareholder of the Company, directly owning
approximately 72.29% of the issued share capital of the
Company and being able to control the Company.
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A revolving loan facility letter for a facility in an
aggregate amount up to HKD620,000,000 with
no fixed term and is repayable on demand by the
lender was entered into on 28 June 2021, details of
which have been disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 28 June 2021. The Company
undertakes that during the term of the facility, CRH
shall directly or indirectly own no less than 35% of
the beneficial ownership of the Company, and CR
Land shall remain as the single largest shareholder
of the Company, directly or indirectly owning no
less than 51% of the beneficial ownership of the
Company and being able to control the Company.
If a change of control resulting in violation of the
relevant undertakings under this facility letter
occurs, the lender may declare any commitment
under this facility letter to be cancelled and/
or declare the outstanding loans, together with
all the interests accrued thereon, and all other
amounts due under this facility letter shall become
immediately due and payable.

A revolving loan facility letter for a facility in an
aggregate amount of up to HKD600,000,000 was
entered into on 20 October 2021, details of which
have been disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 20 October 2021. The maturity
date of the facility is 12 months from the date of
acceptance of the facility letter. The Company
undertakes that during the term of the facility, the
Company shall procure that CRH and CR Land
remain directly or indirectly interested in no less
than 35% and 51% of the issued share capital of
the Company respectively. If violation of the relevant
undertakings under this facility letter occurs, the
lender may declare any commitment under this
facility letter to be cancelled and/or declare the
outstanding loans, together with all the interests
accrued thereon, and all other amounts due under
this facility letter shall become immediately due and
payable.



4D | #mE%4EERAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

B L ) i B0 A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

. RZBE-_F=A=+=8 " ARFIH®L
H&= A5 1,000,000,000 TTH E X
BRI —RREFRRE KMY - FBER
BHA_S-_—_F=A-+=HHR %
ZEEBEH R BHRE12MEA R -
RAREBEERRE - ARG EREFE
HEMERSEEXEERE I LRE1% R
REIEBITRAWEEK BARABNRA
BIRE o WEAERZBENHFETH
A  REZRERMT  ERATE
HEUBRHEBNAERERBEE K, 5
EMAAREERBEREFEER T
BREEREREMAABRARFTNZEE
RFET AR ER R B XA TE
8o

118 HIH
RZZ_ZF—A-+H A2a8(1)EEBH(E
E)RIBT ARBRETERERGERIE
ROIZBZ=ZFEHIMERERBE])  R(O)H
ZEROHAERAR ([EBRA ) FTIZARBIE
EEFHRHEAER(ZE=FRRERERW
B ER-ZE-=FRIMERERBHATEA
[ZE-=FEXERBZHE]) - BELWHRIY
EH(EE) REARDAAARMBEEAL -
AR =FEEEFBZETRHETRSZ
—HERZEEAE DL RBBR0 1% B EBR
5% WMHBEBTEHETZRSEBTHRR A%
LMEEEMBTE  HERRET EMBAE14A
BEETN2BIRERERTE - BBFEE - BH2H
AABBHA-—ZE-_=F—A-tHZA% -

4

BT BEES  AEBYER T - —F+_H
=+ BZRELAHAKEERANEEELS
AFENHEMBEBAHRKER -

° A revolving loan facility letter for a facility in an
aggregate amount of up to RMB1,000,000,000 was
entered into on 23 March 2022, details of which
have been disclosed in the announcement dated
23 March 2022. The maturity date of the facility
is 12 months from the date of the first drawdown.
The Company undertakes that during the term of
the facility, the Company shall procure that CR
Land remain directly or indirectly interested in
no less than 51% of the issued share capital of
the Company and remain to be the single largest
shareholder of the Company. If violation of the
relevant undertakings under this facility letter
occurs, the lender may declare any commitment
under this facility letter to be cancelled and/or
declare the principal amount advanced and the
outstanding loans, together with all the interests
accrued thereon, and all other amounts due under
this facility letter shall become immediately due and
payable.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 20 January 2023, the Company entered into (1) a
framework loan agreement and guarantee for advances
in HKD, RMB and United States Dollar with CRH (the
‘Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2023") and
(2) a framework loan agreement and guarantee for
advances in RMB with China Resources Inc. (“CRI”) (the
‘Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2023", together
with the Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2023, the
‘Framework Loan Agreements 2023"). CRH and CRI
are connected persons of the Company under the Listing
Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios
for the transactions contemplated under the Framework
Loan Agreements 2023 exceed 0.1% but none of them
exceeds 5%, the transactions contemplated thereunder
are subject to the reporting, announcement and annual
review requirements but are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 20 January 2023.

Saved as disclosed, the Group had no other significant
subsequent events occurred after 31 December 2022
which would material impact on the performance and the
value of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

Mr. YU Linkang, aged 51, has been our Director since
July 2020 and was appointed as an executive Director
and the president of the Company in August 2020. He is
a member of the sustainability committee of the Company.
Mr. Yu has approximately 30 years of experience in real
estate investment, commercial operation and corporate
management.

Mr. Yu worked in China Resources Hotel in Beijing (it
REMMRIE) from August 1992 to September 1996,
where he successively served as the deputy manager
and manager of the food and beverage department. He
worked in Longdation Enterprises Limited (B#{2AR
‘A|]) from September 1996 to December 2000, where he
successively served as the supervisor, deputy manager
and manager of the investment management department.
Mr. Yu served as the assistant general manager of
Shenzhen Foreign Trade Center (FEINEHINE ZH L) from
December 2000 to June 2003, the chairman and general
manager of Shenzhen Hotel Kapok Co., Ltd. (RIIT A4S
TEBIEBR AR from January 2002 to June 2003, and the
deputy general manager of Hotel Kapok Co., Ltd. (R1B7E
SEIEABR AR from June 2003 to November 2004.

From November 2004 to May 2011, Mr. Yu served as the
deputy general manager of China Resources (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (ZEHECXYI)BRAF) (“China Resources
Shenzhen”) (which has been a subsidiary of CR Land
since October 2005), during which he concurrently served
as the general manager of China Resources Shenzhen
Bay Development Co., Ltd. (ZERFRYIEERBRAT]) from
December 2008 to May 2011. He was the deputy general
manager of Shenzhen region from May 2011 to August
2013. From August 2013 to July 2016, he served as the
director for commercial real estate, general manager of
Wuhan region as well as the assistant president of CR
Land. In July 2016, he was appointed as the vice president
of CR Land, managing the Group’s business, in particular
our commercial operational services business. Since
November 2018 and March 2020, he has been respectively
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appointed as the senior vice president of CR Land and the
chairman of its property management business, managing
the overall operation and business of the Group. For the
purpose of the Reorganization, Mr. Yu was appointed as
the Group’s president in August 2020 to continue leading
the management of the Group and ceased his appointment
at CR Land. He received the Commercial Real Estate
Leader Award (FEZEMESET AYEE) granted by the China
Commercial Real Estate Industry Annual Award Panel (FA &

PR ETEFERIAFNZ ) for the year 2018 and 2020.

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in hotel management
from Beijing International Studies University in the PRC in
1992 and an MBA degree from Wright State University in
Ohio, the United States in 2006.

Mr. WANG Haimin, aged 52, was appointed as an
executive Director and the vice president of the Company
in August 2020. He has extensive experience in real estate
and corporate management.

Mr. Wang worked in China Northern Airlines (4 Bldt /5 fnZe
~|]) from July 1993 to May 2003, where he successively
served as the budgeting officer of the construction
department of the airline’s Dalian branch, general manager
of Dalian Aviation Hotel (KEMZEEE), director and
deputy general manager of Shenyang Northern Airlines
Yangzi Industrial Co., Ltd. (&5IE T MEH FEEBR A A).
He joined the preparation group of China Southern Airlines
Tourist Hotel (REIFEE A MZEEBEIREEAEIE) in May 2003 and
served as the deputy general manager of China Southern
Airlines Tourism Development Co., Ltd. (FEIfinse BiRpE
B/~ 7]) from August 2003 to April 2010. In addition, Mr.
Wang also worked in Northern Airlines Yangzi Industrial
Co., Ltd. (At FMZEHFEEER2AA]) from February 2007
to January 2012, during which he served as the vice
chairman, director and deputy general manager. From
January to October 2012, he served as the manager of the
corporate management department of Northern branch of
China Southern Airlines Company Limited (B 5 M
BB ABRAR). In addition, Mr. Wang also served as the
deputy general manager of Yuexiu Property Shenyang Co.,
Ltd. (BS#FBHMEARR A7) from October 2012 to October
2013.
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Mr. Wang joined CR Land in October 2013 till now, which
he successively served as the deputy general manager of
China Resources Land (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (FEEEH(E
[%)ABR/AR]) of the Shenyang region from October 2013
to May 2015, and the general manager of the marketing
management department of the Shenyang region from May
2015 to December 2016. From December 2016 onwards,
Mr. Wang has been responsible for overseeing the
Group's business and is in charge of primarily the property
management business of the Group. He has assumed
various roles including the general manager of the Dalian
company of Northeast China Region from December 2016
to August 2019 as well as the assistant general manager of
Northeast China Region from August 2017 to August 2019.
He was the general manager of the operation management
department of CR Land from August 2019 to August 2020.
For the purpose of the Reorganization, Mr. Wang was
appointed as the Group'’s vice president in August 2020 to
continue managing the Group’s business and ceased his
appointment at CR Land.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics
(investment and economic management) and a doctoral
degree in national economics from Dongbei University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC in 1993 and 2010,
respectively.

Ms. WEI Xiaohua, aged 54, was appointed as an
executive Director and the vice president of the Company
in August 2020. She has experience in real estate and
corporate management.

Ms. Wei served as the marketing manager of Ericsson
(China) Co., Ltd. (B3 {5(FEl)BMRAF]) from May 1998 to
September 2003.
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Ms. Wei joined China Resources Shenzhen in September
2003 and served as the deputy manager of the marketing
department until June 2005. Since October 2007, Ms.
Wei has held various positions in CR Land, including
the marketing director of China Resources (Shenyang)
Property Co., Ltd. (ZFEH(&ES)HEBR A F]) from October
2007 to January 2011, assistant general manager of
China Resources (Shenyang) Property Co., Ltd. (ZEE
(BZ)HEAFBBRZAF]) and general manager of Shenyang
China Resources Centre (J&FZEES L) from January
2011 to February 2013, deputy general manager of China
Resources (Shenyang) Property Co., Ltd. (ZEH(ES)HES
R~ 7)), the general manager of the commercial real estate
management department of Shenyang region (known as
Liaoning region prior to October 2013) from February
2013 to February 2015, as well as general manager of
the commercial real estate management department of
Beijing region from February 2015 to December 2016.
From December 2016 onwards, Ms. Wei has been
responsible for the management of the commercial
operational services business of the Group where she has
successively served as the assistant general manager of
the North China Region from December 2016 to September
2017 as well as the general manager of the commercial
real estate business division in North China Region from
September 2017 to March 2020. Ms. Wei was appointed
as the general manager of the commercial real estate
business division of CR Land from March 2020 to August
2020. For the purpose of the Reorganization, Ms. Wei was
appointed as the Group'’s vice president in August 2020 to
continue managing the Group’s business and ceased her
appointment at CR Land.

Ms. Wei obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in
technological English from the Beijing University of Posts
and Telecommunications in the PRC in 1991. She obtained
a Master of Business Administration from Tsinghua
University in the PRC in 2001.
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Ms. YANG Hongxia, aged 44, was appointed as an
executive Director and the chief financial officer of the
Company in August 2020 and the secretary to the Board
in December 2022. She has experience in finance, human
resources and operation management.

Ms. Yang has joined CR Land since July 2004 after her
master’s graduation, where she has successively served
as the supervisor, assistant manager and deputy manager
of the finance department of China Resources Shenzhen
from July 2004 to July 2010, deputy manager, manager
and deputy general manager of the finance department of
Shenzhen region from July 2010 to November 2016. From
November 2016 onwards, Ms. Yang has been responsible
for the management of the Group, and is in charge of the
financial management of the Group, where she served as
the deputy general manager of the finance department of
South China Region from November 2016 to July 2017,
as well as the general manager of the human resources
administration department of South China region from July
2017 to March 2020, responsible for human resources and
administration of the Group in South China Region, and
she has also been the assistant general manager of South
China Region of CR Land from June 2018 to August 2020,
managing the operation of development property business
of the Group in South China Region. For the purpose of the
Reorganization, Ms. Yang was appointed as the Group’s
chief financial officer in August 2020 to continue managing
the Group’s business.

Ms. Yang obtained a bachelor's degree and a master’s
degree in accounting from School of Management, Xiamen
University in the PRC in 2001 and 2004, respectively. She
was qualified as a certified accountant in 2003 and has
been holding the title of intermediate accountant from
2006.
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Mr. LI Xin, aged 51, has been the Director of the Company
since July 2020 and was appointed as a non-executive
Director in August 2020. He has experience in corporate
management and real estate development management.
He is the Chairman of nomination committee and
sustainability committee and a member of remuneration
committee of the Company.

Mr. Li joined CRH in August 1994, where he successively
served at the personnel department of the then China
Resources National Corporation (currently known as China
Resources Company Limited), as director of Chongging
Kuixing Industrial Co., Lid. (EEEEBERMHAER AR,
as managing director of Chongging Runlong Industrial
Co., Ltd. (EEBEEEABRAF]), and as manager and
senior manager of Longdation Enterprises Limited (&b
PEABMRAF]). He joined CR Land in July 2001, where he
successively served from July 2001 to June 2013 as the
general manager of the corporate development department
of CR Land, general manager of China Resources (Dalian)
Co., Ltd. (ZEH(KE)BR A A, vice president of CR Land,
and general manager of the Shenyang region and other
positions. He was appointed as the senior vice president
of CR Land in June 2013 and concurrently served as the
general manager of Shenyang region, responsible for
business development of Northeast China region. He was
appointed as the co-president of CR Land and chairman
of East China Region in July 2016, responsible for the
business development of East China region (known as
Shanghai region prior to November 2016) of CR Land.
Since April 2017, Mr. Li has been appointed as an
executive director of CR Land, and subsequently, Mr. Li
was appointed as the president of CR Land in December
2018 and the chairman of the board of directors of CR
Land in May 2022. He is currently the chairman of the
nomination committee, the executive committee and the
corporate social responsibility committee and a member of
the corporate governance committee of CR Land.
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Mr. Li obtained a bachelor of economics degree in
investment economics management from Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics in the PRC and a
master of engineering degree in project management from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1994 and 2005,
respectively.

Mr. GUO Shiqing, aged 53, has been our Director since
December 2018 and was appointed as a non-executive
Director in August 2020. He is a member of audit
committee of the Company.

Mr. Guo served as the accountant of Guangdong Electric
Power First Engineering Bureau (EREAENTIXBE—
T#2/3) from July 1994 to October 2001. Subsequently,
he joined CR Land in October 2001 and served as the
manager of the finance management department of
Shenzhen CR Property Management Co. Ltd. (F¥JIIE
EYEEEAEMRAF) from October 2001 to September
2006. He subsequently served as finance director of
China Resources (Dalian) Co., Ltd. (ZEBE(KE)BRAT])
from September 2006 to January 2011, assistant general
manager of China Resources (Dalian) Co., Ltd. (ZE B (X
#H)ERAT) from January 2011 to August 2012, and
general manager of the finance department of Shenyang
region (known as Liaoning region prior to October 2013)
from August 2012 to November 2014. At the same time,
he also served as the assistant general manager and
deputy general manager of China Resources (Shenyang)
Property Co., Ltd. (ZEE(BS)HERRAF]). Mr. Guo was
the assistant general manager and finance director of
Shenyang region between November 2014 to November
2016, assistant general manager and finance director
of Northeast China Region from November 2016 to
August 2017 and deputy general manager of Northeast
China Region from August 2017 to October 2018, mainly
responsible for financial management of CR Land in the
Northeast China Region. He has been the general manager
of the finance department of CR Land since October 2018.
He was appointed as the chief financial officer of CR
Land in June 2020. Since December 2020, Mr. Guo has
also been serving as an executive director of CR Land. In
December 2022, he was further appointed as the secretary
to the board of directors of CR Land.
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Mr. Guo completed an undergraduate program in
accounting from Xiamen University in the PRC in 1994.

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer GBS, SBS, J.P., aged 71,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 25 November 2020. He is the chairman of remuneration
committee and a member of nomination committee of the
Company.

Since January 2020, Mr. Lau has also been serving as
an independent non-executive director of SEM Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 9929). Previously, he served as an independent
non-executive director of Kingboard Laminates Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1888) from August 2015 to January 2022 and
MTR Corporation Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 0066) from August 2015 to May
2019.

Mr. Lau has more than 30 years of experience in the real
estate industry. Mr. Lau is one of the founders of Hong
Kong Coalition of Professional Services and has been
its chairman since June 2012. He is also a member of
the Board of Governors of Our Hong Kong Foundation,
member of the Basic Law Promotion Steering Committee.
Previously, he was a member of the Long Term Housing
Strategy Steering Committee from September 2012 to
December 2013, chairman of the Surveyors Registration
Board from 1996 to 1997. Mr. Lau is also currently a
member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference since March 2018 and
served as a member of the HKSAR Legislative Council
between October 2000 to September 2004.

Mr. Lau obtained a higher diploma in quantity surveying
from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in 1974.
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Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching, aged 62, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 25 November
2020. He is a member of audit committee, remuneration
committee and sustainability committee of the Company.

Mr. Cheung has over 30 years of experience in the real
estate industry and is the founder and chairman of ACR
Asset Management founded in March 2019. Prior to the
establishment of ACR Asset Management, Mr. Cheung
joined C.Y. Leung & Co., in March 1993 as a director of the
PRC business. In 1997, he was appointed as the General
Manager of the Shanghai office of C.Y. Leung & Co., which
became part of DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited in 2000.
In 2007, he was appointed as DTZ mainland China CEO
and in 2010, he was appointed as DTZ Greater China
CEOQO. After DTZ merged with Cushman & Wakefield (a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, stock
code: CWK) in 2015, he was Greater China CEO and
chairman of Asia Pacific Board of Cushman & Wakefield
until April 2019. Mr. Cheung is the honorary chairman of
the Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce in Shanghai, the
chairman of Shanghai — Hong Kong Association and a
Shanghai representative in the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor of science degree in
urban and environmental planning from Anglia Ruskin
University of the United Kingdom in 1985. He is also
a fellow member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors since 2018.

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan, age 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 25 November 2020.
He is the chairman of audit committee and the member of
the remuneration committee.
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Mr. Chan is currently the chief operations officer of Miramar
Hotel and Investment Company, Limited, (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00071). He served as
an independent non-executive director of Upbest Group
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00335) from September 2007 to August 2022 and
UBA Investments Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 00768) from September 2007 to
April 2022. He was the managing director of Chinalink
Express Holdings Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of
Kwoon Chung Bus Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 306)) from 2003 to 2021,
and the vice president in the corporate support department
of Henderson China Group Limited ((EEFREEHRE A F)
from 2002 to 2003.

Mr. Chan was appointed as a member of the Board of
Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance) of the HKSAR from
2009 to 2011. He became an elected member of the
Election Committee of the HKSAR since 2021. Mr. Chan is
a standing member and convenor of Hong Kong members
of the Yunfu Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference since 2011, a standing
member of the Guangdong’s Association for Promotion of
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Cooperation since 2009,
a member of the China Overseas Friendship Association
since 2019 and a member of Friends of Hong Kong
Association 2019 and a co-founder of Hong Kong Coalition
since 2020.
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Mr. Chan graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University)
in 1989 with a professional diploma in Business Studies
(Banking) and graduated from Monash University in
Australia with master degrees in Practising Accounting
and Business Law in 2000 and 2006, respectively. He is a
member and fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 2002 and 2014 respectively, a
member and fellow of CPA Australia since 2001 and 2014
respectively, the certified membership of the Institute of
Certified Management Accountants (Australia) since 2003
a fellow of The Chartered Governance Institute since
2001 (and has subsequently received the designations
of “Chartered Secretary” and “Chartered Governance
Professional” in 2018), a fellow of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) since 2001,
a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors since
2002, an ordinary member and fellow of the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute since 2015 and 2021, a
member of Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in
Hong Kong since 2000. Mr. Chan is also a member of the
Chartered Banker Institute, the United Kingdom since 2014
with a designation of “Chartered Banker” and an associate
and “Certified Banker” of the Hong Kong Institute of
Bankers since 2003 and 2018 respectively.

Ms. QIN Hong, aged 60 was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 November 2020. She has
extensive real estate research experience. She is a
member of audit committee, nomination committee and
sustainability committee of the Company.
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Currently, Ms. Qin is an independent non-executive
director and a member of the Strategy and Investment
Committee of Red Star Macalline Group Corporation Ltd. (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1528),
an independent director of Beijing Capital Development
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600376), as well as a research
fellow at the Renmin University of China, a role she has
assumed since May 2019. Ms. Qin was an independent
non-executive director, the chair of the nominating and
corporate governance committee and a member of the
audit committee and compensation committee of Fang
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, stock code: SFUN) from November 2019 to
June 2020.

Ms. Qin successively worked as a deputy researcher,
researcher, deputy head researcher and head of
Policy Research Center under Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Round Development from November 1994 to April
2019, and head of the China Urban-Rural Development
Economics Institute from September 2012 to April 2019.
Ms. Qin was granted the honorary certificate of National
QOutstanding Professional Talent in 2014.

Ms. Qin was also the director of department of Urban-Rural
Development Economics of the Graduate School of the
Chinese Academy of Social Science from August 2000 to
June 2004.

Ms. Qin obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business
administration and economics from Shandong Economics
Institute in the PRC (currently known as Shandong
University of Finance and Economics) in 1985, and a
master’'s degree in economics from The Graduate School
of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in the PRC in
1988.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. YU Linkang, Mr. WANG
Haimin, Ms. WEI Xiaohua and Ms. YANG Hongxia, please
refer to “Executive Directors” in this section. Biographical
details of other members of the senior management are as
follows:

Mr. GUO Ruifeng, aged 45, was appointed as the chief
operating officer of the Company in August 2022. Mr. Guo
has experience in real estate development management,
commercial real estate operation management and human
resources management.

Mr. Guo has joined CR Land since July 2003 after
obtaining his master’s degree, where he successively
served as the manager of the corporate development
department of CR Land, as well as the deputy manager
and manager of the contract management department
from February 2005 to November 2008, and the manager,
deputy director and director of the sales management
department of China Resources Land (Hefei) Co., Ltd. (¥
HEH(AE)BR2AF) from November 2008 to September
2012. Mr. Guo served as the general manager of sales
management in Wuhan region from September 2012 to
November 2016 and from 2015 to November 2016, he was
also the general manager of the Guanggu Changdong
project in Wuhan region. Since November 2016, Mr.
Guo specialized in the commercial operational services
business of the Group and served as the general manager
of Hangzhou MIXC under the commercial real estate
business division, and subsequently also served as the
deputy general manager of China Resources Sun Hung
Kai Properties (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (ZBHIEEREME (T
M)B PR AR]) of East China Region from November 2016
to February 2019, during which he was also the deputy
general manager of the commercial real estate business
division in East China Region from August 2018 to
February 2019. He was appointed as the general manager
of Shenzhen MIXC under the commercial property
business unit in February 2019. For the purpose of the
Reorganization, Mr. Guo was appointed as the assistant
president and chief human resources officer of the
Group in August 2020 to continue managing the Group’s
business.
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Mr. Guo obtained a bachelor’'s degree in civil engineering
and a master’'s degree in engineering (management
science and engineering) from Tsinghua University in the
PRC in July 2000 and July 2003, respectively.

Mr. LOU Kewei, aged 39, was appointed as the chief
human resources officer of the Company in April 2022. He
has experience in human resources administration and
party-mass work.

Mr. Lou has joined CR Land since May 2009 after
obtaining his master’s degree, where he successively
served as the recruitment specialist and senior human
resources executive of Dalian company and Changchun
company of CR Land. From May 2013 to January 2017,
he successively served as the assistant manager, deputy
manager and manager of human resources department
of Northeast China Region of CR Land. From January
2017 to January 2018, he successively served as the
director of party affairs of the party-mass work department
and the recruitment director of the human resources
administration department of CR Land. From January 2018
to March 2021, he successively served as the deputy
general manager and general manager of the human
resources administration department of East China Region
of CR Land, responsible for the human resources and
administration of East China Region of CR Land. From
January 2018 to February 2020, he also served as the
deputy general manager and general manager of the
party-mass work department of East China Region of CR
Land, responsible for the party-mass work of East China
Region, and served as the assistant general manager
of East China Region of CR Land from August 2020 to
March 2021, responsible for the human resources and
administration and party-mass work in East China Region.
Mr. Lou was transferred to CR Land in March 2021 as
the assistant general manager of the human resources
department, responsible for the human resources
management of CR Land.

Mr. Lou obtained a bachelor’s degree in management
majoring in information management and information
system management and a master’s degree in
management majoring in human resources management
from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics in 2006
and 2008, respectively.
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Mr. CHANG Yang, aged 40, was appointed as the vice
president of the Company in June 2022. He has experience
in party building and disciplinary inspection.

From August 2008 to August 2010, Mr. Chang worked in
Zhengzhou Gas Group Company, Ltd. (SR REEER LD
8]), where he successively worked at the human resources
department, served as the technical and economic
administrator of the Pressure Regulating Company (i
[Z/A7]) and the publicity and corporate culture affairs
administrator of the party committee work department.
From August 2010 to January 2013, he successively
served as the publicity and corporate culture affairs
administrator of the party committee work department
and the party-mass affairs administrator of the general
manager’s office of Zhengzhou Vanguard Natural Gas
Holdings Co., Ltd. (ENZEBEMRRMHDER AT, and was
seconded to the board office of CRH from December 2011
to December 2012.

Mr. Chang was formally transferred to CRH in January
2013. From January 2013 to July 2017, he successively
served as the senior director of the board office, assistant
manager, deputy manager, manager and manager of
party-mass work department of CRH. From July 2017 to
December 2019, he successively served as the manager
and senior manager of the disciplinary inspection and
supervision department and senior manager of the
supervision office of CRH. From December 2019 to April
2021, he served as the deputy director of the disciplinary
inspection and supervision office of CRH. He has been
the director of the disciplinary inspection and supervision
office of CRH since April 2021.

Mr. Chang obtained a bachelor's degree in economics
majoring in finance from Zhengzhou University and a
master’'s degree in history majoring in theory on history
and history of historiography from Renmin University of
China in 2006 and 2008, respectively.
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present the corporate
governance report for the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Through the values of integrity, results orientation, people
orientation, and mutually beneficial cooperation and
positioning ourself as a urban quality life service platform,
the Group is committed to becoming an urban quality life
service provider trusted and favored by customers. The
Company proactively cultivates a sincere, united, open
and progressive organizational atmosphere within the
Company, and has integrated our corporate culture into
employee training, talent development and other fields.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board are committed to establishing
good corporate governance practices and procedures.
The Company recognizes the importance of maintaining
high standards of corporate governance to the long-term
stable development of the Group.

The Company has applied the principles and adopted the
code provisions stated in the CG Code.

The Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions set out in the CG Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2022.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its
own securities dealing code to regulate all dealings of
securities in the Company by Directors.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company to all
Directors and all of them have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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HfH BOARD OF DIRECTORS

B —H—HREESEERIUTAE During the period from 1 January 2022 up to the Latest

HfE  E5gpENENTES  MEFRITE Practicable Date, the Board comprises four executive

ERNEBLIENITES - Directors, two non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors.

BETHNMARDT : The composition of the Board is as follows:
W AR R S A (MR L) Mr. YU Linkang (President)

FERSLA (BlIRH) Mr. WANG Haimin (Vice President)
PNEL L (FlRE) Ms. WEI Xiaohua (Vice President)
GHEZT (FFIBE) Ms. YANG Hongxia (Chief Financial Officer)
TREE (EFE) Mr. LI Xin (Chairman)

ZRHE 4 Mr. GUO Shiging

BIRE S E Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer

R IE S & Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching

PR E ST Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan

R Z+ Ms. QIN Hong

EERRHNAFREISEEES7TEIEERS The biographical details of the Directors are set out in

REBANEBE]— - the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 43 to 57 of this annual
report.

BRAFMAAEREI  THEELHRESTSHKE Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no
LaRERABZERBEMBIE  BIFEH% - relationship (including financial, business, family or other
% XESHMEX HENBE - material/relevant relationship(s)) between the chairman and

the president or among the Board and senior management.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance
to indemnify the Directors and senior management of
the Company for their liabilities arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an
annual basis.

BOARD MEETINGS, COMMITTEE
MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation
of the majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communications.

The Board held 14 meetings during the financial year
ended 31 December 2022. The Directors expect to
convene at least four regular Board meetings in each
financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in
accordance with code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code.
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EENESTegR AT EegRNEELBME A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at
AT - Board meetings and committee meetings is set out below:

BE-®-—%t=4
=t+t-BLUBEE
HEEERE
BONEBRARH
Number of
meeting(s) attended/
number of
meeting(s) held
during the financial

year ended

EERE Name of Director 31 December 2022
HITES ! Executive Directors:
g0 R BR 45 A Mr. YU Linkang 14/14
TEREE Mr. WANG Haimin 14/14
BWELL Ms. WEI Xiaohua 14/14
IS4l 2+ Ms. YANG Hongxia 10/14
FHITES : Non-executive Directors:
FRFEE Mr. LI Xin 14/14
St o Mr. GUO Shiging 14/14
BIUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors:
BlIRE S E Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 14/14
SRENIE SE 4 Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 14/14
BRoRF AL Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 14/14
S Ms. QIN Hong 14/14
LA RYAE | 25 R e INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS
REBE_Z_F+_A=+—HLEWEHFE - During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the

EEeDETLEMMAEI A10(1)E ~ 3.10(2) Board has complied with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1),
BERII0(AVGCEBETE L =ZRBIIENITE 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
B HEPRID BRI NTESEEHFESESR appointment of at least three independent non-executive
FERNGHIABY B ERMBNRTE - ME Directors with at least one independent non-executive
_Lé‘FﬁLTT§$J\§5IK’J HESFENEAEN =9 Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications

Z— o  BEREENCEESBYIFNTESRIEL or accounting or related financial management expertise
MBPBESISKRBEEBIEFMBEH FEHER and the number of independent non-executive Directors
B WRABREHABLME - representing at least one-third of the Board. The Board

has also received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and considers each of them to be independent.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or
letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term
of three years.

Four Directors (Mr. GUO Shiging, Mr. WANG Haimin,
Ms. WEI Xiaohua, and Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan) are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company. Pursuant to Article 16.19
of the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less
than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation and be
eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting of
the Company, provided that every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In
addition, any new Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible
for re-election at that meeting in accordance with Articles
16.2 of the Articles of Association.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD
AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the
Company and is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The
Board makes decisions objectively to safeguard in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
senior management of the Group is responsible for the
day-to-day management and specific operation of the
Group.

DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES
BETWEEN THE CHAIRMAN AND THE
PRESIDENT

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code and
the terms of reference of the Board adopted by the
Company on 30 March 2022, the roles of chairman and
president of the Group are separate with clear division of
responsibilities. The chairman, Mr. LI Xin, is responsible for
monitoring the long-term strategies, goals and directions
of the Company, ensuring the Board operates effectively
and performs its due duties, ensuring the Directors receive
sufficient, complete and reliable information in a timely
manner, etc. The chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the independent non-executive Directors
without presence of other Directors. Mr. LI Xin has held
such private meeting during the year ended 31 December
2022. The president, Mr. YU Linkang is responsible for
leading the management to implement the strategies of
the Company and reporting to the Board, providing the
Board with the required information to enable the Board to
monitor the performance of the management, formulating
plans for the development and succession of management,
etc.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely,
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and the sustainability committee (the “Sustainability
Committee”), for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. Each of these committees is established
with defined written terms of reference.



64 | #mE%4£EFERAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

R EIR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

WL

ARBERIELEHRRNEI 21 ERERERTH
RIBZRES - BRREENIZRMEBRERA
TRV()EHMEEAEENMIFEE - RWElE
EREBEBRS  (NMEFSRHEZBNE
R R(iNBETEFSARERNEGCRENE
o

‘ml:
m

BERZESh—RFANTES (BB ELEE)
=28 IFNTESR (ARELLEE BRFEE
FERFLULL) AKX - RREXEREREZE
X% -

KRB+ -_A=+—HILMERFE &
REEEBRTTMASH FHAIW (L
®B) TIEEEE : ()VARBHE_FT_—F+
AT RULEFEZEFBRREECVHERER
BE_Z-—FARNA=+THIEAREAZHHRE
RAREZTRUBERE  EREXEFEHE
B (INARRZBERERS UME%§E$

Qﬁ%%ﬁ%% (V) AN B BA IS4 )
EELRABREERS 'a%W%WT%ExF

E'&$Aﬂﬁaﬁ‘%ﬁtﬁ%bﬁﬁ%&ﬁ
ARRRRE  HEREARAMEREEANE
R BIERRGS  URBIAEXNFIIR
BEREERERDRR  M(V)ARANERK
o o

The Company has established the Audit Committee in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include,
but not limited to (i) review and supervise the financial
controls, internal controls and risk management system of
the Group; (ii) provide advice and comments to the Board;
and (iii) perform other duties and responsibilities as may
be assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. GUO Shiging and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching,
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan and Ms. QIN Hong. Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee Alan is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
the Audit Committee held 2 meetings during which they
reviewed and discussed, inter alia, the following matters:
(i) the Company’s annual report and audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, and the
interim report and unaudited interim financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2022 before submitting
to the Board; (ii) the Company’s continuing connected
transactions; (iii) the re-appointment of the external auditor
of the Company; (iv) the Company’s financial control,
internal control and risk management systems including
the important aspects of internal control, and the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes, budget of the Company’s accounting and
financing reporting functions, as well as those relating
to the Company’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting; and (v) the whistleblowing
policy of the Company.
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EZZEENENHEZEESRNTHEITIN The attendance record of the Audit Committee members to
X : committee meetings is set out below:
BHE BEEHE
Attended/
B Directors Eligible to attend
PR SFSHE (£E) Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan (Chairman) 2/2
B L& Mr. GUO Shiging 1/2
REIIESE A4 Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 2/2
R+ Ms. QIN Hong 2/2

BE-E - F A BHEEZEEAER{TEH During the period from 1 January 2022 up to the Latest

B EF eV RRHERKE 8 @ T IMNEEED Practicable Date, the Board had not deviated from any

P8 BT B EKEBERAEAA THERERE recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the

=8 o selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external
auditor.

EAEEELEEELH  FHREVURZ A There are proper arrangements for employees, in
TSR - ATk R EMmET e EIRM T E confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
1TAREERM - in financial reporting, internal control and other matters.
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The Company established the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
include, but not limited to (i) making recommendations to
the Board in relation to remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management of the Company,
and the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such remuneration policy; (ii)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objectives; (iii) determining remuneration package of
all executive Directors and senior management according
to the authorization of the Board; (iv) considering salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere
in the Group; (v) making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and
(vi) approving compensation payable to the executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it
is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise
fair and reasonable and not excessive; (vii) reviewing
and approving compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and
are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; (viii) ensuring
that no director or any of his/her associates is involved
in deciding that director’'s own remuneration; and (ix)
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. LI Xin, and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer,
Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching and Mr. CHAN Chung Yee
Alan. Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the
Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during which
they reviewed and discussed, inter alia, the following
matters: (i) the remuneration policy of the Directors; (ii) the
remuneration packages and terms of service contracts of
the executive Directors and senior management; and (iii)
the performance of the executive Directors.

FHEZEEXNENERELZEEEZNTHEIIIN The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee
T members to committee meeting is set out below:
BHE BEEHE
Attended/
B Directors Eligible to attend
BIMESLA () Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer (Chairman) 3/3
oRBUIE ST A Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 3/3
PR Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 3/3
FMELE Mr. LI Xin 3/3

BE_ZT__F+_A=+—BIEFERNAR
BIBEEHM 2 FHRBHENGE A M B RERMEES -

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The remuneration of the members of senior management
by band for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out

below:

AE

Number of

FrMEEE (BT Remuneration bands (HK$) persons
<1,000,000 <1,000,000 1
3,000,000 % 3,500,000 3,000,000 to 3,500,000 1
4,500,000 % 5,000,000 4,500,000 to 5,000,000 2
5,000,000%5,500,000 5,000,000 to 5,500,000 2
7,000,000 105,000,000 7,000,000 to 105,000,000 1
=t Total 7
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The Company has established the Nomination Committee
in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee include, but not limited to (i) review
the structure, size and composition of the Board at least
once a year and make recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes to the corporate strategy
of the Company; (ii) identify individuals qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships; (iii) assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of our Directors and succession plan for
Directors.

The Nomination Committee comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. LI Xin, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer
and Ms. QIN Hong. Mr. LI Xin is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the
Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during which they
reviewed and discussed, inter alia, the following matters: (i)
the structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) board
diversity and board diversity policy, including establishing
measurable objectives, formulating timetable to attain
specific diversity targets and exploring improvement
measures; (iii) the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and of the Board as a whole; (iv) the
nomination policy of Directors; (v) time commitment by the
Directors to fulfil their responsibilities to ensure each of
the Directors has given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company; (vi) the numerical target, timelines
and enhancement measures set for achieving gender
diversity on its Board and (vii) the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholder's communication policy.

REZEENENLEZESSZNLHEATIN The attendance record of the Nomination Committee
T members to committee meetings is set out below:
BEHEBEEHE
Attended/
5= Directors Eligible to attend
TMAEE(ER) Mr. LI Xin (Chairman) 1/1
BMELE Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 11
ES e Ms. QIN Hong 1/1

BYFRTESR (—MEMBES) ARAESFS
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VEEMER c AR LE - BEEESERTERR
HERBVEHMERNKEHD NEEEELR
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The independent non-executive Directors (as other
Directors) are entitled to seek further information and
documentation from the senior management members
on the matters to be discussed at Board meetings. They
can also seek assistance from the Company’s company
secretary and, where necessary, independent advice from
external professional advisers at the Company’s expense.
They shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
board resolution approving any contract or arrangement
in which he/she or any of his/her close associates has a
material interest. Such mechanisms are to ensure that the
Board has a strong independent element, and independent
views and input are available to the Board. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, all four independent non-
executive Directors attended Board meetings regularly and
actively participated in the decision-making process of
the Board, and provided independent views and opinions
to the Board when it performed its duties. In view of
the above, and after review, the Board believes that its
mechanisms for obtaining independent views and input
have been fully implemented and continues to be effective.
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The Company established the Sustainability Committee on
28 March 2023. The primary duties of the Sustainability
Committee include but not limited to (i) assessing the
matters in relation to environment, society and governance,
etc. of the Company (‘ESG"); (ii) reviewing the objectives
and plans of the Company on ESG matters and monitoring
the policies and measures adopted by the Company to
achieve such objectives and plans; (iii) assessing the
adequacy of resources invested by the Company on
ESG matters, the compliance and the effectiveness of
procedures in such aspects; (iv) assessing the risks and
opportunities faced by the Company on ESG matters; (v)
reviewing the Company’'s performance on ESG matters
from the perspective of sustainability; (vi) assessing
the difference between the Company and comparable
companies domestically and overseas in terms of policies
and performance on ESG matters; (vii) assessing the
impact of the Company’s business activities on employees,
the third parties, the communities in which the Company
operates and the Company's reputation; (viii) reviewing
the annual sustainability report to ensure the accuracy
and completeness of the sustainability report and to
continuously improve the quality of disclosure; (ix)
making recommendations to the Board in respect of the
aforementioned matters; and (x) performing such other
duties and functions as may be assigned by the Board
from time to time.

The Sustainability Committee comprises one executive
Director, Mr. YU Linkang, one non-executive Director,
Mr. LI Xin, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching and Ms. QIN Hong. Mr.
LI Xin is the chairman of the Sustainability Committee.
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The Company follows a fair and transparent procedure for
the appointment of new Directors for the Board to achieve
a balance of skills and experience and diversity to achieve
the Company’s strategic focus and specific business
needs. Recognising the vitality of diversity for the Board,
the Company has adopted a board diversity policy, details
of which are set out in the below section headed “Board
Diversity Policy”.

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board at least once a year and makes
recommendation to the Board to complement the corporate
strategy of the Company. The appointment of a new
Director is a collective decision of the Board, taking into
consideration the procedures for Shareholders to propose
a person for election as a Director of the Company and the
board diversity policy adopted by the Company. The Board
believes that changes to the Board composition shall be
managed without undue disruption, and shall continue to
provide a balanced composition of executive Directors
and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that there is a strong independent
element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.

The Company formalised and adopted a dividend policy
with effect from 29 March 2021, aiming to provide
shareholders of the Company with an annual dividend
payout of not less than 35% of the annual core net profit
available for distribution generated in any financial year,
subject to the criteria set out below. Such declaration
and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined
at the absolute discretion of the Board and subject to
all applicable requirements (including without limitation
restrictions on dividend declaration and payment) under
the Companies Act and the Articles of Association.
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In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account the following criteria, including: (1) the
Group’s actual and expected financial performance; (2)
Shareholders’ interests; (3) general business strategies;
(4) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the other members of the Group;
(5) the Group’s indebtedness level, key financial ratios
(such as the Group’s debt to equity ratio and return
on equity) and any financial covenants to which the
Group is subject; (6) the Group’'s expected working
capital requirements and future expansion plans; (7)
liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend; (8) taxation considerations, and
legal and regulatory restrictions; (9) possible effects on
the Group’s creditworthiness; (10) general economic
conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact
on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and (11) other factors that the Board deems
appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders
such interim dividends subject to the Companies Act and
the Articles of Association. Except in the case of interim
dividend and special dividend, any dividends declared by
the Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution
of shareholders at an annual general meeting and must not
exceed the amount recommended by the Board. Dividends
may be distributed in the form of cash or shares subject
to and in accordance with the Companies Act and the
Articles of Association. The Company will regularly review
the dividend policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time, and the dividend policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare
a dividend at any time or from time to time.



EZSCRMEFSZLEBR ([ZRLEK
K] EPHFIEREFTSST(ENTE - KK
BRANEEEZ LA RNa BT RESZSER
BamZ it S ARBEED B B R RERA
SEERMARITE

AEERBREREZERAZREREFES T
£t BRETRREBEXLR T8 KA
B UEREEER MR Fik o BRERS
FH - RMESHEAAGOENKER - 8RE2E
B - MRS - EBBREMBER o 1L
EENEREGH  IRREESZEFE -
RERBERATRS  ARAREEE  SRER
BEAARENSZLAFEINMAT

B Male
Z Female

—E-——#%%£% | Annual Report 2022 \ 7 3

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“‘Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. The Group recognises the benefits
of having a diversified Board and sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of the Group's strategic objectives and
sustainable development.

The Group has developed measurable objectives to
achieve diversity of our Board through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to
professional experience, talents, skills, knowledge,
cultural and education background, gender, age, ethnicity
and length of service. Our Directors have a balanced
mix of experiences, including overall management,
brand improvement, business development and finance
experiences. Our Directors obtained degrees in various
majors including accounting, engineering and economics.
As of the Latest Practicable Date, the male-to-female
ratios of the Company’s Board, senior management and all
employees are set out as follows:

BE=g SREEE FEES
Board of Senior All
Directors management employees

70.00% 71.43% 65.64%
30.00% 28.57% 34.36%
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For the purpose of implementing the Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were achieved for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022: (i) the Company
should comply with the requirements on Board composition
in the Listing Rules from time to time; (ii) the number of
independent non-executive Directors should be not less
than three and one-third of the Board; (iii) at least one
of the independent non-executive Directors must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise; and (iv) at least
one Director should be a professional or have intensive
experience of the industry on which the business of the
Group is in.

Having reviewed the Board composition, the Board
recognises the importance and benefits of gender
diversity at both the Board and senior management level
and is of the view that the ratios of female members
among our Board (30.00%) and senior management
(28.57%) are satisfactory for the financial year ended 31
December 2022. The female representation at the Board
and senior management levels maintained at a high level
amongst Hong Kong listed companies. The Company has
further set an objective to have no less than two female
Directors commercing from 1 January 2023. As of the
Latest Practicable Date, the Company had attained such
objective as there were three female Directors. Going
forward, the Company will search for female Director
candidates through multiple channels, and ensure the
targeted number of female directors is attained. The Board
will continue to take initiatives to promote gender diversity
among the Board and senior management members
and implement measurable objectives in this regard in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Nomination Committee will also review the Diversity
Policy and its implementation at least on an annual basis
to ensure its implementation and monitor its continued
effectiveness.
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Going forward, the Company will continue to promote
corporate diversity and integration by (i) encouraging more
female employees to develop their careers and creating
a level playing field for all employees to ensure fair and
equal treatment by standardizing assessment criteria in
recruitment, promotion, appointment, etc. to focus on job
responsibilities and employees' capabilities; (ii) regularly
carrying out "Female Power" (#t7=) activities, where
female employees in different areas are invited to share
their success stories and insights to provide a platform for
female employees to exchange ideas; and (iii) promoting
a gender-diverse and inclusive culture in the workplace
by publishing and updating relevant policies, codes and
employee handbook to bring such message to employees.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance
duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviews the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The company secretary of the
Company may from time to time and as the circumstances
require provide updated written training materials relating
to the roles, functions and duties of a director of a
company listed on the Stock Exchange to the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of the responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Company.

The Company acknowledges the importance of Directors
participating in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant internally-facilitated briefings for
the Directors have been arranged and reading materials
on relevant topics would be issued to the Directors where
appropriate. They are encouraged to attend relevant
training course at the Company’s expenses. Directors
have provided a record of the training they received to the
Company.
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In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
the Directors participated in the continuous professional
developments in relation to legal and regulatory update,
the duties and responsibility of the Directors and the
business of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022 in the following manner:

BEEXRR2ER
Type of continuous professional development
HEBRAARR
HEBCEHEEEAR HEEERRR
B EERESEY
Reading regulatory
updates or Attending training

information relevant
to the Company

on regulatory
development and

= Directors or its business Directors’ duties
BITES Executive Directors:
W FRER ST (4R %) Mr. YU Linkang (President) v v/
FEREE Mr. WANG Haimin v/ v
BELT Ms. WE| Xiaohua v v
IS4l 2+ Ms. YANG Hongxia v/ v/
FHITESE : Non-executive Directors:
FMEE(ER) Mr. LI Xin (Chairman) v A
B L& Mr. GUO Shiging v v
BIFHTES: Independent non-executive

Directors:
BIRE S 4E Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer v v/
SRENIE 54 Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching v/ v/
BRoRF AL Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan v/ v/
i+ Ms. QIN Hong v v

The Company will arrange regular seminars to provide
Directors with updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and
regulatory requirements from time to time. The Directors
are also provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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8 ESNERBEARARE - MR KATRHE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY AND
REMUNERATION

The Company appointed Ernst & Young, Certified Public
Accountants, Hong Kong (“EY”) as the external auditor
for the year ended 31 December 2022. A statement by
EY about their reporting responsibilities for the financial
statements is included in the section headed “Independent
Auditor’'s Report” of this annual report.

Details of the fees paid/payable in respect of the audit and
non-audit services provided by EY for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in the table below:

Friz MR35 Services rendered
BV Audit services:
BE-_Z-_—#+-A=1+—H Annual audit for the year ended 31 December 2022 AR%3,000,0007T
HFENFEEZ RMB3,000,000
BEZT-_FX A=THLAEAR Review for the interim financial statements for the AR¥650,0007C
RS B IRRNER six months ended 30 June 2022 RMB650,000
R Other professional service AR #400,0007T
RMB400,000
BEURENEER Total fees for audit services: AR 4,050,0007C
RMB4,050,000
FERR Non-audit services:
ZEFMFE RS Accounting manual consulting services AR#1,800,0007T
RMB1,800,000
FECRBHEER Total fees for non-audit services: AR #1,800,0007T

RMB1,800,000
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for the Company’s risk

INTERNAL

management and internal control systems and for
reviewing its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
Group's internal audit team and senior management
conduct reviews of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and
recommendations of the internal audit team and the senior
management in their meetings at least twice a year and
reports to the Board on such review.
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The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage, rather than eliminate business risk; to
help safeguard the Group’s assets against fraud and other
irregularities; and to give reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material financial misstatement or loss.
In addition, it should provide a basis for the maintenance
of proper and fair accounting records and assist in
the compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Company has established a whistleblowing policy
and system for employees and those who deal with
the Company (such as customers and suppliers) to
raise concerns confidentially and anonymously with the
Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any
matters related to the Company. The Company has also
established policies and systems that promote and support
anti-corruption laws and regulations.

From 1 January 2022 to the Latest Practicable Date,
the Board, through the Audit Committee, reviewed the
overall effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, covering financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions
and results of risk assessment. The Board believes
that there are no material internal control deficiencies
that may affect the Shareholders and an effective and
adequate risk management and internal control system is
in place to safeguard the assets of the Group. The Audit
Committee and senior management will together monitor
the implementation of risk management policies on an
ongoing basis to ensure the policies and implementation
are effective and sufficient.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has in place a framework for the disclosure
of inside information by reference to the Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the Securities
and Futures Commission. The framework sets out the
procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in an appropriate
and timely manner, such as steps to ascertain sufficient
details, conduct internal assessment of the matter and its
likely impact on the Company, seek professional advice
where required and verification of the facts. Before the
information is fully disclosed to the public, any persons
who possess the knowledge of such information must
ensure strict confidentiality and must not deal in any of the
Company’s securities.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During 2022, the company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”’) was Mr. LO Chi Lik, Peter (“Mr.
LO"), a solicitor in Hong Kong. With effect from 20 January
2023, Mr. LO resigned and Mr. SO Yiu Fung (“Mr. SO”)
was appointed as the Company Secretary. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 21 December 2022. Although the Company
Secretary is not a full-time employee of the Company,
he reports to the Board and in his capacity as Company
Secretary advises the Board on governance matters. The
primary contact person of the Company with the Company
Secretary was Ms. YANG Hongxia, executive Director of
the Company. Each of Mr. LO and Mr. SO have confirmed
that he has attended at least 15 hours of professional
development in 2022.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board strives to maintain a continuing open dialogue
with the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they
are unable to attend the meetings. The process of the
Company’s general meeting is monitored and reviewed on
a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made
to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served.

The Company uses annual general meeting as one
of the principal channels for communicating with the
Shareholders. The Company ensures that Shareholders’
views are communicated to the Board. At the annual
general meeting, each substantially separate issue has
been considered by a separate resolution, including the
election of individual Directors. The Chairman of the Board,
chairmen of the respective Board committees and the
external auditor usually attend annual general meetings to
inter-face with and answer questions from Shareholders.
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BHE_ZT_—_F+-A=1T—HILFE  K~QF During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
BITTRARERE - I —_FREBEFK held two general meetings, which were the 2022 annual
g([ZE-ZFRRBERG ) KT =_=F general meeting (2022 AGM”) and 2022 extraordinary
BREIAE ([ZBE-—FRREIAE]) - = general meeting (“2022 EGM”). The 2022 AGM and 2022
T _FRRAFAGR T - _FRRERIK EGM were held on 14 June 2022 and 28 December 2022,
SRR E-_—FAATHNBAR T -_—F+ respectively, at 46th Floor, China Resources Building,
ZTAZTNBBERBEFABEBE26RERK 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Directors,
[E46128R1T - EZ (RREZESXFE  BREE including the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
BIF REZEGIERTFMNZESERE) S the Audit Committee, the Chairman of the Nomination
B —FRRBFARER T _FRRRE Committee and the Chairman of the Remuneration
PIRKE o RABIMNERZBBI L KHFE T - —F Committee attended the 2022 AGM and 2022 EGM. The
BRRBFAE EFBFEHERF_ZT__FREAFK external auditor of the Company, EY, attended the 2022
GRZEZ _FREFIARSHLEIHTINT AGM. The attendance records of the Directors to the 2022
AGM and 2022 EGM are set out below:

BRSBTS
Meeting(s)
= Directors attended/held
BITES Executive Directors: 2/2
W ARER SCAE (42 EL) Mr. YU Linkang (President) 2/2
TEREE Mr. WANG Haimin 2/2
BELL Ms. WEI Xiaohua 2/2
PS4l 2+ Ms. YANG Hongxia 1/2
FHTES ! Non-executive Directors:
FRAE (XE) Mr. LI Xin (Chairman) 2/2
HF R A Mr. GUO Shiging 2/2
BIUFHTES: Independent non-executive Directors:
BMELE Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 2/2
SREIIESR A Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 2/2
BRoR &S Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 2/2
R+ Ms. QIN Hong 2/2

REFTFETHEAGSEMAFRRE T 2#EH & The chairman of the meeting exercised his power under
TEIREVRFRIEREIREZEFNETRR - ARQ the Articles of Association to put each proposed resolution
AIRAEREREAAMNAG FREZFAR to vote by way of a poll. The Company adopted poll
ERETRA - BT —_FREAFAE N voting for all resolutions put to vote at the meeting. The
—TE-FREERASE FIREEIRERFREX procedures for voting by poll at the 2022 AGM and 2022
RZRERFE_E__FEFRFAEAER-_TE-_— EGM were explained at the 2022 AGM and 2022 EGM,
FNEFRIRS HAIEERT AR - respectively, prior to the polls being taken.
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All resolutions put to the Shareholders at the 2022 AGM
and the 2022 EGM were passed. Save as disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 28 December
2022 in relation to the poll results of the extraordinary
general meeting held on 28 December 2022, there were
no Shares entitling the Shareholders to attend and abstain
from voting in favour of the resolution at the 2022 AGM
and the 2022 EGM as set out in Rule 13.40 of the Listing
Rules, no Shareholders were required under the Listing
Rules to abstain from voting at the 2022 AGM and the
2022 EGM and no Shareholders had stated their intention
in the Circular to vote against or to abstain from voting
on the proposed resolution at the 2022 AGM and the
2022 EGM. Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Branch
Share Registrar of the Company in Hong Kong acted as
scrutineer for the poll and counted the poll votes cast at
the 2022 AGM and 2022 EGM. The results of the voting
by poll were published on the respective websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association,
the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM.
General meetings shall also be convened on the written
requisition of any one or more members holding together,
as at the date of deposit of the requisition, Shares
representing not less than one-tenth of the voting rights,
one vote per share basis, of the Company which carry
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
The written requisition shall be deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office of the Company, specifying the objects
of the meeting and the resolutions to be added to the
meeting agenda and signed by the requisitionist(s). If the
Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene
the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by
the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date
of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association for
the Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals
may request the Company to convene an EGM in
accordance with the procedures set out in the above
paragraph headed “Convening of Extraordinary General
Meetings by Shareholders”. Procedures for shareholders
to propose a person for election as a Director have been
uploaded to the Company’s website.
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The Shareholders shall direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

In addition, the Shareholders and the investment
community may at any time contact the Company’s
Investor Relations Department to enquire about the
information published by the Company. The contact details
are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited
30/F., China Resources Land Building, Tower B,
No. 9668 Shennan Avenue,

Nanshan District, Shenzhen, China

Email: ir_mixc@crland.com.cn

Tel: 852-2877 2330/86-755 28681268 8700

Fax: 852-2877 9068
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company endeavours
to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders. To
ensure that the Shareholders and potential investors are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced
and understandable information about the Company, the
Company has established Shareholders’ communication
policy which include several channels to communicate with
the Shareholders as follows:

(

) corporate communications such as annual reports,
interim reports and circulars are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange;

(i) periodic announcements are published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange;

(iiiy  corporate information is made available on the
Company’s website; and

(iv)  annual and extraordinary general meetings provide
a forum for the shareholders to make comments
and exchange views with the Directors and senior
management.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors.

The Company has reviewed and considered its
Shareholders’ communication policy properly implemented
and effective during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

Amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company was adopted by special
resolution at the annual general meeting held on 14 June
2022. The amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company is available at the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Save
as disclosed, no other changes have been made to the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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The Board of the Company is pleased to present this
report of Directors together with the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date are:

Mr. YU Linkang (President)

Mr. WANG Haimin (Vice President)

Ms. WEI Xiaohua (Vice President)

Ms. YANG Hongxia (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. LI Xin (Chairman)
Mr. GUO Shiging

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer
Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan
Ms. QIN Hong

Biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 43 to 57 of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is a leading property management and
commercial operational service provider in China. The
Group provides property management and value-added
services to one of the largest portfolios of residential
properties, and also manages and operates a diversified
and growing portfolio of commercial properties comprising
shopping malls and office buildings.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group including an
analysis of the Group’s financial performance and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These
discussions form part of the report of the Directors. The
Group’s key relationship with its stakeholders (including
employees, customers and suppliers) who have a
significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s
success depends, is set out in this report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group are set out as follows:

Changes in the general economic and market conditions
including changes in international, national, regional and
local economic conditions, market volatility, declining
demand for residential or commercial real estate, falling
real estate values, disruption to the global capital or credit
markets may also negatively affect the PRC property
management and commercial operational service markets
which could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the
PRC property management and commercial operational
service markets which could, in turn, have a material
adverse effect on the Group.

As the Group does not have control over the business
strategies of CR Group and CR Land, nor any factor
that may affect their business operations, any adverse
development in the operations of CR Group and CR
Land or their ability to develop new properties may affect
the Group’s ability to procure new service contracts. In
addition, there can be no assurance that all of the Group’s
service contracts with CR Group and CR Land will be
renewed successfully upon their expiration.
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The Group intends to strategically expand its business
through collaboration with independent third parties.
However, there can be no assurance that it will maintain
its current revenue levels and profitability if it takes on
more projects from, or sign more service contracts with,
independent third-party developers in the future.

The Group provides property management services
under the trade name of “ZE&” (China Resources) and
commercial operational and subleasing services mainly
under brands of “B%&H" (MIXC) and “BXRIE” (MIXONE).
Any material negative publicity associated with the Group’s
brands and any unauthorised use of its brand names or
related trademarks could diminish the value of its brands,
market reputation and competitive advantages.

The protection of the Group’s brands, including related
trademarks, may require the expenditure of significant
financial and operational resources. Moreover, the steps
the Group takes to protect its brands may not adequately
protect its rights or prevent third parties from infringing or
misappropriating its trademarks. Even when infringement
or misappropriation of its trademarks is detected, the
Group may not be able to enforce all such trademarks. Any
unauthorised use by third parties of the Group's brands
may adversely affect its brands. Furthermore, as the Group
continues to expand its business, there is a risk that the
Group may face claims of infringement or other alleged
violations of third-party intellectual property rights, which
may restrict us from leveraging its brands in a manner
consistent with its business goals.

The Group has adopted a sound risk management and
internal control systems, details of which are set out in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to operate its business in
compliance with applicable environmental protection
laws and regulations and has implemented relevant
environmental protection measures in compliance with
the required standards under applicable PRC laws and
regulations.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and
performance will be disclosed in the sustainability report
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
be published at the same time as the publication of this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT
LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the
Group has complied in all material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no material
breach of, or non-compliance, with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group believes that the expertise, experience and
professional development of the employees contribute to
the growth of the Group. The human resources department
of the Group manages, trains and hires employees.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 40,239 (as
at 31 December 2021: 28,654) full time employees in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. The Group believes in
the importance of attraction, recruitment and retention of
quality employees in achieving the Group’s success. The
Group's success depends on our ability to attract, retain
and motivate qualified personnel. Compensation for the
Group’s employees typically consists of basic salary,
allowances and subsidies (transportation, communication,
housing subsidies and allowances for staff relocated
from other places), welfare (lunch subsidies, cold and
heat prevention subsidies), performance-based bonus
and year-end bonus. The Group provides the employees
with basic pension scheme, basic medical insurance,
workplace injury insurance, unemployment insurance,
maternity insurance and housing providence funds in
accordance with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
For the remuneration expenses for the year ended 31
December 2022, please refer to Note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
PRC government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
this retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Group are set out
in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save for the continuing connected transactions as
disclosed below, during the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group has not carried out any connected
transactions that are not exempt from annual reporting
requirement in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022:

PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (SUBJECT
TO REPORTING, ANNUAL REVIEW AND
ANNOUNCEMENT REQUIREMENTS)

The Company entered into the property leasing
framework agreement with CR Land on 20
November 2020 (the “2020 CR Land Property
Leasing Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which (1) the Group may, from time to time, lease
certain properties from the CR Land Connected
Persons as office and/or employee quarter(s) for
its own use or as operating lease for its operating
purpose; (2) the CR Land Connected Persons may,
from time to time, lease certain properties from the
Group as office for its own use; and (3) the CR Land
Connected Persons may, from time to time, lease
certain retail spaces managed by the Group as
tenants under the commercial subleasing model.
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The term of the 2020 CR Land Property Leasing
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing
Date until 31 December 2022.

The annual cap and the amount paid/received in
respect of the 2020 CR Land Property Leasing
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out below:

The Group leasing from

the CR Land Connected
Persons

CR Land Connected Persons
leasing from the Group

CR Land Connected Persons
leasing from the Group under

FELR &
Transaction

Annual cap amount
ARETT AR¥T T
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
108,357 6,539
13,662 -
24,087 1,937

the commercial subleasing

mode

Hat
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ENHERARTEENFEL - FE
EREGFESRETYEEEME
ROERAEEE BHE_T-__F+
“A=+t—BLFE FEKALE
EEEEHEEEALTEHRAYESR
MEEERBARB108.357THE T
(4 AR100.956 B & 7T iR
RETHERHENERAREERNHA
RE7 401 8B HEEAREE) -

Note:

According to HKFRS 16, the rent payable by the
Group contains different components and therefore
different accounting treatments shall be applied.
The fixed lease payments payable by the Group
will be recognised as right-of-use assets of the
Group and the variable lease payments payable
by the Group will be recognised as expenses of
the Group. The annual caps refer to both estimated
rental payment and recognition of right-of-use
assets from certain property leases. The annual
cap in respect of the amount arising from the Group
leasing from the CR Land Connected Persons for
the year ended 31 December 2022 is RMB108.357
million (among which approximately RMB100.956
million will be recognised as right-of-use assets
from certain property leases, and approximately
RMB7.401 million will be rental payment).
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As the 2020 CR Land Property Leasing Framework
Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the
Company and CR Land entered into a property
leasing framework agreement on 25 October
2022 for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025. For further details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 25
October 2022 in relation to the renewal of continuing
connected transactions.

The Company entered into the property leasing
framework agreement with CRH on 20 November
2020 (the “2020 CRH Property Leasing Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which (1) the Group may,
from time to time, lease certain properties from the
CRH Connected Persons as office for its own use,
(2) the CRH Connected Persons may, from time to
time, lease certain properties from the Group for its
operation, and (3) the CRH Connected Persons may
lease certain retail spaces managed by the Group
as tenants under the commercial subleasing model.

The term of the 2020 CRH Property Leasing
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing
Date until 31 December 2022.
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The annual cap and the amount paid/received
in respect of the 2020 CRH Property Leasing
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out below:

FE LR REEH
Transaction
Annual cap amount
ARET R ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AEEAZEBH(EE) BEAL The Group leasing from the CRH 20,564 =
THAYED Connected Persons(”
=H (KR BEALTEEREE CRH Connected Persons leasing from 55 =
HAME the Group
= (K68 BEATIEEREY CRH Connected Persons leasing from 34,454 8,294
HEXBAEBHAME the Group under the commercial
subleasing model
Btat Note:
1. BIEEEMBRELRE165L K& 1. According to HKFRS 16, the rent payable by the
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Group contains different components and therefore
different accounting treatments shall be applied.
The fixed lease payments payable by the Group
will be recognised as right-of-use assets of the
Group and the variable lease payments payable
by the Group will be recognised as expenses
of the Group. The annual cap in respect of the
amount arising from the Group leasing from the
CRH Connected Persons for the year ended 31
December 2022 refers to recognition of right-of-use
assets as the leases are expected to be long term
leases.

As the 2020 CRH Property Leasing Framework
Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the
Company and CRH entered into a property leasing
framework agreement on 25 October 2022 for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.
For further details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 25 October 2022 in relation
to the renewal of continuing connected transactions.



98 | #mB%£ESRAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

AABREHEMN T _TF+—A=
THRAVEFEMBREERGZ (2]
EFEFEABEERGR]) Bt &
SRR UNBEOE RS M
BALFRBEANE T REEEMNEREZ
R/ e -

—E_TEEFEUBERERGENFHR
BtHESEE—_T-_—F+-_A=+—
E o

BRE-T--F+-A=+—ALEE-
AR WIS =T =T FE OB

HOER FREEAOBESEABAA
R#5350.000 7 8 72 AR A 120 438
B -

AR _EFEEMEEERBGHN
T FFA=F+—HE®R RZZE=
“HF+AZ+HA AT EEBBMET
MIFBMEEELRE R =T ==
F—A—HBEE-_ZT_RAF+-_A=+—
H - BEEZHIE  H2H4ALEHA
:?::¢+H*+£Eﬁ%$§%%%
%E/\]/—\/_t 5

The Company entered into the parking spaces
purchase framework agreement with CR Land on
20 November 2020 (the “2020 Parking Spaces
Purchase Framework Agreement’), pursuant to
which the Group may, from time to time, enter into
transactions to purchase the ownership of and/or
the right to use certain unsold parking spaces which
are owned by the CR Land Connected Persons.

The term of the 2020 Parking Spaces Purchase
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing
Date until 31 December 2022.

The annual cap and the purchase amount paid
under the 2020 Parking Spaces Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022
are RMB350.000 million and RMB120.438 million,
respectively.

As the 2020 Parking Spaces Purchase Framework
Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the
Company and CR Land entered into a parking
spaces purchase framework agreement on 25
October 2022 for the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25
October 2022 in relation to the renewal of continuing
connected transactions.
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The Company entered into the procurement of
and provision of goods and services framework
agreement with CRH on 20 November 2020 (the
‘2020 CRH Procurement Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which (1) the Group may, from time to
time, procure from the CRH Connected Persons
certain types of goods and services which include
staff uniforms, food items and utilities (gas and
electricity) which are aggregated by the Company
to streamline the management of these transactions,
and (2) the CRH Connected Persons may, from time
to time, procure from the Group marketing services
for the respective users in the CR Life Club (&)
through points conversion.

The term of the 2020 CRH Procurement Framework
Agreement commenced on the Listing Date until 31
December 2022.

The annual cap and the annual amounts paid/
received under the 2020 CRH Procurement
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out below:

FELR XEeHE

Transaction

Annual cap amount

AR¥T R AR¥TR

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AEENEESE Purchase amount by the Group 151,476 100,249
EH(EE) BEATNBESE Purchase amount by the CRH 278 217

Connected Persons
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As the 2020 CRH Procurement Framework
Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the
Company and CRH entered into a procurement of
and provision of goods and services framework
agreement on 25 October 2022 for the period from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 25 October 2022 in relation to the
renewal of continuing connected transactions.

The Company entered into the provision of
commercial operational services (commercial
properties) framework agreement with CRH on
20 November 2020 (the “2020 CRH Commercial
Operational Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Group may, from time to time,
provide commercial operational services to the CRH
Connected Persons for their commercial properties
(including shopping malls and office buildings).
The commercial operational services include
(i) pre-opening management services (such as
positioning and design management services, and
tenant sourcing and management services) and (ii)
operation management services (such as opening
preparation services, tenant coaching, consumer
management, and marketing and promotion).

The term of the 2020 CRH Commercial Operational
Services Framework Agreement commenced on the
Listing Date until 31 December 2022.

The annual cap and the service fee received by the
Group under the 2020 CRH Commercial Operational
Services Framework Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2022 are RMB147.612 million and
RMB43.409 million, respectively.
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As the 2020 CRH Commercial Operational
Services Framework Agreement expired on 31
December 2022, the Company and CRH entered
into a provision of commercial operational services
(commercial properties) framework agreement on
25 October 2022 for the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25
October 2022 in relation to the renewal of continuing
connected transactions.

The Company entered into the value-added
services framework agreement with CRH on 20
November 2020 (the “2020 CRH Value-added
Services Framework Agreement’), pursuant to
which the Group may from time to time, provide
value-added services to the CRH Connected
Persons for the residential properties and other
non-commercial properties developed and/or
owned by them. The value-added services to be
provided include community value-added services
(such as community living services and brokerage
and assets services) and value-added services to
property developers (such as consultancy services,
preliminary preparation services and pre-delivery
marketing services).

The term of the 2020 CRH Value-added Services
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing
Date until 31 December 2022.
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The annual cap and the fees received by the
Group under the 2020 CRH Value-added Services
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out below:

FELR RBEH
Transaction
Annual cap amount
ARBTT ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AEEFA R IEBERSWENS Fees received by the Group for the 20,000 18,059
ZH community value-added services
NEBBETEMERMIEEA  Fees received by the Group for the value-added 29,4630 123
HEREWER & A services to property developers
st Total 49,4630 18,182
Biat - Note:
1. EREETHRERERG 2 FE L 1. Please refer to the announcements of the Company
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dated 25 October 2022 and 1 November 2022 in
relation to the revision of annual caps for certain
continuing connected transaction for details.

As the 2020 CRH Value-added Services Framework
Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the
Company and CRH entered into a value-added
services framework agreement on 25 October
2022 for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025. For further details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 25
October 2022 in relation to the renewal of continuing
connected transactions.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (SUBJECT TO
REPORTING, ANNUAL REVIEW,
ANNOUNCEMENT AND INDEPENDENT
SHAREHOLDERS’ APPROVAL
REQUIREMENTS)

The Company entered into the provision of property
management services framework agreement with
CR Land on 20 November 2020 (the 2020 CR
Land Property Management Services Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group may,
from time to time, provide property management
services to the CR Land Connected Persons for the
residential and/or commercial properties and other
properties developed and/or owned by them.

The term of the 2020 CR Land Property Management
Services Framework Agreement commenced on the
Listing Date until 31 December 2022.
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AEERBE-_ZE_TFEHBEMYEERE fees received by the Group under the 2020 CR
RIGEERBZEHFE LR RBEBHOMES Land Property Management Services Framework
BEHINWOT - Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out below:
FEELR REEHE
Transaction
Annual cap amount
ARBTR ARBT T
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
REBEWRMMEETEE Property management fees received by the 845,405 760,386
GEX/ED) Group (for commercial properties)
AEBRRNEERE Property management fees received by the 735,832 232,956
(EEWEREMIERE Group (for residential properties and other
M%) non-commercial properties)

#Et Total 1,581,237 993,342
AR E_EFEHEMYESERKIE As the 2020 CR Land Property Management
BpER T -_—_F+_-_A=1+—HE&E Services Framework Agreement expired on 31
wmoMRN—_EBE-_—_F+A=-+AHH ' KRQF December 2022, the Company and CR Land
HEREMWEI VIR E T RGIESLR Tg,’] entered into a provision of property management

#ECOHRE-_T_=F—H—RERE=
—HAFE+ZA=+—H- ﬁ%%y#%*
BL2EWARRHHA-Z-_—_F+A
TThEBBEERBERER SIS
(IVARFHA S -_—_F+=_A+=
HEREBFREFEREIHNBEA
RNARTRIBEAR-_E-__F+=-A=
TNBRITZRRFIASRERRER

N

services framework agreement on 25 October
2022 for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025. For further details, please refer
to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 25
October 2022 in relation to the renewal of continuing
connected transactions; (ii) the circular of the
Company dated 12 December 2022 in relation to
the renewal of non-exempt continuing connected
transactions; and (iii) the announcement of the
Company in relation to the poll results of the EGM
held on 28 December 2022.
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The Company entered into the provision of
commercial operational services (commercial
properties) framework agreement with CR Land
on 20 November 2020 (the “2020 CR Land
Commercial Operational Services Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group may,
from time to time, provide commercial operational
services to the CR Land Connected Persons for
their commercial properties (including shopping
malls and office buildings). The commercial
operational services include (i) pre-opening
management services (such as positioning and
design management services, and tenant sourcing
and management services) and (ii) operation
management services (such as opening preparation
services, tenant coaching, consumer management
and marketing and publicity).

The term of the 2020 CR Land Commercial
Operational Services Framework Agreement
commenced on the Listing Date until 31 December
2022.

The annual cap and the service fees received by
the Group under the 2020 CR Land Commercial
Operational Services Framework Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2022 are RMB1,807.973
million and RMB1,571.976 million, respectively.
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As the 2020 CR Land Commercial Operational
Services Framework Agreement expired on 31
December 2022, the Company and CR Land entered
into a provision of commercial operational services
(commercial properties) framework agreement on
25 October 2022 (the “2023 CR Land Commercial
Operational Services Framework Agreement”)
and a supplemental agreement to the 2023 CR
Land Commercial Operational Services Framework
Agreement for the period from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2037. For further details, please refer
to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 25
October 2022 in relation to the renewal of continuing
connected transactions; (ii) the announcement of
the Company dated 7 December 2022 in relation
to the supplemental agreement to the 2023 CR
Land Commercial Operational Services Framework
Agreement; (iii) the circular of the Company dated
12 December 2022 in relation to the renewal of non-
exempt continuing connected transactions; and (iv)
the announcement of the Company in relation to the
poll results of the EGM held on 28 December 2022.

The Company entered into the value-added
services framework agreement with CR Land on 20
November 2020 (the “2020 CR Land Value-added
Services Framework Agreement’), pursuant to
which the Group may, from time to time, provide
value-added services to the CR Land Connected
Persons for the residential properties and other
non-commercial properties developed and/or
owned by them. The value-added services to be
provided include community value-added services
(such as community living services and brokerage
and assets services) and value-added services to
property developers (such as consultancy services,
preliminary preparation services and pre-delivery
marketing services).
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The term of the 2020 CR Land Value-added Services
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing
Date until 31 December 2022.

The annual cap and the service fees received by
our Group under the 2020 CR Land Value-added
Services Framework Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out below:

FE LR REEH

Transaction

Annual cap amount

AR%T R ARBTRT

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

REEFA R IEERBSUWER Fees received by the Group for the community 110,604 101,348

BH value-added services

NEBBITEMER A Fees received by the Group for the value-added 915,919 640,701
AR UE R & A services to property developers

st Total 1,026,523 742,049
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As the 2020 CR Land Value-added Services
Framework Agreement expired on 31 December
2022, the Company and CR Land entered into a
value-added services framework agreement on 25
October 2022 for the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025. For further details, please
refer to (i) the announcement of the Company
dated 25 October 2022 in relation to the renewal of
continuing connected transactions; (ii) the circular
of the Company dated 12 December 2022 in relation
to the renewal of non-exempt continuing connected
transactions; and (iii) the announcement of the
Company in relation to the poll results of the EGM
held on 28 December 2022.
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The Company entered into the procurement of
goods and services framework agreement with CR
Land on 20 November 2020 (the “2020 CR Land
Procurement Framework Agreement’), pursuant
to which the Group may, from time to time, procure
from the CR Land Connected Persons certain types
of goods and services which include interior design
and construction, purchase of furniture and fixtures,
and utilities (water and electricity).

The term of the 2020 CR Land Procurement
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing
Date until 31 December 2022.

The annual cap and the purchase amount paid by
the Group under the 2020 CR Land Procurement
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2022 are RMB860.366 million and
RMB164.058 million, respectively.

As the 2020 CR Land Procurement Framework
Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the
Company and CR Land entered into a procurement
of goods and services framework agreement on 25
October 2022 for the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25
October 2022 in relation to the renewal of continuing
connected transactions.
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The Company entered into the provision of property
management services framework agreement
with CRH on 20 November 2020 (the ‘2020 CRH
Property Management Services Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group may,
from time to time, provide property management
services to the CRH Connected Persons for the
residential and/or commercial properties and other
properties developed and/or owned by them.

The term of the 2020 CRH Property Management
Services Framework Agreement commenced on the
Listing Date until 31 December 2022.

The annual cap and the property management fees
received by the Group under the 2020 CRH Property
Management Services Framework Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:

FELR REEHE
Transaction
Annual cap amount
ARETR ARBTRT
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AEBRRNEERE Property management fees received by the 230,980 196,411
GESZE) Group (for commercial properties)
AEBRRNEEERE Property management fees received by the 202,455 129,564
(TR HEA Group (for residential properties and other
NHERIE) public facilities)
wEt Total 433,435 325,975
Biat - Note:
1. BB ETHRERERIZFE £ 1. Please refer to the announcement of the Company

REOFE  F2HARFBEHAE-T
——Ff+A-+HBER=ZZT=-_=_F+
—A—H®HRE -

dated 25 October 2022 and 1 November 2022 in
relation to the revision of annual caps for certain
continuing connected transaction for details.
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As the 2020 CRH Property Management Services
Framework Agreement expired on 31 December
2022, the Company and CRH entered into a
provision of property management services
framework agreement on 25 October 2022 for
the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2025. For further details, please refer to (i) the
announcement of the Company dated 25 October
2022 in relation to the renewal of continuing
connected transactions; (ii) the circular of the
Company dated 12 December 2022 in relation to
the renewal of non-exempt continuing connected
transactions; and (iii) the announcement of the
Company in relation to the poll results of the EGM
held on 28 December 2022.

The Company entered into the deposit and financial
service framework agreement with CR Bank on 20
November 2020 (the “2020 Deposit and Financial
Services Framework Agreement’), pursuant
to which the Group may, from time to time, (1)
deposit cash into CR Bank while CR Bank will
provide deposit services and pay deposit interest
to the Group on such deposits, and (2) use the
commercial banking services of CR Bank including,
but not limited to, letter of credit, letter of guarantee,
granting of loans with collaterals, bill acceptance
and discount services, account receivable factoring
services, provision of loans and security, wealth and
cash management services, financial consulting
service and other financial services as agreed by
the parties. The 2020 Deposit and Financial Services
Framework Agreement (including the term of the
agreement) is in line with the “CR Bank Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2019” dated 9 December
2019 entered into by CR Bank and CR Land.
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The term of the 2020 Deposit and Financial Services
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing
Date until 31 December 2022.

The annual caps, the maximum daily balance
of deposits placed by the Group with CR Bank
and maximum daily amount of financial services
and products provided by CR Bank under the
2020 Deposit and Financial Services Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out below:

FELR XEeHE

Transaction

Annual cap amount

ARETR ARBTT

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

REEFHRERBRITH Maximum daily balance of deposits placed by 525,000 415,600
=T EFHRE the Group with CR Bank

EHRTIRESBRBE R Maximum daily amount of financial services and 821,429 =

EmEAGatHE products provided by CR Bank

HRZEZEFGEAREBRISIER B
RZEZZF+ZA=+—HER K=
T-—F+A-+AHHB  AQAREFEEE
TR TFR R & MAREIER T - BR A
R =F—fA—HRBEZZT=-RFT=
A=+—8 - BBEZHE - F2HEQ
AIAAES-_—F+A-+HAAHEE
BREBEISHAE -

RIBELEWARR - FHEMWEEAL  FEH
(EE)BEEALREBRTA/AERAFH
BAL -

As the 2020 Deposit and Financial Services
Framework Agreement expired on 31 December
2022, the Company and CR Bank entered into a
deposit and financial service framework agreement
on 25 October 2022 for the period from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025. For further details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 25 October 2022 in relation to the renewal of
continuing connected transactions.

CR Land Connected Persons, CRH Connected
Persons and CR Bank are connected persons of the
Company under the Listing Rules.



112 | #m@%£5E6RAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Bt Ei() S FEHEMWE
HEERGZ )T _FTFEH (K
E)MEHEEERBZE (3) ZFE_FF
FEMNEEERpGS 4T _TFE
B(EE) RBER ﬁ (B =E=EF
2H(EE) mEELRBIELRBZE : (6)
—E-TFER(RE) BERGIEER
Z(NEEFERENMESTER
BERGZ: Q) 2T _TFEHEMND
FELSRMBIERDZ ()T _TFF
HEMIZERGERGZ (100 2F=F
FEHSHWERBERBZ : (1) 2T
FEH (K@) METERBER DS
R(A2)ZZ=TFFH R e m REEZR
F(GHEIFERERZHE]) BT HRE
T2 RSEH ETRBFE14ATIE T ARE
BEvRHERERS  BHRRBERERI W
FECRLEBERRABRERBERS
_/E‘_ﬁo

REHEREXSHENS  ARFDEE
IE%E%%Q%%%@%L#ULmﬁ
w FUUAE BB LEX [ HEBERS — &
PREFBERER S (BETHRR FE
EHERAERTE) | —HEESERE
RO RERTE + R(i) ETHBIE14A
EEBLNIFERERS — FREIFE
FiER S (JAEBSTHRE FEEH - A%
KRB RRBERTE) | — S RBERE
MEXZHNAE KB REIERE

Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
each of (1) the 2020 CR Land Property Leasing
Framework Agreement; (2) the 2020 CRH Property
Leasing Framework Agreement; (3) the 2020 Parking
Spaces Purchase Framework Agreement; (4) the
2020 CRH Procurement Framework Agreement; (5)
the 2020 CRH Commercial Operational Services
Framework Agreement; (6) the 2020 CRH Value-
added Services Framework Agreement; (7) the 2020
CR Land Property Management Services Framework
Agreement; (8) the 2020 CR Land Commercial
Operational Services Framework Agreement; (9) the
2020 CR Land Value — added Services Framework
Agreement; (10) the 2020 CR Land Procurement
Framework Agreement; (11) the 2020 CRH Property
Management Services Framework Agreement;
and (12) the 2020 Deposit and Financial Services
Framework Agreement as mentioned above
(collectively known as the “CCT Agreements”)
constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Further details of the CCT Agreements are set out
under the section headed “Connected Transactions”
in the Prospectus.

In respect of the CCT Agreements, the Company
has applied for, and the Stock Exchange has
granted us, waivers from strict compliance with (i)
the announcement requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the continuing
connected transaction as disclosed in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions —
Partially-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Subject to Reporting, Annual Review and
Announcement Requirements)” above; and (ii) the
announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in respect of the continuing connected
transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions — Non-
Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions (Subject
to Reporting, Annual Review, Announcement and
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements)”
above.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules,
the independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the CCT Agreements, and confirmed the
Agreements have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii)  according to the agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules, the Group has engaged its auditor (the
“Auditor”) to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The Auditor has issued his unqualified letter
containing his findings and conclusions in respect
of the aforesaid continuing connected transactions
conducted by the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022. A copy of the auditor’'s letter
has been delivered by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements include related party
transactions disclosed under accounting standards and
related party transactions which also constitute connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of
Directors and chief executives of the Company constitute
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. Save as the connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions disclosed above,
the related party transactions set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements do not fall within the
definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules (as the case may be). The Company confirmed that
it was in compliance with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2022 or a waiver from such provisions has been
obtained from the Stock Exchange.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed on this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2022 was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities
including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Our customers primarily consist of property developers,
property owners and tenants, property owners’
associations and residents.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, a significant
portion of our property management and commercial
operational services was related to properties developed
by CR Group and CR Land. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the revenue amounts from the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for 33.2% (2021: 41.3%)
of the Group’s total revenue and the revenue amount from
the Group’s single largest customer, CR Land, accounted
for 28.0% (2021: 35.3%) of the Group’s total revenue.

Other than CR Group and CR Land, the Group’s customers
during the year ended 31 December 2022 were all
independent third parties.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors, members
of senior management, any Shareholder who, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital or their close associates
held any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers other than CR Group and CR Land. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, other than CR Group and
CR Land, none of the Group’s major suppliers was the
Group'’s customer.

The Group’s suppliers primarily consist of subcontractors
providing cleaning, greening services, and repair and
maintenance services, services providers of utilities, third-
party merchants providing renovation services, advertising
and community living services and property owners.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the purchases
amount from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for 10.6% (2021: 23.3%) of the Group’s total purchases
and the purchases amount from the Group’s single largest
customer, CR Land, accounted for 6.8% (2021: 18.1%) of
the Group’s total purchases.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, other than CR
Group and CR Land, none of the Group’s major suppliers
was also the Group’s customer and all of the Group’s
major suppliers were independent third parties. CR Group
and CR Land was also the Group’s single largest customer
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Other than CR Group and CR Land, the Group’s suppliers
during the year ended 31 December 2022 were all
independent third parties.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors, members
of senior management, any Shareholders who, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, or their close associates
had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers
other than CR Group and CR Land.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and
the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 296 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF
HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their respective
holding of the Company’s securities.
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SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates are set out in Notes 20 and 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and details of
the Shares issued during the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to
the Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at
the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has maintained
the public float as required under the Listing Rules as
modified by the waiver granted by the Stock Exchange
upon the Listing.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

CHARITABLE DONATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
charitable donation amounted to approximately
RMB1,200,000.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The consolidation results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out on page 147
of consolidated statement of profit of loss and other
comprehensive income.

The Board recommended a final dividend of RMB0.312
(equivalent to HK$0.357) per Share (2022 Final
Dividend”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 payable
on or around 28 July 2023 to Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on
14 June 2023. Together with (a) the interim dividend of
RMBO0.127 (equivalent to HK$0.145) per Share for the
six months ended 30 June 2022 which was paid on 31
October 2022 and (b) the special dividend of RMB0.3643
(equivalent to HK$0.4069) per Share for the year ended
31 December 2022 which was paid on 28 February 2023,
the total dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022
shall amount to RMB0.8033 (equivalent to HK$0.9089) per
Share.

The 2022 Final Dividend will be payable in cash to each
Shareholder in HKD unless an election is made to receive
the same in RMB.

Shareholders will be given the option to elect to receive
all or part of the 2022 Final Dividend in RMB at the
exchange rate of HKD1.0: RMB0.8750, being the average
benchmark exchange rate of HKD to RMB as published by
the People's Bank of China during the five business days
immediately before 28 March 2023. If Shareholders elect to
receive the 2022 Final Dividend in RMB, such dividend will
be paid to shareholders at RMB0.312 per Share. To make
such election, Shareholders should complete the dividend
currency election form which is expected to be dispatched
to shareholders in June 2023 as soon as practicable
after the record date of 14 June 2023 to determine
Shareholders’ entitlement to the 2022 Final Dividend,
and lodge it to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investors Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 7 July 2023.
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Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all or part
of their dividends in RMB by cheques should note that (i)
they should ensure that they have an appropriate bank
account to which the RMB cheques for dividend can be
presented for payment; and (ii) there is no assurance that
RMB cheques can be cleared without material handling
charges or delay in Hong Kong or that RMB cheques will
be honored for payment upon presentation outside Hong
Kong. The cheques are expected to be posted to the
relevant shareholders by ordinary post on or around 28
July 2023 at the Shareholders’ own risk.

If no duly completed dividend currency election form in
respect of that Shareholder is received by the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong by 4:30 p.m. on 7
July 2023, such shareholder will automatically receive the
2022 Final Dividend in HKD. All dividend payments in HKD
will be made in the usual ways on 28 July 2023.

If Shareholders wish to receive the 2022 Final Dividend in
HKD in the usual way, no additional action is required.

Shareholders should seek professional advice with their
own tax advisers regarding the possible tax implications of
the dividend payment.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty
in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Company
has taken out liability insurance to provide appropriate
coverage for the Directors.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
and of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’'s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately RMB97.8 billion.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no bank loans
and other borrowings.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term
of three years with effect from the Listing Date.

None of the Directors has a service contract with members
of the Group that is not terminable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors nor any entity connected with
the Directors had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that
competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being
a director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are decided by the Board with reference
to the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the individual performance
and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of
the five highest paid individuals (included four Directors)
in the Group are set out in Note 9 and Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any Director or any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been
made or are payable, for the year ended 31 December
2022, by the Group to or on behalf of any of the Directors.
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CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions”, “Continuing Connected Transactions”,
“Related Party Transactions” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report, no contract of
significance was entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or
any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2022 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year
ended 31 December 2022 or subsisted at the end of the
year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

On 10 December 2020, CR Land entered into a non-
competition undertaking in favor of the Company, pursuant
to which, among other things, CR Land has given certain
non-competition undertakings to the Company. Details of
the non-competition undertaking are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — CR
Land Non-competition Undertaking” in the Prospectus.

CR Land confirmed that it and its close associates have
complied with the non-competition undertaking for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The independent non-executive
Directors have conducted such review for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and also reviewed the relevant
undertakings and are satisfied that the non-competition
undertaking has been fully complied with.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and
business partners are keys to its sustainable development.
The Group is committed to establishing a close and
caring relationship with its employees, providing quality
services to its customers and enhancing cooperation
with its business partners. The Company provides a
fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to its staff,
provides competitive remuneration and benefits and
career development opportunities based on their merits
and performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to
provide adequate trainings and development resources to
the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the
same time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment
in their positions. Further details in relation to the Group’s
employees are set out in the paragraph headed “Human
Resources” in this report.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with customers and provide the products
in a way that satisfies needs and requirements of the
customers. The Group enhances the relationship by
continuous interaction with customers to gain insight on
the changing market demand for the products so that
the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’
complaints to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with
in a prompt and timely manner.

The Group is also dedicated to developing good
relationship with suppliers and contractors as long-
term business partners to ensure stability of the Group’s
business. The Group reinforces business partnerships with
suppliers and contractors by ongoing communication in a
proactive manner.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditors since the
Listing Date to the year ended 31 December 2022. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by EY, Certified Public
Accountants. According to the relevant regulations issued
by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC and the State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council of the PRC, the Board proposes EY to retire
as the auditor of the Company upon expiration of its term
of office at the conclusion of the forthcoming 2023 AGM
and not to be reappointed.

With the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the
Board has resolved to recommend the appointment of
KPMG as the new auditor of the Company following the
retirement of EY and such proposed appointment is subject
to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
ON CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

The Company entered into the following loan agreements
which have specific performance covenant of its
Controlling Shareholders. The obligations of such loan
agreements continue to exist as of the Latest Practicable
Date. As at the Latest Practicable Date, CRH beneficially
owns directly or indirectly approximately 73.72% of the
issued share capital of the Company, and CR Land is the
single largest shareholder of the Company, directly owning
approximately 72.29% of the issued share capital of the
Company and being able to control the Company.
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A revolving loan facility letter for a facility in an
aggregate amount up to HKD620,000,000 with
no fixed term and is repayable on demand by the
lender was entered into on 28 June 2021, details of
which have been disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 28 June 2021. The Company
undertakes that during the term of the facility, CRH
shall directly or indirectly own no less than 35% of
the beneficial ownership of the Company, and CR
Land shall remain as the single largest shareholder
of the Company, directly or indirectly owning no
less than 51% of the beneficial ownership of the
Company and being able to control the Company.
If a change of control resulting in violation of the
relevant undertakings under this facility letter
occurs, the lender may declare any commitment
under this facility letter to be cancelled and/
or declare the outstanding loans, together with
all the interests accrued thereon, and all other
amounts due under this facility letter shall become
immediately due and payable.

A revolving loan facility letter for a facility in an
aggregate amount of up to HKD600,000,000 was
entered into on 20 October 2021, details of which
have been disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 20 October 2021. The maturity
date of the facility is 12 months from the date of
acceptance of the facility letter. The Company
undertakes that during the term of the facility, the
Company shall procure that CRH and CR Land
remain directly or indirectly interested in no less
than 35% and 51% of the issued share capital of
the Company respectively. If violation of the relevant
undertakings under this facility letter occurs, the
lender may declare any commitment under this
facility letter to be cancelled and/or declare the
outstanding loans, together with all the interests
accrued thereon, and all other amounts due under
this facility letter shall become immediately due and
payable.
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o A revolving loan facility letter for a facility in an
aggregate amount of up to HKD1,000,000,000 was
entered into on 23 March 2022, details of which
have been disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 23 March 2022. The maturity
date of the facility is 12 months from the date of
the first drawdown. The Company undertakes that
during the term of the facility, the Company shall
procure that CR Land remain directly or indirectly
interested in no less than 51% of the issued share
capital of the Company and remain to be the single
largest shareholder of the Company. If violation of
the relevant undertakings under this facility letter
occurs, the lender may declare any commitment
under this facility letter to be cancelled and/or
declare the principal amount advanced and the
outstanding loans, together with all the interests
accrued thereon, and all other amounts due under
this facility letter shall become immediately due and
payable.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does
not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules
13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2023 AGM will be held on 6 June 2023. Notice of
the 2023 AGM and all other relevant documents will be
published and despatched to Shareholders in due course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from 31 May 2023 to 6 June 2023, both days inclusive and
during which period no share transfer will be effected,
for the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 6 June 2023. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2023.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the meeting, the
proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company after the close of business of the Company at
4:30 p.m. on 14 June 2023 and the register of members of
the Company will be closed from 13 June 2023 to 14 June
2023, during which no transfer of shares of the Company
will be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final
dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates shall be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at the above address not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 12 June 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions
of our Directors or chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

BAFR
BEEME M ZER#AO ERaatl
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest shares® holding®
MIFRER ST Hh®
Mr. YU Linkang Others® 358,304 (L) 0.02%
FERAEE Hh®
Mr. WANG Haimin Others® 52,955 (L) 0.00%
BELL HAth©
Ms. WEI Xiaohua Others® 263,459 (L) 0.01%
ISAIEZ+ Hh®
Ms. YANG Hongxia Others® 358,304 (L) 0.02%
Biat - Notes:
1. FR[LIEZALERDTE - 1. The letter “L" denotes the person’'s long position in our
Shares.
2. ER-_E__F+_A=+—HBETRHE 2. The calculation is based on the total number of

#2,282,500,000 BEEFE o

3. WFRFESAE  TRREE BN EZTRIGA
E L LTFEBCICC Financial Trading Limited
BRUNBEEERNERBREEELEEREY
HE#ER FHAREEELEENE—TER
FE2HBRER -

2,282,500,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

3¢ Mr. YU Linkang, Mr. WANG Haimin, Ms. WEI Xiaohua
and Ms. YANG Hongxia subscribed and hold interests
under the employee preferential offering through the asset
management schemes established by CICC Financial
Trading Limited. For further information on the employee
preferential offering, please refer to the Prospectus.
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BARR
ZERHEEO AoHk®
Number of Approximate

ordinary percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest shares™ holding®
TMEE EmEBAA
Mr. LI Xin Beneficial owner 40,000 (L) 0.00%
Biat - Notes:
1. FRLIEZALTFEREMRO TR © 1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the
shares of CR Land.
2. BER-_ZE-__F+-_A=+—HEETEEE 2. The calculation is based on the total number of
HAR 1D 48 807,130,939,579 8 AR AL E o 7,130,939,579 shares of CR Land in issue as at 31
December 2022.
BAFR
EEHA ERME ZEREEO Bokk®
Number of Approximate

Name of Director

Nature of interest

ordinary percentage of
shares® holding®

51,700 (L) 0.01%

E e Hitn®

Mr. GUO Shiging Others®

Mt : Notes:

1. FEHILIEZATHAFHIPEERNBERQF 1.
Binita -

2. BN - E - —E+ A=+ —HEETIPE 2.
¥RMMBIRA BRI #2280629,581,958 K B E
HEHE -

3. FHF L EWAR AR H IR B, 251,700 H 3.

A -

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the
shares of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

The calculation is based on the total number of
629,581,958 shares in issue of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd as at 31 December 2022.

Mr. Guo Shiging was deemed to be interested in 51,700
shares through interest of his spouse.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none
of the Directors or the chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or were required to be
entered in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS®
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as the Directors are
aware, the following persons (other than the Directors or
chief executives of the Company) and companies had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO were as follows:



IR

Shareholder

FEEBHERARC

China Resources Company Limited®
ZHRMBRAAO®

China Resources Inc.®

CRC Bluesky Limited®

CRC Bluesky Limited®

EH (RO

CRH®

EHEE (i) BRAFO®

CRH (Land) Limited®

EHEHO

CR Land®

JPMorgan Chase & Co.®
JPMorgan Chase & Co.®

51 REME

Capacity/Nature of interest

ESilINGIE: £

Interest in controlled corporation
ZYEHI AR

Interest in controlled corporation
eI NCIE:

Interest in controlled corporation
ESeiINGIE: £

Interest in controlled corporation
PRGN R

Interest in controlled corporation
EmfEEA

Beneficial owner

BEmfEB A

Beneficial owner

EESIL AR

Interest in controlled corporation

REKE

Investment manager

BAEROHREERDA

Person having a security
interest in shares

REEHRIEA

Approved lending agent

et

Subtotal
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ZEREEO
Number of
ordinary
Shares™

1,682,666,000 (L)

1,682,666,000 (L)

1,682,666,000 (L)

1,682,666,000 (L)

1,650,000,000 (L)

32,644,400 (L)

1,650,000,000 (L)

2,825,940 (L)

1,371,926 (S)

69,461,442 (L)

156,400 (L)

41,482,801 (P)

113,926,583 (L)
1,371,926 (S)
41,482,801 (P)

MR
AoHk®
Approximate
percentage of
holding®

73.72%

73.72%

73.72%

73.72%

73.72%

72.29%

0.12%

0.06%

3.04%

0.01%

1.82%

4.99%
0.06%
1.82%
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38 ERHEM  AEERAFRRERNEE (EH)
BRARDRIEEFFAEARAF,650,000,000
B% - 21,600% A 232,644,400 % 8% 15 - #E 8
EWHEREE (SH) BRAFFHHES9.51%
Bw o EH(EE) RAEERAGAIRERER
(BM) BER AR ZME—IRER - mEHE(ER)
ZZCRC Bluesky Limitedt2&HBQR]
CRC Bluesky Limited ZEHBRMHBRAFE
EHA MEBROARAFTDAEPBEEEE
RABIZEESE At - FHEE (BM) AR
AF - #EH(%E) - CRC Bluesky Limited »
EERNHERRFARFEEBEGRDFIGH
B AHEERAT,682,666,000 AL B

4. BIEFHRAERAEXVBE2REID
REMARARBENERER  ZZFRH
JPMorgan Chase & Co. 2o RIEE#EHA
99.99% [ 49% % #|# Z JPMorgan Asset
Management (Asia Pacific) Limited & China
International Fund Management Co., Ltd. LA
R E A E B KHEEREE 100% 15 67 2 0%
EiEE o HF - F1,142,600KH (iF5) &
1,088,608 i 1n (X&) THAR &R A IE
MHTETE o

BEXHEEN R —_F+-_A=+—
B #@ECMEMATRROSBERDHHES
BEEFRBEEHEXVEE2REIXNRTE
ARARRFEENESFARE KRR A AR
MR B A N B E K5 5336 1517 B 89 o eV AE
WRAE ©

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in our
Shares. The letter “S” denotes the person’s short position
in the shares of the Company. The letter “P” denotes the
position in lending pool.

2. The calculation is based on the total number of
2,282,500,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

S CR Land, Commotra Company Limited and CRH (Land)
Limited directly held 1,650,000,000 Shares, 21,600 Shares
and 32,644,400 Shares of the Company, respectively. CR
Land is owned as to 59.51% by CRH (Land) Limited. CRH
is the sole shareholder of Commotra Company Limited and
CRH (Land) Limited. Moreover, CRH is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn wholly-
owned by China Resources Inc. China Resources Inc. is
wholly-owned by China Resources Company Limited. Thus,
CRH (Land) Limited, CRH, CRC Bluesky Limited, China
Resources Inc. and China Resources Company Limited are
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 1,682,666,000
shares in the Company.

4. According to the information disclosed to the Company
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of SFO, these
shares were held by JPMorgan Chase & Co. through
JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia Pacific) Limited and
China International Fund Management Co., Ltd. which
are controlled indirectly as to 99.99% and 49% by it
respectively and other corporations controlled directly or
indirectly as to 100% by it. Among which, 1,142,600 shares
(long position) and 1,088,608 shares (short position) are
cash settled unlisted derivatives.

Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2022, no other
person had any interest or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING

The shares of the Company were successfully listed
on the Stock Exchange on 9 December 2020, with total
net proceeds of the Listing amounted to approximately
RMB11,600.4 million after deducting the underwriting fees
and relevant expenses.

As set out in the Prospectus, the Group intends to use
the proceeds for the purposes and in the amounts set
forth below: (i) approximately 60% of the net proceeds for
making strategic investments and acquisitions to expand
our property management and commercial operational
businesses; (ii) approximately 15% of the net proceeds for
pursuing strategic investment in providers of value-added
services and across the upstream and downstream supply
chain of our industry; (iii) approximately 15% of the net
proceeds for investing in information technology systems
and smart communities; and (iv) approximately 10% of the
net proceeds for working capital and general corporate
uses.

As at 31 December 2022, RMB3,223.3 million of the
proceeds of the Listing had been utilized. The remaining
amounts were held by way of bank deposits with licensed
banks in Hong Kong or the PRC and are intended to be
used in the manner set out in the Prospectus.
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The following table sets forth the status of use of net
proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering as of

FTE AR - 31 December 2022 together with the expected timeline of
use:
Bz
ZEC-CE
R=B=-% TZR R=B=zF
TZB Zt-Hit =
=t-0 EEFBFE =t-B RUBALTRS
frgsa *BA RED ABR  FAFEN
RRERFENEHER Ll BEHERE  FMERE  ERBR FBRE  BEREX
Actual use of
Proceeds net proceeds  Proceeds
unused as  during the unused  Expected timeline for
Planned of 31 year ended asof 31 fully utilizing the net
use of net  December 31 December December proceeds from the
Business objective as stated in the Prospectus Proportion  proceeds 2021 2022 2022  Listing
ARBEER
RMB million
(i) BANEERNBEELERNBRRENNE RZZZRETZAR
(i) Making strategic investments and acquisitions to
expand our property management and commercial
operational businesses 60% 6,960.3 6,960.3 1,602.9 5457.4 By December 2025
(il RECEERBARTE F TRERENSRIERE RZZZRETZAR
(i) Pursuing strategic investment in providers of value-
added services and across the upstream and
downstream supply chain of our industry 15% 1,740.1 1,648.0 120.4 1,527.6 By December 2025
(i) REBERBAARTE L TRHRENERILRE RIBZRE+ZAR
(iii) Pursuing strategic investment in providers of value-
added services and across the upstream and
downstream supply chain of our industry 15% 1,740.1 1,612.3 220.2 1,392.1 By December 2025
(iv) BEEER-RATMAE RZBZRETZAH
(iv) Working capital and general corporate uses 10% 1,160.0 - - - By December 2025
100% 11,600.4 10,220.5 1,843.5 8,377.1
Yoz Note:
1. AAUE R A - BIEETRNERLER o 1. The sum of the data may not add up to the total due to

rounding.



WEE B SRk 2w

ARBIEER EMBAIFE3 21 ERCEEASTE
KYBEZEEE BERZESRENACKRETT
B SEFBHENAFRANEEE RS - B
ZECH-RBUFNTESR —BIEPTES
B DRI BRERELE (EF)  REIELALE -
RO ZERBUFLEE - WEERAQRREREE
MAEEHEE—_T-_—_F+_A=1+—HLLFE
MEBZTETHRE  REREZIHRREE
BTEAGHERNRETE  VEFLEAEE -
RS AR AL M ERNSFTBRES - KR
¥ HARE P9 7N 0 A A ] R AL I B2 K 88 R 1 1 Y

—Z——4#%% | Annual Report2022 | | 35

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company has established the Audit Committee in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. Details of the role and work performed by the Audit
Committee are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report. The Audit Committee,
which comprises three independent non-executive
Directors and one non-executive Director (namely Mr.
CHAN Chung Yee Alan (Chairman), Mr. CHEUNG Kwok
Ching, Ms. QIN Hong and Mr. GUO Shiging), have
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 with
the Company’s management and considered that such
statements have been prepared in accordance with
applicable accounting standards and requirements with
sufficient disclosure. There has not been any significant
changes in accounting policies during the reporting period
and there are no prior period adjustments due to correction
of material errors during the Reporting Period.



136 | #mE%£E6RAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

S R A AR R Y EEOR I

R-B-=F—H=+H &R Hﬁﬁﬁ@i

E)FIuBm  ARBRETERENRGE RE
%U—ﬁ__ﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁ ﬁ%ﬁ K (2)52
EBRDETLARKEIES m%&ﬁ%ﬁ—
E_=FBAERER ﬁﬁj R-—T==%
%%ﬂ”gﬂ%%%ﬁﬁf—g_:ﬁﬁﬁﬁm

wmE) - RELWHRA - FTH(EE) REER
MARARFNEEAL - AR T _=FERE

RipHEE NEETR P 2 —HRZHERBA DL

KBBO 1% BT EBBS% - IR T
RGAETRHE  RNERFEEMRTE @ EER

RESF EHRAFEI4AZE N 2B IR ER
E o RS  B2HNARRBEHA-E-_=F
—AZt+BzRrE-

BRATIEEEEIN AEBWER T -_—_F+=1
Tt Hz@EARHAEEREREBEEAS
AEENEMEREEEE -

RERES=E

=R

EE

BB —_TE-=F=A=-1+N\H

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE
BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 20 January 2023, the Company entered into (1) a
framework loan agreement and guarantee for advances
in HKD, Renminbi and United States Dollar with CRH
(the “Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2023")
and (2) a framework loan agreement and guarantee for
advances in RMB with CRI (the “Onshore Framework
Loan Agreement 2023", together with the Offshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2023, the “Framework Loan
Agreements 2023"). CRH and CRI are connected persons
of the Company under the Listing Rules. As one or more
of the applicable percentage ratios for the transactions
contemplated under the Framework Loan Agreements
2023 exceed 0.1% but none of them exceeds 5%, the
transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements
but are exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 January 2023.

Saved as disclosed, the Group had no other significant
subsequent events occurred after 31 December 2022
which would material impact on the performance and the
value of the Group.

On behalf of the Board

LI Xin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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URREEITIN

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RESOURCES MIXC
LIFESTYLE SERVICES LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (the
“‘Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 147 to 295, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed
the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded goodwill
of RMB1,805 million in relation to the acquisition of
businesses, which represented 7% of the Group'’s total
assets.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. The
goodwill impairment review performed by the Group’s
management includes a number of significant
judgements and estimations including those regarding
the identification of cash-generating units (“CGUs”),
operating profit forecasts, the sales growth rates and
the discount rates. Related changes in the estimations
might have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

We identified the impairment of goodwill as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and the
uncertainty of estimation made by management on the
key assumptions.

Details of the impairment test of goodwill are disclosed
in notes 3 and 19 to the financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of
goodwill included the following:

o evaluating the key assumptions used in cash flow
forecasts, such as the sales growths rate and
gross margin, through comparison with historical

performance and the business development plan;

° involving our internal valuation specialist in the
assessment of the methodologies, discount rates
and long-term growth rates used by management,
as appropriate, to estimate the recoverable
amounts of goodwill;

° reviewing management’s sensitivity analysis of
impairment test, evaluating whether a reasonably
possible change in assumptions could cause
the carrying amount of goodwill to exceed its
recoverable amount; and

° assessing the adequacy of the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter
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Valuation of investment properties
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As at 31 December 2022, the investment properties
of the Group were located in the Chinese Mainland
and carried at RMB3,366 million, which represented
approximately 13% of the Group’s total assets.

The Group’s investment properties were stated at fair
value based on valuations carried out by independent
and professionally qualified valuer (the “Valuer”). The
valuations of the completed investment properties were
dependent on certain significant unobservable inputs,
including the capitalisation rate and prevailing market
rents. Management's assessment on the fair values of
investment properties requires significant judgements
and estimates.

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and the significant judgements associated with
the determination of the fair values.

Related disclosures are included in note 3 and note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the
investment properties included:

° Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer; as well as obtaining an
understanding of the Valuer's scope of work;

° Involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in evaluating the valuation methodology and the
significant unobservable inputs and the accuracy
of the source data adopted by management of the
Group and the Valuer by comparing them, on a
sample basis, to existing tenancy profiles, publicly
available information of similar comparable
properties and our knowledge of the real estate
industry; and

° Checking on a sample basis, accuracy and
relevance of the input data used in the valuation
and checking the mathematical accuracy of the
valuations.
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Key audit matter
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Recoverability of trade and bill receivables and
other receivables
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As at 31 December 2022, the gross balances of trade
and bill receivables and other receivable amounted
to RMB1,574 million and RMB1,421 million, of which
provisions for impairment amounting to RMB16 million
and RMB11 million were made, respectively.

Management assessed the expected credit losses
of receivables based on assumptions about risk of
default, expected credit loss rates and whether there
has been any significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition for other receivables. The Group
used judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s history, ageing profile of the
receivables, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

EfzERNEERRERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Our audit procedures in relation to the recoverability of
the receivables included:

° Obtaining an understanding of evaluating and
testing management’'s key controls in relation to
the assessment of the expected credit losses of
receivables;

° Obtaining an understanding of the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model
adopted by management, including the basis of
segmentation of receivables based on credit loss
characteristics, the ageing profile, historical default
data, assumptions involved in management'’s
estimated loss rate and whether there has been
any significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition for other receivables;
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 24 and Assessing the estimated credit loss rates by
25 to the consolidated financial statements. considering historical cash collection and

movements of the ageing of receivables, the
market conditions and forward-looking factors;

° Testing on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing
analysis of receivables prepared by management;
and

° Examining on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of the receivables to cash receipts and
the related supporting documentation.

RN 2 FHAE OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

BERRERFHEHMEEAE - HthE B BEHR The directors of the Company are responsible for the
ANFRzER - BTBIEGRE T BHRE REMH other information. The other information comprises the

A G information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

BMBEBGEEMBmR cBERALNREEME Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does

B BT ez iEME R g8 REMEAZ not cover the other information and we do not express any

EEEW -

form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Law Kwok Kee.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE_T__f+-A=t—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2022

BE+-A=1t—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

—EB-F —EB-—F
2022 2021
Pt EE ARETT ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

= REVENUE 5 12,016,179 8,875,384
HEK A Cost of sales (8,405,245) (6,116,866)
EX Gross profit 3,610,934 2,758,518
REMEARBEZD Gain on changes in fair value of

o€ investment properties 15 43,260 30,000
JEMRR—EEEREREE  Share of profit of investment in a

255 joint venture 20 623 (1,895)
JEMEA —EIE S A RIMIRE  Share of profit of investment in an

25 associate 21 595 =
HAWA R s Other income and gains 6 579,899 523,432
MHHEESH Marketing expenses (151,232) (58,100)
THZH Administrative expenses (1,052,763) (818,959)
Efthsz i Other expenses (37,939) (20,798)
MEER Finance costs 7 (87,224) (75,642)
R B A1 2 T PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8 2,906,153 2,336,556
FR1S %5 % Income tax expenses 11 (692,905) (610,486)
FRER PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2,213,248 1,726,070
AT AL RS - Attributable to:

BRaHEE A Owners of the parent 2,206,126 1,724,925
e M A Non-controlling interests 7,122 1,145
2,213,248 1,726,070

BAREEERERA EARNINGS PER SHARE 13

EiEERER ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

FRERREE Basic and diluted for the year RMB96.7 cents RMB75.6 cents

AR¥96.75 AR¥T75.6%

FREZHEHKREEE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

AT AL Attributable to:
(SYNCIE Z=PN Owners of the parent 2,206,126 1,724,925
FEIE IR = Non-controlling interests 7,122 1,145

2,213,248 1,726,070
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ey IR R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-F-__F+-A=1+—8

31 December 2022

R+-—A=+—8
As at 31 December
—EB-F — B —F
2022 2021
Bt sE AREET T ARETIT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
FREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
M - BB MR Property, plant and equipment 14 569,133 527,014
REME Investment properties 15 3,366,000 2,264,000
| EE Intangible assets 16 1,470,018 115,957
FERAEEE Right-of-use assets 18(a) 102,524 99,416
RS Goodwill 19 1,804,719 =
R—EEELEZRE Investment in a joint venture 20 1,058 435
R—EBE AR Z’E Investment in an associate 21 595 =
R IBE E Deferred tax assets 22 124,604 76,585
EEME  BMEMKHESR  Deposits paid for purchase of property,
okren plant and equipment 25 1,451 3,758
TEHITF K Time deposits 17 2,558,608 2,474,608
EMBEELE Total non-current assets 9,998,710 5,561,773
HBEE CURRENT ASSETS
FE Inventories 23 147,973 138,004
B S GRIE KRN EE Trade and bill receivables 24 1,557,885 1,042,609
A F0E - HtEUW AR  Prepayments, other receivables
HihBE and other assets 25 1,410,493 922,578
SR EIEITIFER Restricted bank deposits 26 129,949 228,720
BekReEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 26 12,592,832 13,698,238
MEEERE Total current assets 15,839,132 16,030,149
)ﬁﬁﬁfg CURRENT LIABILITIES
2 SR8 Trade payables 27 1,339,345 839,115
At BT 5B R FERT B A Other payables and accruals 28 4,651,067 2,807,313
SREE Contract liabilities 5 1,831,887 1,417,223
HEBE Lease liabilities 18(b) 99,755 80,547
JERITEIE Tax payable 117,507 133,615
FHERITIERK Interest-bearing bank borrowings 29 - 801,249
mEBERTE Total current liabilities 8,039,561 6,079,062
REBEEFEE NET CURRENT ASSETS 7,799,571 9,951,087
EERERRBAS TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 17,798,281 15,512,860
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R+-—A=+—8
As at 31 December
—EB-F — B —F
2022 2021
Bt sE AREET T ARETIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
HEaE Lease liabilities 18(b) 2,301,962 1,277,923
BEAREEFEAHES Financial liabilities at fair value
FFAEHEEN AR through profit or loss 32 390,860 -
EmERE Other liabilities 14,335 12,166
RIERIA B A Deferred tax liabilities 22 765,392 333,746
FRBAFEES Total non-current liabilities 3,472,549 1,623,835
EERE NET ASSETS 14,325,732 13,889,025
fE= EQUITY
HARHEA ARG ED Equity attributable to owners of the parent
[N Share capital 30 152 152
1 Reserves 31 14,279,577 13,887,728
14,279,729 13,887,880
FEIE IR = Non-controlling interests 46,003 1,145
R Total equity 14,325,732 13,889,025
=R e ox J52
Li Xin Yu Linkang
5% o=

Director Director
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LR OTHESR B2 B %

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY o

ARRTTL  ARMTL  ARETR ARBTR  ARMTRL  ARMTL  ARBTR  ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RWBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0D  RWBOOD

(K3t30) (Waxst)  (Ws1)
(note 30) (note 31) (note 31)
“5--F-F-H 1 January 2021 152 11,640,394 (638,191) 192,151 1,208,526 12,463,032 - 12463032
EE Profit for the year - - - ST 1724925 1145 1,726,070
ER2ENGES Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 1,724.925 1,724,925 1,145 1,726,070
“E-TEREES Final dividend for 2020 - - - - (300,077) (300,077) - (300,077)
REZENR Appropriation of retained profits 5 = = 78746 (78,746) = = =
WZFZ—-F+ZF=1-F At31 December 2021 and
R=Z--%-5-H 1 January 2022 152 11,640,394 (638,191) 270,897 2614628 13,887,880 1,145 13,889,025
@W/ﬁﬂ Profit for the year - - - - 2,206,126 2,206,126 7122 2,213,248
EMZENREE Total comprenensive income
for the year - - - - 2,206,126 2,206,126 7122 2,213,248
iERERLE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - 19,320 19,320
WEMBAT(M3E32)  Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 32) - - - - - 18416 18416
ZEC-ERERE Final dividend for 2021 = = = - (661,719)  (661,719) - (661719)
S The interim dividend for 2022 - - - - (299,328) (299,328) - (299,328)
BARE Speciel dividend - - - - (853230)  (853,280) - (853.230)
RREENR Appropriation of retained profits = = = 107369 (107,369) = = =
AZZZZF+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2022 152 11,640,394* (638,191 378266* 2,899,108 14,279,729 46,003 14,325,732

3 These reserve accounts comprise the * ZERBERE ffa"ﬁ? Wﬁ#ﬁf’#ﬂ?ﬁ? #1EA R
consolidated reserves of RMB14,279,577,000 14,279,677,0007T (= F=—14F : AR#13,887,728,0007T) °
(2021: RMB13,887,728,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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GO BT AR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BE_ZT__F+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2022
HE+-A=1+—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

B B
2022 2021
Pt 5 ARKEFTT AREFT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
RETHRESRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
B B4 AT 4 Profit before tax 2,906,153 2,336,556
T Adjustments for:

MIBER Finance costs 7 87,224 75,642

PEH B8 (e ) F58 Exchange loss/(gains), net 6 7,981 (16,656)

FLEWA Interest income 6 (424,580) (376,301)

(Mo =),/ MRFER (Reversal of write-down)/write-down

AIEIREE of inventories to net realisable value 8 (533) 3,045

B 5 RGRIE & B R Impairment of trade and bill

IE receivables 8 6,895 6,146
TERTFRIE « Hfh pEURIE Impairment/(reversal of impairment)

REMEERE, of prepayments, other receivables

CRER D) and other assets 8 5,870 (221)
WEMERARBEZEH Gain on changes in fair value of

Wz investment properties 15 (43,260) (30,000)
BiEEEREZ Cafl),/ Share of (profit)/loss of a joint venture

518 20 (623) 1,895
FEAG B & A AT Share of profit of an associate 21 (595) s
BARBEFEBEES:T  Fair value gains from financial assets

AEHEZERMEEDN at fair value through profit or loss

AR BEERE 6 - (28,060)
M BEREETE Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 8 91,697 68,876

FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8 57,006 49,981

mREERH Amortisation of intangible assets 8 85,829 2,757

HEME  BEKLKRMHEEE  Gain on disposal of items of

ol property, plant and equipment 6 (452) (12,323)

2,778,612 2,081,337

FEOEMm,/ wmd (Increase)/decrease in inventories (8,108) 55,083

B 5 FEWGRIE & IR B IE NN Increase in trade and bill receivables (667,314) (226,515)
TEfFFIAE - HAMEWEIER  (Increase)/decrease in prepayments,

Hup&EE (%), md other receivables and other assets 279,304 (136,185)
E 5 P SR IBE N Increase in trade payables 151,032 138,737
Hfh e 5B M FERT & RSN Increase in other payables and accruals 93,608 465,416
ERERE R,/ & (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (87,334) 410,276
Hiba &M CRd) Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 2,169 (386)
KESHS Cash generated from operations 2,541,969 2,787,763
EHIA Taxes paid (650,936) (497,979)

KLEEEMBIRESMEFSE  Net cash flows from operating activities 1,891,033 2,289,784




152 | #=mEs4558RAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

OHESRER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=-+—HILtFE
Year ended 31 December 2022

HE+T-A=T—HLHFE

Year ended 31 December

—EB-F —EB-—F
2022 2021
Bt EE ARETT ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEEFTSHESHREFEHE Net cash flows from operating activities 1,891,033 2,289,784
KREEHHEERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
R EUPSS Interest received 308,945 301,693
EEME MEKKMHEEB  Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment (114,207) (254,432)
BERLEEER Purchases of items of intangible assets (6,838) (116,476)
HEWE MENMKZMBEEE Proceeds from disposal of items of
PS8 property, plant and equipment 11,464 12,695
BER QA BESNEBE®S Purchases of financial assets at fair value
STABHERNEREE through profit or loss - (2,380,000)
HERA R EER =B EES) Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
FFAEBEZMSMEER  at fair value through profit or loss
FRiSZIR - 6,255,870
BETEHER Purchases of time deposits - (2,400,000)
W HE BT 2 7] Acquisition of subsidiaries 32 (1,263,502) s
BEES) (FTA),/ B33  Net cash flows (used in)/from investing
mEFR activities (1,064,138) 1,419,350
METBHRESRE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
IR EITRE Share issue expenses - (208,644)
FrERITEE New bank borrowings 307,540 837,579
BERITEE Repayments of bank borrowings (1,154,003) (516,499)
IR ER T E Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests 19,320
BEfEE Dividends paid (962,775) (800,077)
MERROARE IS Principal portion of lease payments 18(b) (140,982) (125,064)
BERFLE Interest paid (4,773) (9,110)
REEETAIRESREFME  Net cash flows used in financing activities (1,935,673) (321,815)
RERBREZEEY B4),” NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH
EHNFEEE AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,108,778) 3,387,319
FENReRBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 13,698,238 10,312,459
SN RE R By o B SRR Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,
net 3,372 (1,540)
FREESRRESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 26 12,592,832 13,698,238
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RKRABRR_ZE—+tFRA+N\BER
EHBHMKINERRF - KRFIH
L B R a APO Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands °
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KRR R - ZE-_ZEF+_ANLBRE
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ARBEFRE  ARANEREZERAA
REFENBERAR (EHEM])  Z
NARNASHESEMRILNARERA
IR 170N o i I NI E 0 S 38
ERARATEEFERAR ([HEE
Bl RARRRTBEKIZNAF -

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 May
2017. The registered office address of the Company
is PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was mainly engaged in
the provision of residential property management
services and commercial operational and property
management services in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The Company's shares became listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 9 December 2020 (the
“Listing”).

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the
immediate holding company of the Company is
China Resources Land Limited (“CR Land”), a public
limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. The
ultimate holding company of the Company is China
Resources Company Limited (“CRCL”), a company
established in the PRC.
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R 7 1 15 R B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management Co. Ltd.(i)

1. Ar RAEMER(4]) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)
AARWBARKFFBOT : Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as
follows:
£ EMAL /B AR RARBEEEADL TEER
Place of incorporation/ Registered Percentage of equity
Name registration capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
ER &
Direct Indirect
EERRERAR B ##100,0007T 100 - RERR
Super Honour Development Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 - Investment holding
Golden Key Resources Limited RERLES /B 10,000% 7 100 - REER
(T Golden Key])
Golden Key Resources Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$10,000 100 - Investment holding
(“Golden Key") Hong Kong
BECEERAR B ##100,0007T - 100 REZHK
Cheer Ocean Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Investment holding
BH (B8 ERAR BE %1007 - 100 REBR
Runxin (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Investment holding
MERRERAR ABRAHE/BE 10,000% 7 100 - RESR
Profit Luck Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$10,000 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong
BRERARAT RBRAUHEE/BE 10,000% 7T 100 - RABR
Rosy Leap Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$10,000 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong
BHERERAR ABRuEE/BA 10,000% 7T 100 - RERK
Charming City Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$10,000 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong
RatRARAT Bk #100,0007T - 100 REBK
Green Vantage Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Investment holding
HHERERAR i 7%1100,0007T - 100 REZHR
State Pride International Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Investment holding
HEHEER (M) BRAA HE/PERD AR #450,000,0007C - 100 BEEZRVEEERY
Runyue Commercial management PRC/Mainland China RMB450,000,000 - 100 Commercial operational
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. and property
management services
ENBERASERARAA() hE /hERD AR10,000,0007T - 100 BEEERVFERRY
Luzhou Runxin Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Commercial operational

and property
management services
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ARBRRE (R BRAR

- EEDI0)

Runxin Commercial Investment

(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.
(“Mixc Commercial”) (ii)

BRMERERBEER A

Runying Property Technology Services

Co. Ltd. (i)

BRAAER (LR ARAA()
CR Property Agents Consultancy

Co. Ltd. (i)

BENERE C25) BRAR()
Runjia (Shenyang) Property Management

Co. Ltd. (i)

BMMERS (L8) BRARF()
Runjia (Shanghai) Property Management

Co. Ltd. (i)

ARNERS (%) BRAE)

Runying (Chengdu) Property

Management Co. Ltd. (i)
BENRER (LR BRAR()
Runijia (Beijing) Property Management

Co. Ltd. (i)

xR (RI0) BRAR)

Runjia (Shenzhen) Property Management

Co. Ltd. (i)

BIMERS (82) BRAR()

Runjia (Wuhan) Property Services

Co. Ltd. (i)

AmEREE (R BRAR)

Run Xin Commercial Management

(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. (ii)

il

HBRL,/ B
Place of incorporation/
registration

R/ REN
PRC/Mainland China
PE/ RER,
PRC/Mainland China

RE/RERN
PRC/Mainland China

PE/ RER,
PRC/Mainland China

RE/REN
PRC/Mainland China

R/ REN
PRC/Mainland China

RE/RERN
PRC/Mainland China

PE/ RER
PRC/Mainland China

RE/RERS
PRC/Mainland China

PE/ RERH,
PRC/Mainland China
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CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

ERA
Registered
capital

AR#1,000,000,0007

RMB1,000,000,000

AR 3,000,000,0007

RMB3,000,000,000

AK#30,000,0007T
RMB30,000,000

AE%20,000,0007T
RMB20,000,000

AR#20,000,0007T
RMB20,000,000

AE%20,000,0007
RMB20,000,000

AE%20,000,0007
RMB20,000,000

AE#20,000,0007
RMB20,000,000

AE%20,000,0007
RMB20,000,000

AE%10,000,0007C
RMB10,000,000

FRAREREEDL

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

E# S

Direct Indirect

= 100

= 100

= 100

= 100
= 100

IERR

Principal activities

BREZEERE

Commercial operational
management services

NEERRY

Property management
services

R RS

Thermal energy supply
services

NEERR

Property management
services

NEERRY

Property management
services

NEERR

Property management
services

NEERRS

Property management
services

NEERRT

Property management
services

NEERRY

Property management
services

BEEERNEFERRY

Commercial operational
and property
management services
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R 7 1 15 R B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ltd. (1))

1. A RAEEER4) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)
8 HBRL,/ B ERA RARBEEEAD L TEEH
Place of incorporation/ Registered Percentage of equity
Name registration capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
E# GhS
Direct Indirect
ML RN EERERAA) hEl/ RER AB&#10,000,0007T - 100 WEERRH
Hubei Run Lian Property Management ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Property management
Co. Ltd. (i) services
AR TRME (R) BRAR() HE/ HE R, ARH10,000,0007 - 100 RERBREERE
Runjia Property Management PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction services and
Engineering Technology Co. Ltd. (i) decoration services
BEMERS (X&) BRAA() B8/ ER AEH3,000,0007 - 100 MEERKH
Runjia Property Management (Dalian) PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 100  Property management
Co. Ltd. (i) services
EREERS (2R BRAR) wE/ RE R, AR H5,000,0007T - 100 DXERRH
CR Mixc Lifestyle Services (Ningbo) PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100  Property management
Co., Ltd. (i) services
AEER (RN BRAR() e/ HER AR 5,000,007 - 100 DEEBRRH
Runjia Property Management (Wenzhou) PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 - 100 Property management
Co. Ltd. (i) services
ABRKBELERERAR() HE/ ek AR H5,000,0007T - 65 WEERRH
Shenzhen Runze Water Operation PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 65  Property management
Management Co., Ltd. (i) services
BHNERBEERAA() hE/ HERY, ARH50,000,0007C . 100 WEERRE
Yuzhou Property Management PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100  Property management
Co. Ltd. (i) services
AT EEATEE REERAR) HE/ RE R, ARH40,000,0007C - 51 DEERRH
Shenzhen Runya City Operational PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 - 51 Property management
Service Co. Ltd. (i) services
&P EMERBAR D)) hE /h R AR®10,1010107 - 100 HEERRH
Jiangsu Zhongnan Property Services Co.  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,101,010 - 100 Property management
Ltd. (i)(iii) services
HRRENFARLA() HE / ek 10,000,000%7 - 100 HNEERKH
Nantong Changle Property Services Co.  PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Property management
Ltd. (i) services
RIEBIMERBAR L)) hE /hER AK#10,000,0007T - 100 HEEREH
Yuyao Zhongjin Property Services Co.  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100  Property management

services
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BT EREER (L8) BRARi)
Runxinxiang Commercial Management

(Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (i)(iii)
HRSBREEFHBAR RN
Shanghai Duojing Maxtri E-commerce

Co. Ltd. (i)(iii)

R R R AR 2R (1))
Hainan Zhongnan Property Services

Co. Ltd. (i)(ii)
BILAEH S RBAEBRRA)
Kunshan Runchuang City Services

Co. Ltd. (i)

A ERE (Fi) BRAR)
Runjia Property Services (Foshan)

Co. Ltd. (i)
REERMEEEREHER QA i)
Fujian Wanlong Property Management

Services Co. Ltd. (i)(iii)
EmnEERER (R ARRA()
Runjia Property Agents Consultancy

(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. (i)

BN (FHL) BRI AR DA ()(ii)
Yuzhou Xingcheng (Zhoushan) Property

Services Co. Ltd.(i)(iii)
RABBENAEERRRAR()
Chengdu Railway Runxin Commercial

Management Co. Ltd. (i)
WEBERANERBERLAE()
Shanxi Runjia Zhongcheng Property

Services Co. Ltd. (i)

AL/ B

Place of incorporation/

registration

RE/REN
PRC/Mainland China

BE/ RERL,
PRC/Mainland China

PE/ RER,
PRC/Mainland China

BE/ RERL
PRC/Mainland China

R/ REN
PRC/Mainland China

PE/ REAL
PRC/Mainland China

R/ RER
PRC/Mainland China

RE/REN
PRC/Mainland China

8/ RER
PRC/Mainland China

RE/RER
PRC/Mainland China
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

ERA
Registered
capital

AE%10,000,0007C
RMB10,000,000

AK#%10,000,0007T
RMB10,000,000

AK%10,000,0007C
RMB10,000,000

AK#%10,000,0007T
RMB10,000,000

AE#5,000,0007
RMB5,000,000

AE#5,000,0007
RMB5,000,000

AR#1,500,0007
RMB1,500,000

AK#5,060,0007C
RMB5,060,000

AE%10,000,0007C
RMB10,000,000

AR#10,000,0007C
RMB10,000,000

RARBEEEAD L
Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

B

Direct

S

Indirect

100
100

100
100

100
100

70
70

100
100

IERR

Principal activities

NEEERY
Property management
services
NEEBRE
Property management
services
NEERRY
Property management
services
NEEBRE
Property management
services
NEEERY
Property management
services
NEEBRE
Property management
services
NEERRY
Property management
services
NEEBRE
Property management
services
NEERRY
Property management
services
BRELRNZERRG
Commercial operation
and property
management services
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Co. Ltd. (i)

1. A RAEEER4) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)
8 HBRL,/ B ERA RARBEEEAD L TEEH
Place of incorporation/ Registered Percentage of equity
Name registration capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
E# GhS
Direct Indirect
REERRBATERRBERAA) B/ REAN AR 5,000,000 - 55 NEERRH
Chengdu Runjing Smart City Operation ~ PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 - 55 Property management
Technology Co. Ltd. (i) services
WREEREATELREERAA)  RE/hEM AR 5,000,007 - 51 WEERRH
Shandong Runjia Mix City Operation PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 51 Property management
Services Co. Ltd. (i) services
BT ERIREE R % RS hE/PER AR 5,000,000 - 100 HDEERRE
BREEAT()ii)
Tangshan Zhongnan International PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100 Property management
Travel Tourism Property Services services
Co. Ltd. (i)(ii)
EBNENEERARAA()) B8/ ER AR¥5,000,0007C - 100 WEERRH
Qingdao Zhongnan Property PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 - 100  Property management
Management Co. Ltd. (i)(iii) services
RT3 IR TR A i) i) HE/ RER, AR 5,000,007 - 51 NEERRE
Sichuan Jiuzhou Qiancheng Property PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 S 51 Property management
Service Co. Ltd. (i) (iii) services
BYTREEEREIRARAR()) B/ REAM AR#3,000,0007T - 100 HEERKH
Weifang Zhongjin Building Engineering  PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 100 Property management
Co. Ltd. (i)(iii) services
LERFEERNRERARR A HE/ RERM, ARH2,000,0007T - 100 HEEBRKE
Shanghai Yujia Life Property PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 = 100 Property management
Development Co. Ltd. (i)(iii) services
LERBERERARARVi) HE/ RER AE2,000,00070 - 100 MEERRE
Shanghai Silian Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 100  Property management
Management Co. Ltd. (i)(iii) services
RLZ ENEERER R wE/ HER ARH500,0007T - 0 NEEERE
Zhoushan Zhixin Property Management  PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 = 70 Property management

services
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v AR EE R 4 ) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

£ HBRL,/ B ERA RARBEEEAD L TEEH
Place of incorporation/ Registered Percentage of equity
Name registration capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
Ef GhS
Direct Indirect
BRSPETENEEEARARAG)  PE/PENM AR 500,007 - 100 DEERRE
Nantong Haimen Zhongnan Property PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - 100  Property management
Management Co. Ltd. (i)(iii) services
BRMELRMEERARAA)i) HE/ ek ARH500,0007C - 100 HDEEBRH
Nanchong Century City Property PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - 100  Property management
Management Co. Ltd. (i)(iii) services
RPEEMOBEBE QRN R EEE The English names of all group companies
AAREBRUHZSERAANP N EERNE registered in the PRC represent the best efforts
THEE  REEZEARWEENMR made by the directors of the Company to translate
NETE o the Chinese names of these companies as they do

not have official English names.

Bigt - Notes:

(i) ZEEBERARBYEAERFMALZ (i) These entities were registered as domestic
BRI - enterprises under the laws of the PRC.

(ii) ZEBBRBBERBEETMA L2 (i) These entities were registered as wholly-foreign-
HNEE AR - owned enterprises under the laws of PRC.

(i) AEERFNREZSER - BHEZ (iiiy  The Group acquired these entities during the year.
ZEWENESHBEHNMBRRM T Further details of these acquisitions are included in

32 - notes 32 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

B I

HEMBERREREBEEESHOAE
([BEEMAE]) RGBT EUBER
SRR (TEBHBREER ) (BEMA
BEWBREER BEGTEAN(E
AT ER]) kRE) FERAREGR
AIREERAGPINBEREZ RER -
WERBRRBIFELNAERE - R
BWMEARR DA BEFELEZEH
AERBRENEREERE AR BER
B WEMBBRAARE(TARKE]D)
275 BRREERIN FESHECEERE
R TAL -

REMBRRBEARBRENE R F
(BB AEEDRBE_FT_—_F1+=
A=t—RLEEFENPBRE - HEAF
ERARFERKEREHNER (21
RBRBUEER)  EAKEH2EREHR
X F BRI RAERBRLFEEN AR
REBHKREHRNES (R TAKE
ERRENUEEREHREAAIDORE
N FEREmmE - BIEUSIEHIHE -

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights in control. When the Company has,
directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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2.1

2.2
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual

HKFRS 3 Framework
Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment:
HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
HKAS 37 a Contract
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples

accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41
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IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described

below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with
a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework”) issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements.
The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or
a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather
than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of
the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition
date. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As
there were no contingent assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities within the scope
of the amendments arising in the business
combination that occurred during the year,
the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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22 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity
from deducting from the cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items as determined by HKAS 2
Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively to
items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after 1 January 2021.
Since there was no sale of items produced
prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.
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IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(c)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the
purpose of assessing whether a contract
is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of
fulfilling the contract comprises the costs
that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include
both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and materials)
and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs).
General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded
unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The Group
has applied the amendments prospectively
to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no
onerous contracts were identified. Therefore,
the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(d)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
sets out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
Illustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendment
that is applicable to the Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments:
clarifies the fees that an entity includes
when assessing whether the terms of
a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received
by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. The Group has
applied the amendment prospectively
from 1 January 2022. As there was
no modification or exchange of the
Group’s financial liabilities during the
year, the amendment did not have
any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to
HKFRS 17
Amendment to
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts™®

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 - Comparative
Information®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)?*

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’



168 | #£@8E%4E5RAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

GO0 W 5 R B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 LR R AR A v T S

e HER ()

d R-TE-_=F—F—HHZRAKN
FEHRER

2 R-T-—MFE—-F—HE2RAKD
FEHRER

s W AREETE SR I AR A H - (B A] IR

e HR-ZZT__FEF]  —T_ZTFE
AIMERAYHEE S _MF— A
— Bk Z%BENFEEHE o s -
HR-ZZE_ZEFEIR_FT__F
7] BAERBESRYFIREAZHE —
BEAANE O EZEKEERNTH
EBEHZHBCAETUAFEHEERNX T
BT MR iR

° HRMERTR BT+ ARMHNEE
s mERNE 179 - BAEMNBERE
R AR ETERAERAFFET
ARZE-=F—F—HAZAFABNE
EHRERT LG ERFE395RMIE
BERUBMELNFIRNERRL

2 BERAZETAEEEI RERE
EEENERECEAEATENK
ERAFENTREAZER

ERERERRASENT BN BREE
Al E— T EHEN T -

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

& As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments,

the effective date of the 2020 Amendments was
deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the
2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause was revised to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion

< As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS
17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended
to extend the temporary exemption that permits
insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

2 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option
relating to the classification overlay set out in this
amendment shall apply it on initial application of
HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements
in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain
or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes
a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor's
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new
mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting
for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e.,
1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
in particular the determination over whether an
entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered
a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA
issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a
loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect
the classification of that liability as current or non-
current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies
liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when it has a right to defer settlement
of those liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. An entity that
applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and
vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on
a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to
HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application
is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-
mandatory, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting
the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or
after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of
the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to
recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations
at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate
at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be
applied prospectively to transactions other than
leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group in arriving at these financial statements set
out in this report are set out below:

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture,
the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates
or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of associates or joint ventures is included as part
of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss
of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss
of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other
items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss
on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group measures its investment properties and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole:

Level 1 —based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in
the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets,
financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.



2.4

[oe] SE FBOARE 22 ( 4 )

MNEERERARTHEEBINRKALR
HWREBBEB KA EE TFE ] BebE
€ - tnRFHELMPTR - S KRE &5
TR - R —IBREEBUAINEER
P RAEEAREREERAWE B
STREFEHR - DRIERORBERLT 2
ol - BERERZEEENRERINE
B g N EERE SR  TEENREE
BEFELERARBEEIAFNREOSRE
CREEMAFTE #H) - EBREERL
rY B[O 5 E 2 A HARRI AT AR S B am L H A
ZEKEE °

— T A AT &M
BRAE

AR AEAEEH
(a) RABFEUTBERNALHZA
THRELHE
(i)  dEHISK R HIAE
(il HEAXEBMEEEAFE
7

(i) AEAEEHAEEGAT
MEREEAR

—Z==%%4% | Annual Report 2022 | | 8 ]

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the period in which
it arises.

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent

of the Group;

or
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iil)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related
to the Group; and the sponsoring
employers of the post-employment
benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

3.17% to 5.00%

5.00% to 33.33%

10.00% to 23.75%

6.33% to 33.33%

Over the shorter of the lease
term and 20.00% to 50.00%

Buildings

Machinery equipment

Motor vehicles

Other equipment

Leasehold
improvements



184 | #m@%£5E6RAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

R 7 1 15 R B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 PBHEEErETBORKEE(4) 24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

WE -~ BE KREEE SRR E A
FHARE - AIZBERATDREEEESD
=& MEMLOBEFIFHEFE -
RRrBEE AERFHRFETEINS
MBRFEERBH A FLEEHE -

ME BERREER (BREMNZER
MEBEAMY) REERHEEANEER
At B 7 2R AT A] R PR AR 7 ) 2 By AR L R
RoMEERIBAFENGEBaRE
il 2 T 26 2 P AR O Th B SRR AR M am K
BiE - RHEMFREFEEMEBEEN
FREEZHER -

ERTREERZRLEKTOME LW -
BRAREMBRERBEIR  NTHE -
RABRBERERRAN - EETIENERT
BRAERARERDBREZEENDE - K
B R imEn -

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and
machinery under construction or installation, which
are stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including the leasehold property held as
a right-of-use asset which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of an investment property are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year of the retirement
or disposal.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

All research costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Software is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 2 to 10 years.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Customer relationships acquired in business
combinations are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date and are amortised on the straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of
15 years. The Group estimates the useful life of
the customer relationships and determines the
amortisation periods with reference to its industry
experience and taking into account the customer
turnover history and expectation of the renewal
pattern of property management contracts.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset,
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.



188 | #m@%£EERAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

GO0 W 5 R B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 BHSEEEHBORME(41)

EREEENEEMG A S (ANE
MEEAHERNAEE) BER -
EREEERRANREMRAITE
REMFREEBERFTE  UHER
BERERERFTEELRE - EH
REENKABECHEREERE
T CEEVBREERRAEA UK
R FA%A B HIs 2 AT {EH MR E 3R
MERDIKEREEEE - £AEER
EREHEPMNE A ERFERTH
BREENBESORRHRITEME -

BEmT :
BgF 2E 264
RE 2FE 3%

MR EREREREEENEAE
EREAKERNARREERE
ROITE - FEANABHEEENG
AR EHEE

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:
Buildings 2 to 26 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
(that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of
office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies
at lease inception (or when there is a lease
modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a
sublease is classified as a finance lease or
operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
recognition exemption in the statement of financial
position, the Group classifies the sublease as an
operating lease.

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of trade and bill receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade and bill receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised
in the profit or loss.

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade and bill
receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For trade and bill receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings and payables,
as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade
payables, other payables and accruals, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

CRABENRETEIUARESBENT ¢ The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

BRAnBEFEEEZDTALZHERD Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
TRIEES %Wﬁhﬁﬁﬂﬁ—r? ERAREE include financial liabilities designated upon initial
STEREAEHGAEHERNERARE - recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

VERERIEE AU AR EEFEEEET) Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
TARHERNEREE  SEVBER as at fair value through profit or loss are designated
ERET  AEERSEBUBHREEL at the initial date of recognition, and only if the
BORMIFERIETE - UAREBEFER criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses
HEH AZHERNAENERBRLR on liabilities designated at fair value through profit
BWEHKRER  EBEXEEE HFERER or loss are recognised in the consolidated income
EEMNGERBERRIN - ZBEXEEME statement, except for the gains or losses arising from
HWz=RSR - BBETEESBREEE the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in
W5k - re EREROF AL EERE other comprehensive income with no subsequent
n N EEHEEERE GEHREAEMAA reclassification to the consolidated income statement.
Bo The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the

consolidated income statement does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

TIETERIE - B S IEN RIE R H A FE R 5K After initial recognition, trade payables and other
B R ERT B AR R BRI R AR payables and accruals are subsequently measured at
AT E - BRIEBRMEETTEKN - & amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
IIER TIEKAGZE - W MEBEERERE unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
RIEERRNSRERNREHEETFTNEE in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
BaRkHEMEEBERER - losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

BN A G RSB REIORE AR Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
BREBENE—Br 2BRAIARE any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
B -BERMNEEHEAABRPVBER or costs that are an integral part of the effective
A ° interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation

is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Parking spaces are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Other inventories, comprising ornamental plants and
other materials, are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-
in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group provides residential property management
services and commercial operational and property
management services. Revenue from contracts
with customers is recognised when services are
rendered to the customer at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange of those services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Residential property management services
comprise: (i) property management services; (ii)
value-added services to property developers; and
(iii) community value-added services.

Property management services mainly include
security, cleaning and greening, repair and
maintenance services and customer services to
residential properties and other properties. For
property management services, the Group bills a
fixed amount for services provided on a monthly
basis and recognises it as revenue in the amount
to which the Group has a right to invoice and that
corresponds directly with the value of performance
completed. Property management service income
from residential properties is managed on lump sum
basis, where the Group acts as a principal. The
Group entitles to revenue at the value of property
management service fee received or receivable.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Value-added services to property developers mainly
include pre-delivery marketing services, preliminary
planning and preparation services, preliminary
consultancy services and other services including
housing trust and vacant unit management. The
Group agrees the price for each service with the
customers upfront and issues the monthly bill to the
customers which varies based on the actual level
of service completed in that month. Revenue from
value-added services is recognised over time, in the
amount to which the Group has a right to invoice,
because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

For community value-added services including
community living services and brokerage and asset
services, revenue is recognised when the related
services are rendered. Payment of the transaction
is due immediately when the community value-
added services are rendered to the customer. Sales
of goods are included in asset services. Revenue
from sales of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the goods is transferred to the
customer, generally on the acceptance of the goods
by the customer. Revenue from brokerage services
is recognised at the point in time when the services
are rendered and accepted by the customers.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Commercial operational and property management
services are provided to property developers, and owners
or tenants of i) shopping malls and ii) office buildings.

For shopping malls, the Group provides:

° Property management and other services,
mainly including security, cleaning and
greening, repair and maintenance and
customer services for shopping malls. Property
management fees are charged on a lump sum
basis or commission basis. The Group bills
a fixed amount for services provided on a
monthly basis and recognises it as revenue in
the amount to which the Group has a right to
invoice and that corresponds directly with the
value of performance completed.

Starting from the 1 July 2020, the Group
has changed revenue model for property
management services to shopping malls to
commission basis. For property management
service income from properties managed
under commission basis, the Group considers
its obligation is only limited to arranging and
monitoring the services provided by other
parties to the property owners as an agent and
accordingly recognises the commission, which
is calculated based on fixed fee on a per sg.m.
basis, as its revenue. On a commission basis,
the Group is not entitled to any excess of the
property management fees paid by customers
(after deducting the fees receivable by the
Group as the property manager) over the costs
and expenses associated with the provision
of services to the shopping malls. Therefore,
the Group does not recognise any direct cost
under property management service contracts
charged on a commission basis in general.
Such costs are borne by the property owners.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

° Commercial operational services, including
pre-opening management and post-opening
operation management services. The Group
charges pre-opening management service
fees at a fixed rate per square meter or per
monthly rent, or an annual fixed fee depending
on the nature of services rendered. The Group
collects fees from providing post-opening
operation management services typically as
a percentage of the rental income, operating
income and/or operating profit of the relevant
shopping malls. Revenue from commercial
operational services is recognised in the
amount to which the Group has a right to
invoice that corresponds directly with the value
of performance completed.

For office buildings, the Group provides property
management and other services, mainly including
security, cleaning and repair and maintenance
services. Property management fees are charged
on a lump sum basis. The Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly basis
and recognises it as revenue in the amount to which
the Group has a right to invoice that corresponds
directly with the value of performance completed.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from the sales of planting stocks,
merchandise and properties is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer.

The Group provides commercial subleasing services
with respect to units located within certain shopping
malls. The Group receive rental income from tenants
primarily on a monthly basis. Rental income is
recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument of the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries
which operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain proportion of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

These financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial
information of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

translation

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of each of
the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, the cash flows of certain overseas
subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of certain overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

The Group has entered into commercial property
leases on its investment property portfolio. The
Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such
as the lease term not constituting a major part of
the economic life of the commercial property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all the fair value of
the commercial property, that it retains substantially
all the significant risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group
applies judgement in evaluating whether or not to
exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant factors that create
an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement
date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is
a significant event or change in circumstances that
is within its control and affects its ability to exercise
or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate
the lease (e.g., construction of significant leasehold
improvements or significant customisation to the
leased asset).

The Group includes the renewal period as part of
the lease term for leases of machinery due to the
significance of these assets to its operations. These
leases have a short non-cancellable period (i.e.
three to five years) and there will be a significant
negative effect on production if a replacement is not
readily available.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent requires consideration
of all relevant facts and circumstances, and the
contractual terms of property management service
contracts.

The Group manages properties either under lump
sum basis or commission basis. Under lump sum
basis, the Group acts as a principal and is primarily
responsible for providing property management
services to the property owners, and recognises the
property management fee received or receivable
from property owners as its revenue and all related
property management costs as its cost of services.
For property management service income from
properties managed under commission basis, the
Group considers its obligation is only limited to
arranging and monitoring the services provided by
other parties to the property owners as an agent
and accordingly recognises the commission, which
is calculated based on fixed fee on a per sgq.m.
basis, as its revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below.

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade and bill receivables and other receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, service
type, customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not
be representative of a customer’'s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on
the Group’s trade and bill receivables and other
receivables is disclosed in note 24 and note 25 to
the financial statements, respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated selling expenses. Net realisable value of
parking spaces is estimated by the directors based
on the prevailing market prices. These estimates
are based on the current market conditions and
the historical experience of selling merchandise of
a similar nature. It could change significantly as a
result of changes in customer taste or competitor
actions. The Group reassesses these estimates at
the end of the reporting period.

Investment properties, including the leasehold
property held as a right-of-use asset, are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position
at their fair value, details of which are disclosed
in note 15. The fair value of the investment
properties was determined by reference to
valuations conducted on these properties by an
independent and professionally qualified valuer
using property valuation techniques which involve
certain assumptions of prevailing market conditions.
Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions may result in changes in the fair value
of the Group’s investment properties included in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
the corresponding adjustments to the changes in
fair value reported in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Details of the fair value of investment properties are
disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31
December 2022 was RMB1,272,000 (2021: Nil). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2022 was RMB38,000 (2021: RMB2,747,000).
Further details are contained in note 22 to the
financial statements.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for withholding
tax levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprise established in
Mainland China. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax liabilities that can be recognised, based upon
the likely dividends declared. Further details are
contained in note 22 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

The Group assesses whether there are any
indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets
at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-
use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired
at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2022 was RMB1,804,719,000 (2021:
Nil). Further details are given in note 19.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will increase the depreciation charge
where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Periodic review could result
in a change in depreciable lives and, therefore,
depreciation charge in the future periods.

The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of
the lease. (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers
(“CODM”) of the Group, was specifically focused on
the segments of the residential property management
services and commercial operational and property
management services. These divisions are the basis
on which the Group reports its segment information
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments.

The Group provides residential property
management services of residential properties and
other properties. Such services include (i) property
management services; (ii) value-added services
to property developers; and (iii) community value-
added services.

Commercial operational and property management
services are provided to property developers,
owners or tenants of shopping malls and office
buildings. For shopping malls, the Group provides
property management and other services,
commercial operational services and commercial
subleasing services. For office buildings, the Group
provides property management and other services.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss
incurred before taxation by each segment without
allocation of income or expenses which are not
recurring in nature or unrelated to the CODM’s
assessment of the Group’s operating performance,
e.g., other income and gains, share of loss of
a joint venture, gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties, administration expenses,
other expenses, and finance costs. Segment
revenues and results are the measures reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Commercial operational and property
management services (continued)

Segment assets exclude unallocated head office
and corporate assets as these assets are managed
on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated head office
and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are

managed on a group basis.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by operating and reportable segments:

Year ended 31 December 2022

ARBT T ARBTTT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue
REEFP&ERBKA Revenue from contracts with
customers
TR —RFRER Recognised at a point in time 674,609 - 674,609

E—BRERARER

Recognised over time

7,104,614 3,927,177 11,031,791

KB HALRIREUA Revenue from other sources

AL UA Rental income

22,831 286,948 309,779

REINBEFHUA Revenue from external customers 7,802,054 4,214,125 12,016,179
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
(E2=21Y/ES BEEER
EERE ESERK st
Commercial
Residential operational
property  and property
management management
services services Total
AREFT ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B Result
D EBEELR Segment results 1,472,787 2,138,147 3,610,934
SEMEAAEBEEZS  Gain on changes in fair value of
ol investment properties 43,260
JEMRR—MA&EZER  Share of profit of investment in a
& 2w T joint venture 623
fE/E A — B & A RH  Share of profit of investment in
WE 2w an associate 595
H A RS Other income and gains 579,899
RAOMHEZ Unallocated expenses (1,241,934)
MsE R Finance costs (87,224)
R B B 4 ) Profit before tax 2,906,153
WEE Segment assets 7,409,657 5,121,185 12,530,842
E3):3 Reconciliation
NEIREMADEEE Corporate and other unallocated
assets 13,307,000
BEE Total assets 25,837,842
PHERE Segment liabilities 5,971,559 3,881,886 9,853,445
Ez)3 Reconciliation
NEINREMADE B Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities 1,658,665
waefE Total liabilities 11,512,110
BEARER* Capital expenditure* 101,557 19,488 121,045
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(continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Commercial operational and property

management services (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

AREET T ARETIT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
KA Revenue
RERFARBHKA Revenue from contracts with
customers
ER—FEER Recognised at a point in time 468,340 = 468,340
E—BREHEAER Recognised over time 4,810,798 3,276,269 8,087,067
R B HALSRIREIUA Revenue from other sources
el A Rental income 30,917 289,060 319,977
RE IR A Revenue from external customers 5,310,055 3,565,329 8,875,384
E4 Result
D EBHELE Segment results 1,025,377 1,733,141 2,758,518
EWMERNAEEES Gain on changes in fair value of
Eolirg investment properties 30,000
JEMERA—R& &M%  Share of loss of a joint venture
[E518 (1,895)
EH bl A K s Other income and gains 523,432
RAOMHAZ Unallocated expenses (897,857)
H%EER Finance costs (75,642)
R B B 4 ) Profit before tax 2,336,556
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4. REERERH &) 4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
FEEWHE BHEEER
BEERYE MEEERS HRET
Commercial
Residential operational
property  and property
management management
services services Total
AREET T AREET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
PEWEE Segment assets 3,418,899 3,733,263 7,152,162
#HEE Reconciliation
N REMADEEE Corporate and other
unallocated assets 14,439,760
WA E Total assets 21,591,922
PEEE Segment liabilities 4,394,096 2,658,994 7,053,090
#ER Reconciliation
NEIREMADEEE Corporate and other
unallocated liabilities 649,807
FEy=L Total liabilities 7,702,897
BB Capital expenditure* 66,834 304,074 370,908
* ERARAIZBREABEYE  BEMEE E The capital expenditure consists of additions to

IARELEE °

AR B SN M A 2 R
ERLET - BAREERDAERS
R B P2 b - 30 4 2 51 A
X o

BE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HILEFE"
RERKZERATREARIERQFAK
AEAEBRANZ1I% (Z T —4F :
39%) - BARBREIER QR KRR B
REWRAIN BEZTEZZF+=A=
T—HLEFE  SERAHE-RPIX
HEEHIH—EEFHENR AR AREE
”Qkﬁﬁ10%j€LAt (ZE=Z—F : 10%) °

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

No geographical information is presented as the
Group’s revenue from the external customers is
derived solely from its operation in Mainland China
and no non-current assets of the Group are located
outside Mainland China.

For the years ended 31 December 2022, revenue
from the ultimate holding company and the fellow
subsidiaries contributed 31% (2021: 39%) of the
Group’s revenue. Other than the revenue from the
ultimate holding company and the fellow subsidiaries,
no revenue derived from sales to a single customer
or a group of customers under common control
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 10%).
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WA 5. REVENUE
WAXZBEREEEYEEERBHER Revenue mainly comprises proceeds from
XEBELERYEERREWE - residential property management services and
commercial operational and property management
services.
WADITWT - An analysis of revenue is as follows:
BHE+ZA=T—BLFE
Year ended 31 December
—EBE-F —E=—F
2022 2021
ARKEFTT AR¥EFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEFERKA Revenue from contracts with customers 11,706,400 8,555,407
R B H A RITRAIBA - Revenue from other sources:
REREMFELSEHERN Gross rental income from investment
GO property operating leases:
— PEURAIE Sk FI = - Variable lease payments that do not
RREEEMNR depend on an index or rate 69,435 78,111
—HiHEENK  BiF — Other lease payments, including fixed
&l E 3K payments 240,344 241,866
309,779 319,977

12,016,179 8,875,384
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5. IWA(H) 5. REVENUE (continued)
BHE+-_A=1+—RLtFE
Year ended 31 December
B2 F B —F
2022 2021
AREFIT ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EmkRigER Types of goods and services
FEPEEERY Residential property management services
b EERLT Property management services 5,572,668 3,772,249
6 12 (B B 7 Community value-added services 841,089 384,633
S MIEERTY  Value-added services to property developers 973,404 813,029
L ER S Sales of properties 275,557 217,339
EAth Others 116,505 91,888
7,779,223 5,279,138
MEBERMESERYE Commercial operational and
property management services
B Shopping malls 2,195,375 1,841,207
BTE Office buildings 1,731,802 1,435,062
3,927,177 3,276,269
KABZFARMKRALRE Total revenue from contracts with customers 11,706,400 8,555,407
WA R MY B R Timing of revenue recognition
EX-BRHEENER Goods transferred at a point in time 392,062 309,227
R R EER RS Services transferred at a point in time 282,547 159,113
RS AEB N RS Services transferred over time 11,031,791 8,087,067
RERFARBURAELE Total revenue from contracts with customers 11,706,400 8,555,407
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REVENUE (continued)

The Group recognised the following revenue-related
contract liabilities:

e = e =

As at 31 December
B F B —F
2022 2021
ARKETTT AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000

EcRAEE Contract liabilities

Bt 7 (M13E35) Related parties (note 35) 71,342 57,069
E=5 Third parties 1,760,545 1,360,154
1,831,887 1,417,223

AEENARBEEZZREMHAREHRD
HERBAEKREFHKE - ZFREEER
SEEBIERMIBM

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the
advance payments received from customers while
the underlying services are yet to be provided. Such
liabilities increased as a result of the growth of the
Group’s business.
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5. IRA(H)

TREFINAREBMEFARETRVIER
BEREBEHREDSENBLORBERL

WAZEE :

BAAFERAAENE
e

EEMEEERYE
REREERMEEERS

5. REVENUE (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that

were included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period and recognised
from performance obligations satisfied in previous

periods:

Revenue recognised that was included in
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year

Residential property management services

Commercial operational and property
management services

w+=—A=+—8”

As at 31 December
B F B —F
2022 2021
ARKETTT AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,233,545 836,225
145,867 82,335

1,379,412 918,560
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REEMEEERE (KLRY - B -
P RYEEERIN) HEEEE RYE
EERBME  ~5EEARSENFAERE
ERENSE (ERYEASBLECSENY
BEEMER) BREA - XEEF AR
A RKF L & AR B ok & - F 78 S
RISE - ZBAIRFAZ=+HREE - K
EECEERTBVBEREENFEI5HE
121(b)BRFTIL BRI T 70 - THREZ
EHRAARMNBTBHNERRS

ARG RBREHE (—RA8—F) =2
R ZFRZFT_—F+HA=
T—HUERBITOELNE - KIBRM
B R ARG BN B ER o

FEAN BRRMEHEMS  BARE
FEERSRER TRFRER - KER
EERESEN  BmMkENERLERE
AL RSRIEE N =F
—E-—F+_-A=+—H TEXRE
TRIBPBITHBRTRBOR -
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REVENUE (continued)

For residential property management services
(except for brokerage services, sales of planting
stocks, merchandise and properties) and
commercial operational and property management
services, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount that equals the right to invoice which
corresponds directly with the value to the customer
of the Group’s performance to date on a monthly
basis. The Group bills the amount for services
provided on a monthly basis or pre-charges
service fee on a half year basis and payment is
due within 30 days of invoice. The Group has
elected the practical expedient as described in
HKFRS 15.121(b) for not to disclose the remaining
performance obligations for these types of
contracts.

For brokerage services, the services are rendered
in a short period of time which is generally less
than a year and there was no satisfied performance
obligation as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. The
payment is due immediately when the services are
rendered to the customer.

For sales of planting stocks, merchandise and
properties, the performance obligation is satisfied
when control of the asset is transferred to the
customers. The payment is due immediately when
the customer obtains the physical possession or the
legal title of the planting stocks, merchandise and
properties. There were no remaining performance
obligations unsatisfied or partially satisfied as at 31
December 2022 and 2021.
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6.

HoA A B U A 6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
HE+_A=1+—RHItEE
Year ended 31 December
> =Sy B
2022 2021
AREFTT ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEWA Interest income 424,580 376,301
BT Bh* Government grants* 105,142 77,883
HEWE MENMEBEEER  Gain on disposal of items of property, 452 12,323
Wz plant and equipment
EiE R Operating subsidies** 29,116
b 55 W 5 5 58 Exchange gains, net - 16,656
BAREEFEAEZEHFT A Fair value gains from financial assets - 28,060
EHERCERMEEN at fair value through profit or loss
A EENE
FHAh, Others 20,609 12,209
579,899 523,432
4 WS & BT w8 B (i oK B b A A AR A A G Government grants received for which related

SO FIAERA M BIRARNEMALE -
150 4 B 5 S 7 B B B O R AR R =R

expenditure has not yet been incurred are included
in other liabilities the consolidated statements
of financial position. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

Operating subsidies refer to cash received for
managing certain property projects in relation to
the reform of state-owned enterprises (“SOE Reform

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

HIREIR -
7 EEMMEEEECREEESETY o
¥BEE ([HEHREEE ) MKEAIR
W5 E H
PBERASWHT :
HhFI2HZ Other interest expense
HEBEF S Interest on lease liabilities

HET-A=+T—HBLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-fF B
2022 2021
ARBTT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
4,773 9,215
82,451 66,427

87,224 75,642
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BRAST AT A1 8.

AEBOBRBATGN DEME (GEA)
THIBRERFE

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

HE+T-A=T—HLHFE

Year ended 31 December

—EBE-F — B
2022 2021
L AREFIT ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ERHERBEHAA Cost of services provided 8,236,307 5,953,922
EEFERKAE Cost of inventories sold 168,938 162,944
M - BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 14 91,697 68,876
CREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 18(a) 57,006 49,981
B EESH Amortisation of intangible assets 16 85,829 2,757
ZE RN & Auditor's remuneration 3,650 3,300
EERMAX Employee benefit expense
TERFH® Wages and salaries 3,505,474 3,141,428
RIRE T8I R Pension scheme contributions* 400,666 267,379
3,906,140 3,408,807
B SR IE N ERZEE  Impairment of trade and bill
A receivables 24 6,895 6,146
FER A « HAbfEURERIE  Impairment/(reversal of impairment)
DEMEERME,(RE  of prepayments, other
o) receivables and other assets 25 5,870 (221)
(MUsEE), MUk EZ  (Reversal of a write-down)/write-
RN HE down of inventories to net
realisable value 23 (533) 3,045
HAERNZK (R AFAEEE Lease payments not included in the
FE) measurement of lease liabilities 18(c) 44,621 42760
HEWE - BENKKZMER  Gain on disposal of property, plant
& and equipment 6 (452) (12,323)
BAREEFEH8HEZE  Fair value gains from financial
AR HIER eRE assets at fair value
ENRxBEKE through profit or loss 6 - (28,060)
* BE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—B8BI1F * During the year ended 31 December 2022, the

B AEELEERRERTRD R
REFERKR S BIME -

Group had no forfeited contributions available to
reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in
future years.
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9. HEFHIM 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
B EMHA - HAELEEGIZEI83(1) Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
(a)* (b)* () R(NERRR (FREEF pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
HER) B E2RMIFEE L FRNESSH (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
BT and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation,
is as follows:
B F — B —F
2022 2021
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2k Fees 1,428 992
E A - Other emoluments:
e R REYMEF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4,300 4,208
KIBAREEAL Performance-related bonuses 15,732 18,361
RIRSET B K Pension scheme contributions 631 685
20,663 23,254

22,091 24,246
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9. HHFIM(A) 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)
HITEERBIYFHTES Executive directors and independent

non-executive directors

ARETL  ARBTR AREBTL ARETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

—ECCE 2022
WIES: Executive directors:
BB A Mr. YU Linkang - 1,581 4,963 159 6,703
BNELT Ms. WEI Xiaohua - 1,017 3,537 159 4,713
THRRAE Mr. WANG Haimin - 963 3,739 159 4,861
B ELT Ms. YANG Hongxia - 739 3,493 154 4,386
- 4,300 15,732 631 20,663
FRTES Non-executive directors:
EMRE Mr. LI Xin - - - - _
PHEEE Mr. GUO Shiging = = = = =
BUFHTES : Independent Non-executive
directors:
REIELE Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 357 - - - 357
AMERE Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 357 - - - 357
e Ms. QIN Hong 357 - - - 357
BRR&RE Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 357 - - - 357
1,428 1,428

1,428 4,300 15,732 631 22,091
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9.

N4

HTESERBYUFATES

(&)

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)

Executive directors and independent
non-executive directors (continued)

ARETL  ARBTR ARBTL ARETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

—E--% 2021
HiES: Executive directors:
BMFREE Mr. YU Linkang = 1,585 6,857 176 8,618
BNELT Ms. WEI Xiaohua = 1,008 4,197 176 5,381
THREAE Mr. WANG Haimin = 876 3,701 176 4,753
BaEat Ms. YANG Hongxia = 739 3,606 157 4,502
= 4,208 18,361 685 23,254
ERTES Non-executive directors:
EMEE Mr. LI Xin - - _ _ _
PHEEE Mr. GUO Shiging s = = - -
BUFHTES : Independent Non-executive
directors:
RENF 4 Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 248 = = = 248
AMERE Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 248 = = = 248
e iR Ms. QIN Hong 248 = = = 248
BRR&ELE Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 248 = = = 248
992 = = = 992
992 4,208 18,361 685 24,246

£F P 8 8 ST FE 50 1T 2 T4 EL A
—T——fm)

—_=

FALBEERNEHTRAEREXRE
MEEAFHBA R EE -

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2021: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year
included four directors (2021: three directors),
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining one highest paid employee who is not a

BiE B R F BB T ¢ director of the Company. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining one (2021: two) highest
paid employee is as follows:

HE+_-_A=1+—RALEE

Year ended 31 December
—E-_F —E-—F
2022 2021
AREEFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

e EREREYEN Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 848 3,633

KIEBEIEA Performance related bonuses 3,128 8,034

RIRBETEIH R Pension scheme contributions 159 241

4,135 11,908

FHERAATRENIIEEENT S FIE
BAEWMT :

The numbers of non-directors highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands are as follows:

BHE+T-A=+T—HBLEFE

Year ended 31 December

72,000,000 T E HK$2,000,000 to HK$3,000,000

753,000,000

753,000,001 L% HK$3,000,001 to HK$5,000,000

7 #5,000,0007T

715,000,001 & HK$5,000,001 to HK$9,000,000

75 #9,000,0007T

—E-_F —E-—F
2022 2021
ARETTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
1 _

- 2
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11.

FrtS B ¢
AEEAREEEERAFEERE AT

Pt R & e MG R AR ERMESL
GG NHRAEY - RIEFASHES
MEBRLZBEESHRANIOER  AEREBET
RASEEMNABREZESEMKRLNE
BHRBMNERPAEH

REBEGAFEEREBEENGETER
FRAEMIZ16.5% (T =—%F : 16.5%) &Y
MEBNBAFER - BREAEEREZE
TR HF+_A=t-—BIFETER
ERELERTTEN - WA ERBENGE
MIEHBE(ZS_—F &) -

BE-_T-_—_F+-A=1+—BItFE -
AEERFPREAEENKE QR —E
#25% (ZEZ—1%F : 25%) MEHMF
BEMEH ([FECEMRSH])
AEEMNETHREWNBAGAIREEZ
T FT AT —HIEFERI5%HE
B RN EMER -

BREBE(REARKMBEERAEHER)
AR B A 2 9 9P R B b S R ST 4
BETIRHRBARI0% B X HMTE
M- ZREB-_TTN\F-A—BiELE
M BEAR_ETELFT_A=1t—HE&
B Z A o et o B PO 3 B SN ER 4R B P AE A
EEBRITARKIHE - TERRENTE
HBRRE - BAKEME - ERARES
5% °

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the tax
jurisdictions in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the Cayman Islands and British Virgin
Islands, the entities within the Group incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands and British Virgin Islands are
not subject to any income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2021:16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. No
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made
as the Group had no assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: Nil).

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Mainland
China are generally subject to the PRC corporate
income tax (“CIT") rate of 25% (2021: 25%) for the
year ended 31 December 2022, excluding certain
subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC which are
subject to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

AR 3B E R ([ IEER ) B D The provision for PRC Land Appreciation Tax (‘LAT")

BEPBREBEREERERNREMR is estimated according to the requirements set forth

ET o THIBEN O SIS E (iR RER = in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT

ELEE - WHRE THHRRIER - has been provided at ranges of progressive rates
of the appreciation value, with certain allowable
deductions.

FRMERAZMEZAXITHOT : The major components of income tax expenses for

the year are as follows:

HE+T_A=+T—HILLHFE

Year ended 31 December

—E-F B2

2022 2021

B &E AREFTT ARBT T

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

BIEAFTIS B Current income tax 623,958 522,088
TR ER LAT 17,796 11,579
RIEPTIS AT Deferred income tax 22 51,151 76,819
FARIES L1858 Total tax charge for the year 692,905 610,486
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11.

PSR pH 2 (&)

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

HERRBAMBNAMEHER (IRAKE A reconciliation of the income tax expense
j<4|3’\ ANRIFEaERE 2 EERER applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rate
B)ERERNEAENRERERANH for the jurisdiction in which the majority of the
B AREABE (BVAEREK) HER companies of the Group are domiciled to the tax
fR S OEENC N expense at effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of
the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the
effective tax rate, are as follows:
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
ARETT % ARETR %
RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
B A Al Profit before tax 2,906,153 2,336,556
REEHREHENRIE Tax at the statutory tax rate 726,538 25.0 584,139 25.0
5% BIHE AL EH Effect of withholding tax at 5%

fBRRN SR EFM on the distributable profits

2 of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries 93,274 3.2 70,189 3.0
RN X Lower tax rates enacted by local authority (131,625) (4.5) (57,772) (2.6)
A B Y Expenses not deductible for tax 5,854 0.2 6,170 0.3
FENUFERAEMKAM Other permanent differences affecting

=8 current income tax 45,646 1.6 = =
FREBAHMOEKEER  Tax losses and temporary difference

RHESE utilised from previous periods (636) - (1,512) (0.1)
AEZNTHEBRAME  Tax losses and deductible temporary

i difference not recognised 74 - 16 =
BEEE BERME),/BH  (Over)under provision in prior years*

T (57,543) (2.0) 1,486 0.1
BRHTARA Income not subject to tax (2,024) (0.1) (914) =
TIEER LAT 17,796 0.6 11,579 0.5
THEERNR BT E Tax effect of LAT (4,449) (0.2) (2,895) (0.1
RASEERBEHER Tax charge at the Group's effective rate

BB I 692,905 238 610,486 26.1
* HMREEERE ORI BRRQAIRER E Runxin Commercial Investment (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.

BEARBESFRE S —F— was entitled to a reduced CIT rate of 15% under
A—HREZOBRBEEHRX =% the preferential tax policy of Shenzhen-Hong Kong
T oFBREZ15%NBEREME Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone in 2022

BiBi= -

with an effective period from 1 January 2021.
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ABET(TEBK287TAEET) °
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DIVIDENDS

A final dividend of RMBO0.276 (equivalent to
HK$0.339) per ordinary share for the year ended
31 December 2021 amounting to RMB661.7 million
(equivalent to HK$773.8 million) was approved
in the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 30
March 2022 and paid during the year.

On 30 August 2022, the board of directors declared
an interim dividend of RMBO0.127 (equivalent to
HK$0.145) per ordinary share, amounting to a total
of approximately RMB299.3 million (equivalent to
HK$331.0 million).

On 21 December 2022, the board of directors
declared a special dividend of RMB0.3643
(equivalent to HK$0.4069) per ordinary share for
the year ended 31 December 2022 amounting to
RMB853.2 million (equivalent to HK$928.7 million).

At a meeting held by the board of directors on 28
March 2023, the board of directors recommended a
final dividend of RMB0.312 (equivalent to HK$0.357)
per ordinary share totalling RMB711.1 million
(equivalent to HK$814.9 million) for the year ended
31 December 2022.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject
to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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13. BAG MmN EGS 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

JBe & A1) ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

BREAREERNTRBEFAGAAE The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings

BREZFEABGEENARFADEITE per share amount is based on the profit for the year

BRI 5 8 2,282,500,000/% (= attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

——1% :2,282,500,0000%) ;T & - and the weighted average number of ordinary

shares of 2,282,500,000 (2021: 2,282,500,000) in
issue during the year.

ARARRBEZZ__F+-HA=+—H The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary
IEFETEEBETHELETTBR (= shares in issue during the year ended 31 December
T —F E) e 2022 (2021: Nil).
B _—F —E-—F
2022 2021
AREFTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BF| Earnings
BRrEERERFEA Profit attributable to ordinary equity
FE(R & F holders of the parent 2,206,126 1,724,925

HE+-_A=+—BLEE

Year ended 31 December

B F — B —F
2022 2021

i gvis Shares
FREETEBERZ INETFIE Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year 2,282,500,000 2,282,500,000
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14. P2k, BB Bkt 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BF  #ERG nE  RftRE BENREE  HRIR &t

Machinery Motor QOther Leasehold  Construction
Buildings ~ equipment vehicles equipment  improvements in process Total
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARET ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZEZZE-A-RA:  At1January 2022:
A Cost 331,989 126,836 16,810 208,881 119,831 9,902 814,249
ZitHE Accumulated depreciation (26,775) (53,251) (8,685) (145,396) (53,128) - (287,235)
BEE Net carrying amount 305,214 73,585 8,125 63,485 66,703 9,902 527,014
RZEZZF-F-H-  At1January 2022 net of
TBREE accumulated depreciation 305,214 73,585 8,125 63,485 66,703 9,902 527,014
HE Additions 560 10,238 38,310 63,477 8,084 9,163 129,832
WEHBAR (Hk32) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 32) - 948 606 11,580 1,696 - 14,830
gy Transfer - 12,083 - - - (12,083) -
& Disposals (262) (1,548) (776) (8,260) - - (10,846)
ERRITE Depreciation provided
during the year (11,120) (13,974) (5,139) (42,983) (18,481) - (91,697)
-2 At 31 December 2022, net of
TZR=t+-8" accumulated depreciation
NBEHE 294,392 81,332 41,126 87,299 58,002 6,982 569,133
RZBZ-%-A-R:  At1January 2021:
Bx Cost 62,148 115,695 12,459 179,672 102,262 6,051 478,287
2iHE Accumulated depreciation (20,821) (42,951) (6,403) (116,624) (31,560) s (218,359)
BEFE Net carrying amount 41,327 72,744 6,056 63,048 70,702 6,051 259,928
RZE--F—F-H-  At1January 2021 net of
MREFE acoumulated depreciation 41327 70,744 6,056 63,048 70,702 6,051 259,928
hE Additions 269,905 1,245 4428 29,741 17,569 3,851 336,739
i = Disposals (64) (104) m (532) = = (1)
ERGRIE Depreciation provided
during the year (5,954) (10,300) (2.282) (28772) (21,568) = (68,876)
RoE--% At 31 December 2021, net of
t-A=+-R" accumulated depreciation
NEREiTE 305,214 73,585 8,125 63,485 66,703 9,902 527,014
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15. KEYE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

BEHERSE

Held under

leases

ARBTT

RMB’000

R-—ZE=-——F—H—H At 1 January 2021 2,234,000
WEMERAREBEELESHNE Gain on changes in fair value of

investment properties 30,000

RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2021 2,264,000

R-ZZT=Z=—F—H—H At 1 January 2022 2,264,000

NE Additions 1,058,740
KEMEARBESSHWE Gain on changes in fair value of

investment properties 43,260

RZZBZ=ZF+=RA=+—H At 31 December 2022 3,366,000

FEEOGERF

AEBMGEMEMRNP R AL o NE
EERARBEFEEREDE - &5
EEEMER_T__F+=_A=+
—BERZTE=-—F+=ZA=1+—H0H
RNABETD mgv%iﬁiAﬁﬂ
fHEMEFIIBE AR ATETOME
BEET -

Bl

EERRBNBETESBRAE

WAEREEZERBREEENY
FHEWA (RBENHEEERKALE

HEEEEB)  ARUBENER (X
B REE -
Eﬁ%ﬂ%%@ﬁﬁ@ﬁ% MENRS
heERZRARE RS

Notes:

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties are situated
in Chinese Mainland. The Group measures its
investment properties at fair value. The fair values
of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021 have been
determined on the basis of valuation carried out by
CBRE Limited, an independent and professionally
qualified valuer.

Valuation techniques

The valuation methodology adopted in valuation is
the income approach.

The income approach operates by taking into
account the rental income of the properties derived
from the existing tenancy with due allowance for
the reversionary income potential of the tenancy,
which is then capitalised into the value at an
appropriate capitalisation rate.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their
current use.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

R+=ZA=+—8H
As at 31 December

—EB-F —EBE-—F

2022 2021

AREE(ARETT) Fair value (RMB’000) 3,366,000 2,264,000

BRI E (%) Capitalisation rate (%) 6.3-7.5 6.3
KEHMERITMISES Assessed prevailing market rents

(BABFHRRARKET) (RMB per square meter per month) 95-346 95-340

TAERGABBRRN A BENBE :

. BRIGCEHS  DAAEBEY
& :
. BaomBHeds  AREE
o=
RER DAEBEAEFEIREF2R (d)

AR 32 ) NIk :3 YN - S
B(ZT=Z—F  |) o

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:

° The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower
the fair value;

° The higher the prevailing market rents, the
higher the fair value.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair
value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).
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16. MJE¥EE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
R B st
Customer
Relationships Software Total
ARETTT AREFT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—E-=“fF+=-HA=+—H 31 December 2022
RZEZZF—A—HH Cost at 1 January 2022, net of
BUAR - B Rt accumulated amortisation - 115,957 115,957
g1y NG| Acquisition of subsidiaries
(FfE32) (note 32) 1,424,300 9,016 1,433,316
NE Additions - 6,837 6,837
HE&E Disposals - (263) (263)
FNFHEEH Amortisation provided
during the year (68,203) (17,626) (85,829)
R-ZB-=ZH+=-H=+—H At 31 December 2022 1,356,097 113,921 1,470,018
R=ZZ=-=—F+=-H=+—H At 31 December 2022
B AR Cost 1,424,300 141,156 1,565,456
ZET Accumulated amortisation (68,203) (27,235) (95,438)
BREFE Net carrying amount 1,356,097 113,921 1,470,018
B
Software
AR®ET T
RMB’000
—EZ-F+ZA=+—H 31 December 2021
RZZE-Z—F—A—BHKAE Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated 2,238
Mk Rt #es amortisation
WE Additions 116,476
FNETIREHE Amortisation provided during the year (2,757)
R-B=-Z-f+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 115,957
RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—8H: At 31 December 2021:
B Cost 125,571
RETELH Accumulated amortisation (9,614)
SRTENFE Net carrying amount 115,957
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18.

RE 7K

HREBERPEAEBREENFERTE
EMABREE  BEFHNEH35% R
AR A36MEA - AEFERFAEE
=EARR FABR - EHFRNE R
ARFEARELENREREEL/HAS
RAREERNSFENMNR - LK B FEHE
BELEBRARRERENEBEARTH -
Hit - EHFRARIEREHR AT E
MEREE °

M

AEERELLEFEANSBLWES
# - BF AHEIEHERR - CIRAIE
H—RENFAREERBEERE L -
HI/R20F - BT HAMBER2E265F -
MABENEMBENF1E23F - HitR
BEOEB—RB12E A KA TR,/ A
RIBERIE -
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TIME DEPOSITS

The balance represents deposit certificates
purchased from a creditworthy licensed bank in
Chinese Mainland earning interest at a fixed rate of
3.5% per annum with an original maturity period of
36 months. The deposits certificates are redeemable
upon holding for longer than three months. The
contractual terms of the time deposits give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding and are held within a business
model with the objective to hold in order to collect
contractual cash flows. For such purpose, the time
deposits are accounted for as financial assets at
amortised cost.

LEASES

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
land use rights, buildings and motor vehicles used
in its operations. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners
with lease periods of 20 years. Leases of buildings
generally have lease terms between 2 and 26 years,
while motor vehicles generally have lease terms
between 1 and 3 years. Other equipment generally
has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is
individually of low value.
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18. FHE(%) 18. LEASES (continued)
RAFEE  AEEFAREEK The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-
HEREZESHOT : of-use assets and the movements during the

year are as follows:

T fE e ¥ AE st
Land use Motor
rights Buildings vehicles Total

ARBTT ARETT ARBTLI ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000

R=2=-%-A-H At 1 January 2021 1,872 111,410 975 114,257
wE Additions - 49,191 1,372 50,563
HEER Depreciation charge (38) (49,140) (803) (49,981)
BET AT B Revision of a lease term arising
FTE £ EMIEET from a change in the
non-cancellable period of a lease (1,834) (13,411) (178) (15,423)
R=ZZE--F+=-H=+-H At 31 December 2021 and
“Z-"%-8-H 1 January 2022 - 98,050 1,366 99,416
hE Additions - 56,672 1,270 57,942
WEER B AR (F17E32) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) - 11,358 767 12,125
HEER Depreciation charge - (55,190) (1,816) (57,006)
BET A HHTE A Revision of a lease term arising
FTE TR HMIEE] from a change in the
non-cancellable period of a lease - (9,907) (46) (9,953)

RZZBZZF+=-HA=+—H At31 December 2022 - 100,983 1,541 102,524
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18. LEASES (continued)

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and

gy - the movements during the year are as follows:
—E_F —E-—F
2022 2021
ARKETFTT ARBEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—A—HNEEE Carrying amount at 1 January 1,358,470 1,382,372
Mg New leases 1,102,968 50,563
UeBE BB A A) (BIE32) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 32) 8,597 -
AN ERER A FIL 23 N Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 82,451 66,427
(BN Payments (140,982) (125,064)
& A] i EH AE B Revision of a lease term arising
FrESRBMER] from a change in the
non-cancellable period
of a lease (9,787) (15,828)
Rt+ZA=+—AMKHEE Carrying amount at 31 December 2,401,717 1,358,470
2K =1, Analysed into:
mENE o Current portion 99,755 80,547
EmENE S Non-current portion 2,301,962 1,277,923

HEAENZH A TRPBRER
B FE394K R -

AEERFRAEHHHEARSE TR
EREFRLNABEGEREER
RERNBRBEETX -

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities
is disclosed in note 39 to the financial
statements.

The Group has applied the practical
expedient to all eligible rent concessions
granted by the lessors for leases of certain
plant and equipment during the year.
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18. FHE(4H)

18. LEASES (continued)

REaEREHEEHE 2 28N The amounts recognised in profit or loss in

T

relation to leases are as follows:

BHETZA=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December

B _F —E-—F
2022 2021
ARKETFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEREMNS Interest on lease liabilities 82,451 66,427
FREEEHERA Depreciation charge on
right-of-use assets 57,006 49,981
HGHHE MEEEEEME  Expense relating to short-term
HBEANAX leases and leases of low-value assets 13,095 16,934
R AHEBEFEZTE Variable lease payments not
HERK included in the measurement of
lease liabilities 31,526 25,826
REEEERNE ST Total amount recognised in profit or loss 184,078 159,168




18.

AEBRBELENELHHBREME
(MFEE15) - MEKRK—RERKBE M
RES - WHRERBERFIRITHINE H
AREE - NAEE - TABECEHE
R WA B ARE309,779,0007T (=
T——4F: AR¥319,977,0007T) (Ff&E
5) ¢

RZEBE-_ZF+-_A=+—H x&EBHHA
EABAFTBEER  RETAHECEHEE
R TR R B A R R R B IR & 5
—|T :
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LEASES (continued)

The Group leases its investment properties (note
15) under operating lease arrangements. The
terms of the leases generally require the tenants
to pay security deposits and provide for periodic
rent adjustments according to the then prevailing
market conditions. The sublease revenue of non-
cancellable operating leases during the year was
RMB309,779,000 (2021: RMB319,977,000) (note 5).

At 31 December 2022, the Group had contracted
with lessees for the following future undiscounted
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

HE+TZA=+—HILLFE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—F —E-—F

2022 2021

ARKEFTT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FNRN Within one year 248,059 217,868
RE_FEERF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BEEEMF) 398,319 240,131

AFE After five years 185,108 211,503

831,486 669,502
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[E= 19. GOODWILL
—E-—F
2022
ARET T
RMB’000
RZEZ=—F—H—H At 1 January 2022 -
W EE M B A R (MFsE32) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) 1,804,719
RZZBZ=F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2022 1,804,719

BREEBAHISNEEYEESERY
BOWMBARERRESELABN ([RE
EAEM])  UETRERR

. BMNEERERAR (&M

. AN THDEERER QA
(T
IETEMEERARAR ([T
g l)

PTEERRSELEMNBHERTEN

2

M
il
STERAP

Yuzhou

Sichuan Jiuzhou
Jiangsu Zhongnan

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to each acquired subsidiary as the cash-
generating units (“CGUs") for impairment testing:

o Yuzhou Property Management Co., Ltd.
(“Yuzhou”)
° Sichuan Jiuzhou Qiancheng Property

Management Co. LTD (“Sichuan Jiuzhou")
° Jiangsu Zhongnan Property Service Co. Ltd.
(“Jiangsu Zhongnan”)

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of
the CGUs is as follows:

R+t-—A=+—8H
As at

31 December
—E__F

2022

ARBT T
RMB’000

630,763
20,682
1,153,274




19.

20.

ReEABUN KOS BRETEN
EREEET  REFAEEAERNSR
iiﬁbﬁﬂ’]ﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁfxi@ilmgﬂfﬁi//\LE%E:
Ao BRRAFHNESREEM2.5%H
BREETHR - ERXIVEBARGE
ABMKEMERBITENRAFEER
EXoBemERANERANTAREA
11.2%%£15.2% » R T E2AERRITE KRR
TEABNASHEBNEERR

RRAREERAE  EWEREBERNERNEG
Brge#a T ey ReEEEMRE
ERBER - Z-—F+-_A=+—HK
AU EI & EE o

RBE_Z__F+_A=+—HILF
B AEBERERRBRSELENHA
MR ERIE -

R—RaBEMRZBE

I EEFE

19.

20.
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GOODWILL (continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been
determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. Cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a growth rate
of 2.5%. The growth rates do not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the related industry in
which the CGUs operate. The pre-tax discount rates
applied to the cash flow projections was 11.2% to
15.2%, which reflect specific risks relating to the
relevant industry and the CGUs themselves.

The directors of the Company are of the view that
any reasonably possible change in any of the key
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount
of the CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts as
at 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
management of the Group determined that no
impairment of goodwill should be recognised for the
CGUs.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

w+=ZA=+—H”
As at 31 December
—E-_—F —E - —F
2022 2021
ARKETTT AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,058 435
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20.

21.

R—HEEEE B (&) 20. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
(Continued)

TRINFAEEZEFEERELERER The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

BRSBTS ER - information of the Group’s joint venture that is not

individually material:

R+-—A=+—8H

As at 31 December

ARBT T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
FAEIGALDERF,  Share of the joint venture’s profit/(loss)
(B1#8) for the year 623 (1,895)
REMA—AEENE2  Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
KEMNRE®EE investment in a joint venture 1,058 435
A — WS ARl 2 Bl 21. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
w+=ZA=+—H”

As at 31 December

ARBT T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
JEIEEEFE Share of net assets 595 =
TRINRAERE 2 IEE R E R SR F R The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
PRy Py S information of the Group’s associate that is not
individually material:
R+=ZA=+—AH

As at 31 December

ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FRFE(REEE R RDE A Share of the associate’s profit for the year 595 =
NEFMA—EBEL ARz  Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
REMBEEE investment in an associate 595 =
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22. REEFIE 22. DEFERRED TAX
HEHAMBEEHBEEENEBHOT The movements in deferred tax assets during the

reporting period are as follows:

ARBTL  ARMTT ARETR  ARBTL  ARETRT  ARMTR  ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBIOD

RZBZ-%-f-H At 1 January 2021 2,276 - - 2,765 40,326 - 45,367
EREA/(HIRA)BAS  Deferred tax credited tof
ERHE (charged to) profit or loss
during the year 1,192 526 - (213) 29,773 - 31,218
RZF--F+ZF=+-HRk At31 December 2021 and
“Z-F-8-H 1 January 2022 3,468 526 - 2,492 70,099 - 76,585
WENBLAREREEN  Deferred tax increased from
(M¥32) acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 32) 10,576 - 10,093 - - 1,290 21,959
A/ (BE)BAS  Deferred tax credited tof
ERHE (charged to) profit or loss
during the year 2,297 (84) (8,821) 703 32,167 (202) 26,060

WZFZZEFZA=t—H  At31December 2022 16,341 442 1,212 3,195 102,266 1,088 124,604
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22.

JRSERLIE (4 )
FEMMET AR BN BT

22. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the

reporting period are as follows:

ERUHRE REm* EBAH
ERIZ16% DMEE 2R DMEE
e e BB g MEKRA i @zt
Fair value Fair value
gains from  Unrealised  gain from
Impact of Withholding investment interest  business
HKFRS 16 tax  properties income combination Total
ARETR  ARBTT ARETR AR%TR ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZZE--F-f—-H At 1 January 2021 9,893 36,711 179,105 - - 225,709
FRIBEEEMELERE  Deferred tax charged to
profit or loss during the year 9,257 70,189 7,500 21,001 - 108,037
WZE-—%+-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 and
k=F--%-8-H 1 January 2022 19,150 106,900 186,605 21,091 - 333,746
WERBAREEHELN  Deferred tax increased from
(Mi7E32) acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 32) - - - - 354,435 354,435
ER(IN)/HBEEEN  Deferred tax (credited to)/charged
EEHE to profit or loss during the year (2,520) 93,274 3,370 (91) (16,822) 77,211
WZZE=ZF+=-F=+—H At31 December 2022 16,630 200,174 189,975 21,000 337,613 765,392

R-Z-_—F+-A=+—8 ' A£H
A P 7 3 85 2R 2R R BR 04 ) B SR B AR

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had unused

HEEBAARKS 128,000 (ZE =
F o ANR¥E2747,0007T)  ERARKE
5,089,000T (ZF = —% : &) FIEE IS
ERRAECEMEELEE - WEFARK
38,0007T (ZE=—% : AR¥2,747,000
TR TR EEERAELERIBEE -
RARAKARESZRE - BEMBARR
RENEFIFORTEE - MIBEBEAIEER
ZHF ©

tax losses of RMB5,128,000 (2021: RMB2,747,000)
available to offset against future taxable profits,
of which RMB5,089,000 (2021: Nil) tax losses
have been recognised as deferred tax assets.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised on
the remaining tax losses of RMB38,000 (2021:
RMB2,747,000), as in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the future profit streams of these
subsidiaries are uncertain. The tax losses could be
carried forward for a maximum of five years.
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JESEASTIE ( 4 ) 22. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
BIEBE(REAREMBDSERSHIE) - Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
FAFR B A3 K ST B SN BB 1 2R R AN 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
BETIRMREBIE10% T RN TE to foreign investors from the foreign investment
W - ZBEEB ST N\F-—H—HELE enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. The
¥EARZEELFTHAH=T—H% requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
BRI o i8R B P b B HNE 1% B 2 BT AE A applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
EEEEIARWBE - TERAREMNTE lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
MBME - HWAEEMS - BRAMREAR is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the
5% ° Bt - ANEEZA R A B A A 2 jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
M BRR—_EENF—A—HEBRESE the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore
B9 2 F BT 20 TR B IR B AN TE O AL o AN liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
B AEERNFEAHKZHOME A by those subsidiaries established in Chinese
EETEIMAREQI3 274,000t (ZF = Mainland in respect of earnings generated from
—F : AR#¥70,189,0007T) ° ANRQR]H 1 January 2008. In the current year, the Group
HRREIARETSELEMEBESR - accrued withholding tax of RMB93,274,000 (2021:
RMB70,189,000) for those subsidiaries established
in Chinese Mainland. There are no income tax
consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
175 23. INVENTORIES
i e ety =
As at 31 December
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
AREFTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEAL Parking spaces 130,717 118,041
EmFE Other Inventories 17,256 19,963
147,973 138,004

R-ZE-_—_F+_-_A=+—H @il
BEEEAEEFETAREBEARE
2,512,000 (ZBE-_—F+-_A=+—
H : AR¥3,045,0007T) °

As at 31 December 2022, the provision for write-
down of inventories to net realizable value
amounted to RMB2,512,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB3,045,000).
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24. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

R+=ZA=+—8©
As at 31 December
> =Sy B
2022 2021
ARETTT ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 EWRE Trade receivables
Rase 7 (M45E35) Related parties (note 35) 708,490 703,820
E=F Third parties 849,129 339,482
B EE Bill receivables
Rase 7 (M45E35) Related parties (note 35) 9,865 7,185
E=F Third parties 6,231 1,057
A Impairment (15,830) (8,935)
1,557,885 1,042,609

B 5 RYWIA R BB RIEE ERZE
EENYEEERGIIEERGMESL -

B G REE R WALIBERYER
A& FRRVIRFRULER © %) 5 B 12 ARA% HO AR 75
WABRETERTRBE A - NEE
FISRBRAR P ) EL AR U B 9 FE UL R - i A
RERRAREIEE T EE) - BN LA
AARKENE HREFAEREBREES R
REDHNEP  MAEBEERREAE
oo AN ER B0 ph EL B PR UGR IR I B R
SREHRFBHTMEM MK EMIERE
R o B SRR REREENGE

Trade and bill receivables mainly arise from property
management services managed on a lump sum
basis and value-added services.

Property management service income on a lump
sum basis are received in accordance with the term
of the relevant property service agreements. Service
income from property management services is due
for payment by the property owners upon rendering
of services. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by management.
In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group’s trade and bill receivables relate to
a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade and bill receivable
balances. Trade and bill receivables are non-
interest-bearing.
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24. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES
(continued)

The ageing analysis of the trade and bill receivables
based on invoice date is as follows:

w+=-—A=+—8”

As at 31 December
—E-F — B —F
2022 2021
ARKET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
1FR Within 1 year 1,472,929 1,017,119
1224 1 to 2 years 77,787 31,558
2E3F 2 to 3 years 17,545 1,531
3FMUE Over 3 years 5,454 1,336
1,573,715 1,051,544
BUE Impairment (15,830) (8,935)
1,557,885 1,042,609

B 5 e U TR E N FE U 22 4k R (B e TR R
gk -

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of trade and bill receivables are as follows:

R+-—A=+—8

As at 31 December
—EB-—F — B —F
2022 2021
AREET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R At beginning of year 8,935 3,801
BEEE Impairment losses 6,895 6,146
s AT A A FRIR Amount written off as uncollectible - (1,012)
RER At end of year 15,830 8,935

B RS ALBRERAAREHE
BHRIGAREBBERENAABERE
FREEMEE -

The trade and bill receivables were denominated
in RMB, and the fair values of trade and bill
receivables approximated to their carrying amounts.
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24,

o GRS IE B EN 22 h% (4% )  24. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES
(continued)
RERESAHERAREERETRES An impairment analysis is performed at each
- A ERHEEEE - BHEERHAE reporting date using a provision matrix to measure
REEBEUBEEANZERTFSEAE ECLs. The provision rates are based on days past
Al (BNE PR R RIS AR AL ) 1Y %80 HA R 2K due for groupings of various customer segments
BT fERMEERNELR SR with similar loss patterns (i.e. customer type
MEERRREABHE@EBETSEMH - Z8 and service type). The calculation reflects the
MR R ARRGEERRTBEANEERE X probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
?%E’Jﬁﬂ BB MR E EBIE R money and reasonable and supportable information
BR01% (ZE_—4F+HA=+—8": that is available at the reporting date about past
01%)  KERELHE - WHLAIEMERE events, current conditions and forecasts of future
KOBEURER T - economic conditions. The expected credit loss
rate for related parties is calculated as 0.1%
(31 December 2021: 0.1%) by considering the
default rates and adjusting for forward-looking
macroeconomic data.
TXEINBEAEEE S EWRGRIE R EY Set out below is the information about the credit risk
SRERABEBERENEERBRNER exposure on the Group’s trade and bill receivables
using a provision matrix:
E=F )
Related
Third parties parties
1R 1225 223  3FNLE @zt
Less than 1to2 2t03 Over 3
1 year years years years Total
ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
R-ZB==f At 31 December 2022
t=A=t-H
REEEBEER Expected credit loss rate 1.20% 15.00% 35.00%  100.00% 0.10%
FEAE Gross carrying amount 784,371 50,097 16,251 4,641 718,355 1,573,715
BEHEEEE Expected credit losses 2,592 6,392 1,487 4,641 718 15,830
R-B=--f% At 31 December 2021
+=A=+-H
HEHEEFRX Expected credit loss rate 127%  1500%  30.06%  100.00% 0.10%
FESE Gross carrying amount 318,378 20,442 875 844 711,005 1,051,544
BHEEER Expected credit losses 4,051 3,066 263 844 711 8,935
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25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND OTHER ASSETS

R+—A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E__F —E_—F
2022 2021
AREF T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B Current
TBRFIE Prepayments 215,820 170,979
e Deposits 48,331 26,870
H b fE O RIE Other receivables 547,261 181,170
JfE Ug BEEsE 5 7RIE (FisE35)  Amounts due from related parties (note 35) 610,031 548,639
1,421,443 927,658
BUE Impairment (10,950) (5,080)
1,410,493 922,578
EFRE Non-current
TET A Prepayments 1,451 3,758

Hi EYRIEAARBHE - AR
FEN AR BEREREERS - BYRE
=M EMREIRSEER - 28 A
BERER - BIREB T OEMKIASR
B BN L35 WE -

RS RENFEMNS @ AEEFTEHRA
BB ER - gt B 5 58 R E A
EWHIEmS @ AEBFERA - 898K
MR ZE EYGKIENEER R I & KR
o REREHR - ZSFEBHKESE
AEARE - StE12@FBHERE - RE
E-EFE-_—F+-_A=+—HILFER
N5 B 5T 5 pE U A EE 75 i B At FE U GRIB O
EHEEEIEBRA01% (T E-—F+ =
A=+—HB:01%)  &EFEHER - I
HATEEZBCEERELAR - EER
BEARE - BREL - BRRERREE
AR R TR - (R B R EENE =
FREMEWRRIBERNEREEER -

The other receivables were denominated in RMB, and
the fair value of other receivables approximated to their
carrying amounts. Other receivables with third parties
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable
on demand. Other receivables with related parties are
interest-free, details of which are disclosed in note 35.

For deposits and prepayments, the Group has assessed
that the loss allowance was minimal. For amounts due
from related parties and other receivables, the Group
has assessed that the credit risk of these receivables
has not increased significantly since initial recognition.
At the end of each reporting period, these receivables
were categorised in stage 1 and 12-month expected
losses are calculated. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group calculated the ECL rate
for other receivables from related parties as 0.1% (31
December 2021: 0.1%) by considering the default rates
and adjusting for forward-looking macroeconomic data.
A provision matrix was used to measure expected credit
losses for other receivables from third parties based on
the number of days past due, repayment history, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND OTHER ASSETS (continued)

set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s other receivables (except
for deposits and prepayments) using a provision
matrix:

ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTR ARBTR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

R-B-fF At 31 December 2022

+=A=t+-H
BHEEBEE Expected credit loss rate 1.20% 10.00%  20.00%  100.00% 0.10%
REAE Gross carrying amount 508,081 26,325 7,069 5,786 546,355 1,093,616
EHEEHE Expected credit losses 1,981 1,830 807 5,786 546 10,950
RZE=-F At 31 December 2021

+=A=t+-H
EHEEHEE Expected credit loss rate 1.00% 5.00% 15.00%  100.00% 0.10%
REAE Gross carrying amount 170,805 6,904 1,024 2,437 436,218 617,388
BHEEHE Expected credit losses 1,708 345 154 2,437 436 5,080
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PSR IE ., HABMERGRIE 2 .  25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
il ¥ 7 (4 ) AND OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Hith R WCRIE R E B EREN S BN T - The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of other receivables are as follows:

R+=—A=+—8

As at 31 December

ARBT T ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
REH At beginning of year 5,080 5,301
AR OREEIEEE) Impairment losses/(reversal of 5,870 (221)
impairment losses)
RER At end of year 10,950 5,080
B4 R B35 fEHY 26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
w+=—A=+—8”

As at 31 December

ARBETFT ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

W MIRTTH Cash and bank balances 12,722,781 13,926,958
YN RMB 12,690,267 13,869,695
BT Hong Kong dollar 31,934 57,182
ETT United States dollar 580 81
B RREIRITIFR Less: Restricted bank deposits (129,949) (228,720)

RERRESFEY Cash and cash equivalents 12,592,832 13,698,238
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26.

Bl e BB FEY (&)

RBEHR  AEEUARBE
NESEBRTEBSEAARE
12,690,267,000L (ZE=—F+=A=
+—8 : AR#¥13,869,695,0007T) ° A
RETAERALBRAEMEY - A 1B
15 R B Pt ) OB T A1) ) R KB BE
EERNEEERT)  AEBEESR
BREEITINEEBMRITHARE 1R
BEHMEE -

RITHEERNET BRITIEN R F B F
KR - RITEREROHY BEOE
SENEBREMNERT - RERREEHEY
MEmEEEAABERS -

EZRAEBBIAEE  A&BETAA
ARBIMNEERNCHREEE (—%HE
BIZH-ZF])WRBEFAEBEDER
BHETRITERRS - XRFIBS R T
E{SAE R BT SR P L A2 B R A5 8
MENBERRRN R _ZT-_—_F+_A
=+t—H ZEXRHBELEAEAR
96,120,000 (ZE - —F : ARK
198,410,0007T) ° ZPRHIRITHFRITE
BER-_ZE-—F#+-A=+—HB&EAA
R¥2370,0000t (Z = —F : AR¥
5,490,00070) W{ER AR EZEEZHED
WEFRERBERZSEZZF+=-A=
+T—HE£EARARYG6,028,000L (=F
——%F: AR¥1,562,0007T) H{ER A
RIE S HEENER MRS -

RZEZ_ZF+ZA=+—H " ' AE
#19,445,000 (ZEZ—F : ARK
23,258,0007T) W ERITIF RE LA S E —
MM E AR EME L RGEIBIERE
R o

26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to RMB12,690,267,000 (31 December
2021. RMB13,869,695,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorized to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash
and cash equivalents approximated to their fair values.

In accordance with relevant government requirements,
certain companies of the Group are required to place
the amounts received from the SOE Reform Projects,
commonly known as the “Three Supplies and Property
Management Projects”, in designated bank accounts
for the constructions of the related properties. The
restricted cash can only be used for payments for
construction costs of the relevant properties when
approval from the related government authority
has been obtained. As at 31 December 2022, such
restricted cash amounted to RMB96,120,000 (2021:
RMB198,410,000). The restricted bank deposits also
included cash of RMB2,370,000 as at 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB5,490,000) received from property
owners that is restricted to use in construction of
properties and cash of RMB6,028,000 as at 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB1,562,000) restricted to
use for projects managed on commission basis.

Bank deposits of RMB19,445,000 were deposited
as security as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB23,258,000), for the brokerage service
conducted by a subsidiary of the Group.
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27. L EAZKIE 27. TRADE PAYABLES

Rt+=—A=t—H

As at 31 December
—E__F —E-—F
2022 2021
AR¥ETTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

2 S ENRIA Trade payables

Fat 77 (M13E35) Related parties (note 35) 113,665 119,295
F=H Third parties 1,225,680 719,820
1,339,345 839,115

B REMNFIEENEEQHNER ST The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on

T the invoice date is as follows:
w+=Z—A=+—8”

As at 31 December
—E__F —E_—F
2022 2021
ARKETTT AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
1F R Within 1 year 1,208,093 763,544
1824 1to 2 years 89,714 54,079
234 2 to 3 years 22,151 12,617
3FLE Over 3 years 19,387 8,875
1,339,345 839,115

BHRNFREASELERN 2B R—KRN

QORAEEE °

The trade payables are unsecured,

non-interest-

bearing and are normally settled within 90 days.
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28. At EATKIE B T £

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

R+=ZA=+—8©
As at 31 December
> =Sy B
2022 2021
ARKETTT AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
HMENFRIBRERER Other payables and accruals
Rt 77 (M15E35) Related parties (note 35) 258,566 316,061
E=F Third parties 2,063,464 1,496,602
2,322,030 1,812,663
FEFTAR B Dividend payable
maut 7 (M13E35) Related parties (note 35) 611,603 =
B=H Third parties 218,023 =
829,626 -
AN a Salaries payable 1,320,080 867,608
BNERRTIS A B B PASNEY Tax payables other than current 179,331 127,042
FERIBEIE income tax liabilities
4,651,067 2,807,313

56 =07 HO B AL FE 5 3R

AN e B RS

BER - RERARBNRERE - FIAEM
BBt T EMENFERRE - R
35 ©

ENE=ZFRBERER_E-__F+=A
=t+—HR[BECHEEER ] (HF26)E
BAH FE (T 3R IB A R #96,120,0000T (=&
——% : AR#¥198,410,00070) KA =
S oF+ A=t —HEEFEREH
R FERRIEARK 2,370,000 (ZE =
—4& : AR#¥5,490,0007T) °

Other payables and accruals with third parties are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on
demand. All Other payables with related parties are
interest-free, details of which are disclosed in note
35.

The amount due to third parties includes the
payable related to “SOE Reform Projects” (note 26
of RMB96,120,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB198,410,000) and the payable of RMB2,370,000
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB5,490,000)
related to construction of property owners.
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wh SR T K 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS
AEBRITEENGRRFBRINNT - Details of the terms of the Group’s bank borrowings
as set out below:
—g-=% —B-—%
2021
AR (%) MR ARETL BRFIE (%) IgME  AR®TE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
RITER — BER - - - BARTAE —ZT-=F 801,249
#5+0.65
BARITRZE
#E+1.65
Bank loans-unsecured = = = HIBOR+0.65 2022 801,249
HIBOR +1.65
RZEBEZ—F+ZA=+—8 ' £&£ER As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings
TEESEAARYS01,249,000 7T LA amounting to RMB801,249,000 are denominated in
TLETHE - R ER W EZGR  EH Hong Kong dollars. CR Land and China Resources
BEMREH(EE)BERAR ([EH (K (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”) are required to
E) ) BRZEFEBATRS I EEKE hold, directly or indirectly, not less than 51% and 35%,
BERBTLRE1% R35% A AT H# respectively, of the issued share capital of the Company
FTARAR o at any time during the period of the loan in accordance
with the terms of the respective loan agreements.
JBEA 30. SHARE CAPITAL
R+=—A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E-F —E-—F
2022 2021
AREEFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JETE ¢ Authorised:
5,000,000,000R% (ZZ=—% : 5,000,000,000 (2021: 5,000,000,000) 338 338
5,000,000,000 %) HREE ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each
0.000013E7T 2 & i A%
EETRAR Issued and fully paid:
2,282,500,000/% (ZZ ——% : 2,282,500,000 (2021: 2,282,500,000) 152 152

2,282,500,000/%) R EE ordinary shares at US$0.00001 each

0.00001 37T 2 & ik




2606 | #mEx4EERAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

2
%F/\

7 W05 o B vk

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31.

fiti i

AEERAFERENFENRERER
HEPNUWBBRROGAEREPIRE
5] o

AEENAHFHEBEASEREE
TEEB ARSI E A
B 5 LR T B KA B BT EY
REZHEESE -

REFERRDEMEEAREAEZ
HEER  RPBEEMOE 2T
REIBI0% RETE ARG E
A TE BV BR TR AR N 205 TE B BRI
e HEEEIEIMERNS50%R
Ik - EEEZREARARERED
BB D IRATIEDL

EEBBRFEREA/TANER - FRIFR
BRZ B R BAGIFAEE TR
MRR - AT RFRERETEEXE
A BB BAS]

31.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

The merger reserve of the Group represents
the difference between the aggregate of the
paid-up share capital of the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group and the consideration
paid by the Group for the business
combination under common control.

In accordance with the Company Law of
the PRC and the respective articles of
association of the group companies, each of
the companies that is domiciled in the PRC
is required to allocate 10% of its profit after
tax, as determined in accordance with PRC
GAAP, to the statutory surplus reserve until
the reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before the distribution of a dividend to
shareholders.

The statutory surplus reserve is non-
distributable except that in the event of
liguidation where it can be used to offset
accumulated losses or be capitalised as
paid-up capital, subject to certain restrictions
set out in the relevant PRC regulations.
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ESvEe s

RZZEZZF=H AEERE=SFWKE
BMNIEREER AR ([&M]) 100% 5%
- RESERENRE  BBRERES
EARERRIMEETENURARE - &
MR B EBTIRER -

RZE_—_FWNA  AEEREF=H
WEEAMTFRDEREBRA A
(T AM ) s1% iz - RERARYE
33,439,0007T ° W) LMt EMEEE
X% o REEDEBIRBIFERERG Y
JMAMATER R EEFE 2 L hIETET)I N
Mz JEIERR S -

R-ZB-_—_FFHA AEERE=7TK
BHARLMEARAR ([ABERE])
M1 EMERBAER AR ([NTE#FF
M1)100% s  RERRRENKE &
BAEIEZERRERIMEEFED
FARE - MRRETIHTERENE
EIEER

WEEERAKENTEBREYEREE
EBREE 2 HR—IRMFH -
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BUSINESS COMBINATION

In March 2022, the Group acquired a 100% interest
in Yuzhou Property Services Co., Ltd. (“Yuzhou")
from third parties at a consideration including cash
consideration, debt assumption and contingent
consideration based on the actual delivery progress
of the managed areas. Yuzhou is engaged in the
property management business.

In April 2022, the Group acquired a 51% interest
in Sichuan Jiuzhou Qiancheng Property Services
Co. LTD (“Sichuan Jiuzhou") from third parties at a
consideration of RMB33,439,000. Sichuan Jiuzhou is
engaged in the property management business. The
Group has elected to measure the non-controlling
interest in Sichuan Jiuzhou at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of Sichuan Jiuzhou’s
identifiable net assets.

In May 2022, the Group acquired a 100% interest
in Nantong Changle Property Co. Ltd. (“Nantong
Changle”) and Jiangsu Zhongnan Property Services
Co. Ltd. (“Jiangsu Zhongnan”) from third parties at
a consideration including cash consideration, debt
assumption and contingent consideration based
on the actual delivery progress of the managed
areas. Nantong Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan are
engaged in the property management business.

The acquisitions were made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its property management
operation in the PRC.
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32. FEHOUHA) 32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
RE R B EERBENAREBE The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities at
wm the acquisition date are as follows:

EBERER

=Pl 7911 UM g Ll

Nantong

Changle

Sichuan and Jiangsu

Yuzhou Jiuzhou Zhongnan

ARBEFIT ARBEFTT ARBEFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ME - WE LR Property, plant and equipment 4,816 123 9,891

FAEEE Right-of-use assets 1,301 - 10,824

mEEE Intangible assets 435,186 16,400 981,730

R—EEE AR ZRE Investment in an associate - - 370

EERRIBE E Deferred tax assets 6,758 48 15,153
TERTFIE « HAfEUWERIER  Prepayments, other receivables

Hh&E and other assets 235,163 26,437 506,256

"ma Inventories - - 1,328

BHREWGHIEREWREE  Trade and bill receivables 134,008 4,217 260,816

ZBRHIIRITER Restricted bank deposits 10,850 - 558

ReRIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 41,801 52 128,775

HibEFIBREFER  Other payables and accruals (248,561) (4,531) (390,704)

HERE Lease liabilities (1,449) - (7,148)

RIENIREE Deferred tax liabilities (108,225) (2,460) (243,750)

EORMNFIERENZEE  Trade and bills payables (67,529) (1,534) (253,368)

FERTREIE Tax payable (5,376) - -

ERABE Contract liabilities (145,876) (13,738) (342,384)

292,867 25,014 678,347

JEFE AR SR Non-controlling interests (6,074) (12,257) (85)

W R P2 Goodwill on acquisition 630,763 20,682 1,153,274

917,556 33,439 1,831,536
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B0 &) 32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
HMERER
M 91 AU TETE
Nantong
Changle
Sichuan and Jiangsu
Yuzhou Jiuzhou Zhongnan
ARBTTT ARBTTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EEERE - Consideration transferred,
LATRBI 75 AE AT satisfied by:
ReRIREEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 582,615 33,439 818,076
F A e S R Other payables 102,365 - 293,396
RAnBEFEEEE Contingent consideration for a
FTAE BEEL financial liability at fair value
EREBENHIARE through profit or loss 232,576 - 720,064
917,556 33,439 1,831,536

AREE YRS B BRI E N R AORE
AECUMBNEERE - ERBEERS
REERENESEAE A TUHABUR
BRAE E AR TIG IR E A o

ERWIEHZEN—&5 - WETKE &
N BRREXTHTHERER@E (A
XEMER / LERERREMK) BE
RITHEEFT 2T HARE - ZVIERH
&5 A ARKI52 640,000t FRAITE
RenEilET  BREZRAAEER
2 ZRESBEBRBHENFKEEER
BMABKE—R - RS BmRERIER
B EEREBYEAMERES -

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities
using the present value of the remaining lease
payments at the date of acquisition. The right-of-use
assets were measured at an amount equal to the
lease liabilities and adjusted to reflect the favourable
terms of the leases relative to market terms.

As part of the purchase agreement, contingent
consideration is payable, which is dependent on the
actual delivery progress of the managed areas (as
converted from secured areas and/or contracted
areas) of Yuzhou, Nantong Changle and Jiangsu
Zhongnan subsequent to the acquisition. The initial
amount recognised was RMB952,640,000 which
was determined using the discounted cash flow
model and is within Level 3 fair value measurement.
The consideration will be settled every six months
in accordance with the payment schedule in the
purchase agreement. At the date of approval of
these financial statements, no further significant
changes to the consideration are expected.
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32. XEBGUHE) 32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

ERREEIERERASEEHNEE The goodwill recognised is primarily attributed to
R B 188 B 5 2R H) T8 AR 17 R as J B the expected synergies and other benefits from
b FzE - AR ECBRE B RAEH combining the assets and activities of property
Al FHIR ° management with those of the Group. None of the

goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible

for income tax purposes.
FRANBEBEz2HeRESTWOT - Analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of business are as follows:

FERER
=M gl | L%
Nantong
Changle
Sichuan and Jiangsu
Yuzhou Jiuzhou Zhongnan
ARBTFL  ARBTL ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RERE Cash consideration (582,615) (33,439) (818,076)
FriERIR e MIRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents
acquired 41,801 52 128,775
REMRSZEYR T FE  Net outflow of cash and
cash equivalents (540,814) (83,387) (689,301)

WK% REE-Z-__F+=-A=+—
BItEE - &N WA EBERER
/Iﬁﬂhﬁq‘érﬂm%l%mauﬂz)\a%w\ﬁﬁﬁ
1,474,588,0007t MM & m A ERIAR
#108,271,0007T °

After the acquisitions, Yuzhou, Sichuan Jiuzhou,
Nantong Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan
contributed RMB1,474,588,000 to the Group’s
consolidated revenue and RMB108,271,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December
2022.

MkEEENRE _SE-_—_F+_A=+
—BIFEVET REBEE-_T-—_F+
“AZ+—BLFE  AEBRAKRAKRE

Had the acquisitions taken place at the beginning
of the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue
from the Group and the profit of the Group for

EEFED R A AR12,485,654,000
TRAREE?2 135,755,0007T °

the year ended 31 December 2022 would have
been RMB12,485,654,000 and RMB2,135,755,000,
respectively.
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33. ZAH&EeREERNEE 33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FRN - AEERBEMZHENE During the year, the Group had non-
ExH FHGTRAREEREES cash additions to right-of-use assets and
BEMNIERESEMIAIR/AR lease liabilities of RMB57,942,000 (2021:
#57,942,000t (ZE=Z—F : RMB50,563,000) and RMB1,102,968,000
AR#50,563,0007T) R AR (2021: RMB50,563,000), respectively, in
1,102,968,000 0 (—Z&E = —4 : respect of lease arrangements for plant and
AR®50,563,0007T) © equipment.

Hfth P& 13 5K H HEAE FFREE

Interest-
Other Lease Bearing
payables liabilities borrowings

ARBTT AR®TT ARETRT
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB’000

R-ZE-_—_F—H—H At 1 January 2022 44,446 1,358,470 801,249
MmEReREY Changes from financing
cash flows - (140,982) (846,463)
FMERAX Interest expense - 82,451 -
Hih IR & Other non-cash movements - 1,101,778 -
T &= B &) Foreign exchange rate changes - - 45,214
i —— At 31 December 2022
+=-A=+—8 44,446 2,401,717 -
R-ZE-——#—A—A At 1 January 2021 225,073 1,382,372 521,815
MmEReRER Changes from financing
cash flows (220,636)  (125,064) 321,080
FBEMAXZ Interest expense = 66,427 =
HihIFR S &8 Other non-cash movements 40,009 34,735 =
e 3= A & Foreign exchange rate changes = = (41,646)
RZTEZ—F At 31 December 2021

+=-—A=+—8 44,446 1,358,470 801,249
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33. HOHETERMEE(E) 33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(continued)

(c) HERESRHAR (c) Total cash outflow for leases
ARESRERNEER SR LB The total cash outflow for leases included in
BT ¢ the statement of cash flows is as follows:

BET-A=+—ALFE

Year ended 31 December

ARBT T ARBETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
ETERENA Within operating activities 44,621 42,760
MEEBHA Within financing activities 140,982 125,064
185,603 167,824

34. KA 34. COMMITMENTS
REEEFTNERNGE M BRKTIEL The Group has following material commitments
BENEAREDOT which are contracted for but not provided in the

consolidated financial statements:

HET-_A=T—HILFE

Year ended 31 December

ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BENATEHEMNERRY Capital expenditure in respect of:
—HEEIRE — Construction in progress 50,686 17,838
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES

The ultimate holding company is CRCL and
the immediate holding company is CR Land.

In addition to the transactions detailed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the
Group had the following transactions with
related parties during the year:

HE+TZA=+T—HBILLFE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
ARKEFTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEMETE ML ERE Residential property management
and value-added services
YEEIRIRS Property management services
— R A A R E B - The ultimate holding company
ARl ([EHER]) RE and its subsidiaries (the “CRH
B NREE B Group”), and its associates
(TEFEEHENEER) and joint ventures (excluding
the CR Land Group) 129,564 38,175
— BEEERAR REN B — The immediate holding
ARI((EHEREE]) - company and its subsidiaries
AR ENT] (the “CR Land Group”), joint
venture and associates 235,450 229,482
365,014 267,657
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35. PBAWK )T AR (&) 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)
HEt_-_A=1+—RALEE
Year ended 31 December
—_ET=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
ARKETFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RIEE E AL ERTS Value-added services to
non-property owners
—EHEEREBEAT — The CRH Group and its
HMELRE (T associates and joint ventures
EHEMEH) (excluding the CR Land
Group) 123 1,123
—EHBHMER RS — The CR Land Group and its
NAEHEAGEDE associates and joint ventures 664,047 765,355
664,170 766,478
4AEEHIBERTS Value-added services for
property owners
—EHEEMEBE QT - The CRH Group and its
MELERE (T associates and joint ventures
EHEMWEE) (excluding the CR Land
Group) 18,059 454
—EHEMEE R HEE - The CR Land Group and its
NEEEERE associates and joint ventures 104,344 68,921
122,403 69,375
PEMENEEELNYE  Commercial operational
ERRELE RS and property management
and operational services for
commercial properties
—EHEENREBEAT — The CRH Group and its
MELRE (TBIE associates and joint ventures
EHEMEH) (excluding the CR Land
Group) 39,532 60,541
— R B B N HE - The CR Land Group and its
REHEEERE associates and joint ventures 1,794,408 1,560,726

1,833,940

1,621,267
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

AND BALANCES (continued)

BHE+TA=+—HILLFE

Year ended 31 December

—_ET=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
AR¥ETFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
PWAMENMEETIEIRTY  Property management services for
office properties
—EHEENEBE AT - The CRH Group and its
HeEhE (T aE associates and joint ventures
EHEMEE) (excluding the CR Land Group) 208,799 214,576
—EHEMEENLEBZ - The CR Land Group and its
NEHEEEE associates and joint ventures 565,251 505,422
774,050 719,998
BEEmERE Purchases of goods and services
—ER 3’§I&ﬁﬁuv§®ﬂ — The CRH Group and its
SEPE(TEE associates and joint ventures
%x%%ﬁﬂ%l) (excluding the CR Land Group) 100,249 59,039
—EHEMEENEBKZ - The CR Land Group and its
NEHEEEE associates and joint ventures 291,664 192,262
391,913 251,301
BEWXE  BELERE Purchases of property, plant and
equipment
—EHEMEBERHEBEZL - The CR Land Group and its
NEEEGERE associates and joint ventures - 261,901
HBERFEE Purchases of intangible assets
—EHEWEBKERHEBEE - The CR Land Group and its
NREEG R associates and joint ventures - 116,007
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35. PBAWK )T AR (&) 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)
HE+-ZA=T—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
—E-—F —E——F
2022 2021
ARKETFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FERX Interest expenses
—EHEEREBEAT — The CRH Group and its 14 22
HAEZDPE (TEE associates and joint ventures
FEHEMEE) (excluding the CR Land Group)
—EHEMEENREEZ - The CR Land Group and its 844 3,160
NAEEEERE associates and joint ventures
858 3,182
TREEERE Additions of right-of-use assets
—EHEENEBE AT - The CRH Group and its - 387
HAEZEPE (TEE associates and joint ventures
FEHEMEE) (excluding the CR Land Group)
—FHEMEBENEBYZ - The CR Land Group and its 8,726 18,873
NSRS associates and joint ventures
8,726 19,260




35. [T 22 5 Be&liteR (4 )

a) RIBEBRITRODARAF
(TERRT] > RAEENF
RIB AT HIFRK °

RZEZZF+=ZA=+—
A REeEMBITEBBEARSE
EFHARERBITIHERAR
#371,837,000c (=T = —
F: AR¥415,600,0007T) °
BHE-_T-_—_F+=-fA=+—
BILFE ZEERELENE
FMEWAR/ARE1,310,000
T(ZEZ—F : AR
1,246,0007T) °

b) ®-E-——4%-A-HE-%
ZZF+ZA=+—HBL B
RPMEEELBEFEAERE
B PAE o

EtBRT B R E A3 5 B TR IRET A
77 KRR E M IRKEE -

LB TR (TREHEEREE M)
MBI R AT R L MR AE14AETE
MBEERXZFRFERERS ©
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)

Notes:

a) Deposits with Zhuhai China Resources Bank
Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”), a fellow subsidiary of
the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, cash and
bank balances included deposits of
RMB371,837,000 (2021: RMB415,600,000)
which were made by the Group to CR Bank.
The aggregate interest income arising from
such deposits amounted to RMB1,310,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB1,246,000).

b) From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022,
Mixc Commercial was entitled to use some
trademarks of CR Land for free.

The prices for the above service fees and other
transactions were determined in accordance with
the terms mutually agreed by the contracted parties.

The related party transactions listed above
excluding addition of lease liabilities also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Rules
Governing of the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.
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35. P TTRR 5 Pe stk (4 ) 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)

BHET-A=T—HLHFE

Year ended 31 December

B2 F B —F
2022 2021
ARKEFTT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JiE UK B Bt 5 Bk IE Receivables from related parties
Z 5 EWGRIE R ERRE Trade and bill receivables
—EHEEMEBE QT — The CRH Group and its
HEEPE (TEE associates and joint ventures
EHEMEE) (excluding the CR Land
Group) 71,010 71,541
—EHEMEE R HEE - The CR Land Group and its
NREEGERE associates and joint ventures 647,345 639,464
718,355 711,005
JENFIE - HibEUWFKIEK  Prepayments, other receivables
Hih&E and other assets
—EHEENABE QT — The CRH Group and its
HAEZEPE (TEE associates and joint ventures
EHEMEE) (excluding the CR Land
Group) 42,627 32,067
—EHEMERE K HEE — The CR Land Group and its
NEHEGERE associates and joint ventures
(TEREEHEMRE (excluding China Resources
BRATR) Land Investment Limited) 567,404 516,572
610,031 548,639
JE 1< BB 5 kIR Payables to related parties
B S RIE Trade payables
—EHEENMEBE QT — The CRH Group and its
HEEPE (TEE associates and joint ventures
EHEMEE) (excluding the CR Land
Group) 25,539 37,746
—EHEMEE R HEE - The CR Land Group and its
NRIEGERE associates and joint ventures 88,126 81,549
113,665 119,295
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)

HE+T-A=T—HLHFE

Year ended 31 December

—EBE-F — B —F
2022 2021
AREEFTT AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HaERERERTER Other payables and accruals
— EHEBEREBEQT — The CRH Group and its
HEEPE (TaE associates and joint ventures
EHEMEE) (excluding the CR Land Group) 88,426 21,149
—EHEMWEE R HEE — The CR Land Group and its
NRIEEG SR associates and joint ventures 781,743 294,912
870,169 316,061
aR&E Contract liabilities
— EHEBEREBEQT — The CRH Group and its
HEEPE (TEE associates and joint ventures
EHEHEE) (excluding the CR Land Group) 3,619 2,812
—EHEMEBKERHEBZ - The CR Land Group and its
RIEEERE associates and joint ventures 67,723 54,257
71,342 57,069
HEAE (M) Lease liabilities (Note (i)
—EREERHEBE R — The CRH Group and its
HEEPE (TEE associates and joint ventures
EHEMEE) (excluding the CR Land Group) 261 382
—EHEMWEE R HEE — The CR Land Group and its
NRIHEEG R associates and joint ventures 34,181 48,413
34,442 48,795
(i) FA - -HENKRAEARE (i) The lease payment during the year amounted

23,967,000t - R=ZT ==
+ZA=+—8  AEEHEZ
EHEARMMzERREE
AARE21,302,000T (=%
Z—F+ZA=+—H: AR
#40,402,0007T) °

to RMB23,967,000. As at 31 December
2022, the Group’s right-of-use assets
relating to such rental contracts amounted
to RMB21,302,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB40,402,000).
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36. L HIEI SR T H 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

BHESMIAR-_Z_—_FR-_F_—F The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

REOBEEEWT financial instruments as at the end of 2022 and 2021

are as follows:

THEE Financial Assets REERATENSREE
Financial assets at amortised cost
R+=ZA=+—8H
As at 31 December
> =Sy —E-—F
2022 2021
AREFTT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
H 5 eI GRIE & B W ik Trade and bill receivables 1,557,885 1,042,609
FIAFER RIS - EfEUGIE Financial assets included in prepayments, 1,082,666 612,308
REMEENEREE other receivables and other assets
ZIREIERITIF R Restricted bank deposits 129,949 228,720
HekBeZEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 12,592,832 13,698,238
EHER Time deposits 2,558,608 2,474,608

17,921,940 18,056,483
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36. S E Sy <l TH (4] ) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)
R-BZZ=F+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2022
BAREE
STERHS2H
STAEHES
NemeE
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through profit
SREE Financial liabilities or loss
RYAERE REERATE
BEA A =R He
Designated Financial
as such liabilities at
upon initial amortised
recognition cost Total
ARET R ARET ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B HENTIE Trade payables - 1,339,345 1,339,345
I N E At A 5RIB K2 Financial liabilities included
BiTERANSREE in other payables and accruals - 3,119,844 3,119,844
BRAAEAEFEABEEH A Financial liabilities at fair value
EHEENERAE through profit or loss 390,860 - 390,860
HEARE Lease liabilities - 2,401,717 2,401,717
390,860 6,860,906 7,251,766
R=B=-%+=H=+—H As at 31 December 2021
RE KR
AENERAE
Financial
liabilities at
TRAE Financial liabilities amortised cost
ARBET T
RMB’000
B 5N RIE Trade payables 839,115
BI) A ELAth JE A< R IR & Financial liabilities included in other
ErrERAnemAas payables and accruals 1,782,812
HEAE Lease liabilities 1,358,470
FFERITER Interest-bearing bank borrowings 801,249

4,781,646
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37.

< il Y 7 B < L £ Ao R

R-ZEB-_—_F+=-A=+—H
RIBFEEN BERAREMIGTEMNE
FUEBERADIYMNEE RS  A5EA
BEELAIRGIBITE  LENTERH
BEREREEEKE T R EBRE T AR
- WEERWFEAAGEE -

37.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022

Pursuant to the purchase agreement with the sellers
of Yuzhou, Nantong Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan
(the “Sellers”), The Group has a legally enforceable
right to offset the amounts due from the Sellers and
their related parties from the purchase consideration
payable to the Sellers and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis.

FREECHEASEM B AT E N The effect of the netting arrangements on the
™ Group's financial position is as below:
TREFEZHNEH
Amounts subject to enforceable netting
arrangements
BEMRR  TTRHEE  MHERRR
BeE ik ERRE  TUMNEHE @zt
Net amounts ~ Amounts not
reported in subject to
the statement  enforceable Statement
Gross Amounts of financial netting of financial
amounts offset position  arrangements  position total
AR¥TR  ARETR  AR%TR  AR®Tr  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
SREE Financial assets
L ENTE R ENZE Trade and bill receivables 544,183 (544,183) - 1,557,885 1,557,885
SREE Financial liabilities
BRABEHEEREHHA  Financial liabilities at fair value
EMEGNERERE through profit or loss 935,043 (544,183) 390,860 - 390,860

RZB-_—F+-A=+—RH AKEY
BRI - TR EFREL T AL
HONEREERERARE -

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no financial
assets and financial liabilities, which were subject to
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements
and similar agreements.
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonable approximate to fair values, are as follows:

IREE AREE
Carrying amounts Fair values
—E-_F —ZT-——F =B —ZT-——%
2022 2021 2022 2021
ARBTRT ARETT AR®TR ARBTET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
TRAE Financial liabilities
BAREEFEHE Financial liabilities at fair value
BEETAEHIBE  through profit or loss
ol az =R 390,860 - 390,860 —
EEENERA BaekRaeSEY - 7 Management has assessed that the fair values of

AN FAREMEYGREAN S BEE
B RUHAREKER - BHRNFR
EIARMENFALEFERNSRE
BEOAABEEARAERES  ET2EH
RzE T AN HRFEERE -

AEBEMBEHM(HERVBEERE)AE
BETemITAAREBEFENBRREE
FeREREAY  MBEKESTEHMT
AEEES  ITETHEERNEIEGHA
g - AERERVBEERRILE -

EHIER
HEHFAEHEENERABENAAE
ETER G - EERR MERT B
BUW T AR AIESHNRREHRAR
KREREMAE -R_F-_—_FR-F
——%+Z-A=+—H8  BXEEF@A
BHRITREMERNTRORBRERNQ
REBEEHRAE/LTEK -

cash and cash equivalents, financial assets included
in prepayments and other receivables, and trade
and bill receivables, trade payables and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group'’s finance department headed by the chief
financial officer is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement
of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the
finance manager analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of time deposits, lease liabilities and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 were assessed to be insignificant.
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38.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

The Group did not have any financial assets
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

Liabilities measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2022

ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BRRABEAEEEEZHAA  Financial liabilities at fair value
EHERNERER through profit or loss - - 390,860 390,860
FR - B=RAREEFTENESHUT : The movements in fair value measurements within

Level 3 during the year are as follows:

ARBFT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

ZAREBEFEHEEZSEHFT A Financial liabilities at fair value through

EHBEENERAE profit or loss:

m—HA—H At 1 January = =
0 Addition 952,640 -
FRCEY Non-cash movement (561,780) -
R+ZA=+—H At 31 December 390,860 -
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AABEAERANERTAERE AR
B(F=F) cEEERMAT :

R+=A=+-H
TRIBE MR REE
Financial Fair value as at
liabilities 31 December
—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
ARBFTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HARE 390,860 -
Contingent 390,860 =

consideration

38.
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Quantitative information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) is as
follow:

ARBERR AERNRERHARE

Fair value

hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs

F=M FRBFEM KRRF2NZBREEEE (AXE@E
%/ SeRABGRENRK) BB #ERBERRE
HWFHEERBEFIEFTE -
FREL/1%HNEEBR DA BERD ARE
21,824,0007T / AR BEEMARE 27,757,000 °

Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are based

on actual delivery progress of the managed areas
(as converted from secured areas and/or contracted
areas), discounted at a rate that reflects the credit
risk of various counterparties.

A change in discount rate +/- 1% results in a
decrease in fair value by RMB21,824,000/an
increase in fair value by RMB27,757,000.

$¢§'§@ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ{ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ
BEEF-MEF_HMOER - TE
ZENEARBLE (T —F &) -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and
no transfer into or out of Level 3 for both financial
assets and financial liabilities (2021: Nil).
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly
include restricted bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade
and other payables, which arise directly from its
operations. The Group has other financial assets
and liabilities such as lease liabilities, and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the
Group introduces conservative strategies on its
risk management. To keep the Group’s exposure to
these risks to a minimum, the Group has not used
any derivatives and other instruments for hedging
purposes. The Group does not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below:

The Group is not exposed to material interest rate
risk as the Group has no long term debt obligations
with a floating interest rate.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by
operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the Group's
sensitivity at the end of each year to a reasonably
possible change in the HK$ and US$ exchange
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax.

BT ETER RR%E A E F
EFH (T ER) B, OR)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in HK$/US$ rate in profit before tax
% ARETT
% RMB’000
—E-__F+=ZH=+—H 31 December 2022
i AREE B TTRZE If RMB weakens against HK$ 5 (1,597)
i AR W AT HHE If RMB strengthens against HK$ (5) 1,597
M AREHETRE If RMB weakens against US$ 5 55
WARBEETHAE If RMB strengthens against US$ (5) (55)
—ZE-_—f+=-H=+—H 31 December 2021
i AR HABTRE If RMB weakens against HK$ 5 37,203
i AR W AT HE If RMB strengthens against HK$ (5) (37,203)
i AR R ETRE If RMB weakens against US$ 5 4
i AR N ETHE If RMB strengthens against US$ (5) (4)
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
trade and bill receivables and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank
deposits.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with cash and cash equivalents and
restricted bank deposits since they are substantially
deposited at state-owned banks and other medium
or large-sized listed banks. Management does not
expect that there will be any significant losses from
non-performance by these counterparties.

The Group expects that the credit risk associated
with trade and bill receivables and other receivables
due from related parties to be low, since the related
parties have strong capacity to meet contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term.

The Group trades only with recognised and credit
worthy third parties. Concentrations of credit risk
are managed by analysis by customer/counterparty.
There are no significant concentrations of credit
risk within the Group as the customer bases of
the Group’s trade and bill receivables and other
receivables are widely dispersed. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis.
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RZB-ZF+=A=1+—-B Asat 31 December 2022

B HRUF B ENE R Trade and bill receivables*
FINERZUE - EtEYWFIE  Financial assets included in

REMEENSREE prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

—EE™ - Normal**
RBHRITFER Restricted bank deposits

— HAEH — Not yet past due
ReRBeEEY Cash and cash equivalents

— HABH — Not yet past due
EHER Time deposits

— HRBH - Not yet past due
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.

+=@A
BHEEER EEGENESBEESE
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F-BR E-KR  EZER 5% st
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

ARBTRE ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000

1,557,885 1,557,885

1,082,666 - - - 1,082,666
129,949 = = = 129,949
12,592,832 = = - 12,592,832
2,558,608 - - - 2,558,608

16,364,055 = 1,557,885 17,921,940
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<2l B B E R R R ()

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
=1 A
R-ZE-—%F+-A=+—H Asat31 December 2021 BHEEBE BEFENRHEEEE
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
—Be  EZRRE  E=ER E5% Bt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
BHRWTERERER" Trade and bill receivables® - - - 1,042,609 1,042,609
FINERZUE - EbEYWFUE  Financial assets included in
REMEENSREE prepayments, other receivables
and other assets
— = - Normal** 612,308 - - - 612,308
RRHRITER Restricted bank deposits
— A ~ Not yet past due 228,720 - = - 228720
RekBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents
- HABH — Not yet past due 13,698,238 - - - 13,698,238
EHER Time deposits
— HABH —Not yet past due 2,474,608 = = ~ 2,474,608
17,013,874 - - 1,042,609 18,056,483
* RAEBEARAESZETRENES * For trade and bill receivables to which the Group

*x

EEFERERRETNS  EREE
TR ERRER Y REME24 -

FUAFEN IR - H A EUCRIA R B A
EENSREAENCEEEZELER
HATERENBTEREREENE
5 R b B 956 T RO B K08 38 00 B 1
BRIEE] - B[R eRMEENEE
BRFGEHIAIRR] -

*%

applies the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by management
and directors when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer terms.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each year of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.
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39. &ilml b B H B B R (4 ) 39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
1FERL
BEX 122 255 5ELE st
Within
1 year or 1t02 2t05 Over
on demand years years 5 years Total

ARBTRL ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ZE--F+=-H=1+-H 31 December 2022

HEBE Lease liabilities 156,121 217,670 603,190 2,638,657 3,615,638
BHERTE Trade payables 1,339,345 - - - 1,339,345
FIANEfENFIEREER Financial liabilities included

ok Y=LrT in other payables and accruals 3,119,844 - - - 3,119,844
BRABEFEBEEFH A Financial liabilities at fair value

EHERNERARE through profit or loss - 131,776 347,027 10,920 489,723

4,615,310 349,446 950,217 2,649,577 8,564,550

1ER
REX 1526 2E5F 5L E et
Within
1 year or 1t0 2 2to b Over
on demand years years 5 years Total

ARBTT ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETRL
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

“E--F+ZH=1+-H 31 December 2021

FERITER Interest-bearing bank borrowings 806,156 = = = 806,156
HEAE Lease liabilities 143,876 109,687 292,283 1,619,547 2,165,393
B HENTIR Trade payables 839,115 = = = 839,115
PINEHMEMFUARENER  Financial liabilities included in

REeRaR other payables and accruals 1,782,812 = = - 1,782,812

3,571,959 109,687 292,283 1,619,547 5,593,476
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

The Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance.

The directors of the Company review the liability-to-
asset ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total
assets, on a continuous basis, taking into account
the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the raising of new
debts as well as the redemption of the existing
debts, and manage the liability to asset ratio. The
Group’s overall strategy remained unchanged
during the year.

RZBEZZFRZT—FRNBEHEE The liability-to-asset ratios at the end of 2022 and
ELLENMT : 2021 are as follows:
R+=—RA=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
AREET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
wEE Total assets 25,837,842 21,591,922
BERE Total liabilities 11,512,110 7,702,897
BEREELX Liability-to-asset ratio 44.6% 35.7%
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40. AR a]BIRTLR 40. STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

BRAARAHERRMBIRRE 2 BRI

1S 8 of the Company at the end of the reporting period is
as follows:
R+=—A=+—8
As at 31 December
—E-F —E-—F
2022 2021
AR¥ETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET
RITBARIRIEE Investment in a subsidiary 158 158
EMBEELE Total non-current asset 158 158
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
fﬁ%&iﬁ/\gf‘f% Cash and cash equivalents 5,473,323 7,837,372
BNFIE ek Prepayments, deposits and 5,180,087 4,484 914
,H\ﬁﬂlﬂlﬁlﬁ 8 other receivables
MBEERE Total current assets 10,653,410 12,322,286
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
HiENRIBEREFER Other payables and accruals 870,280 46,067
RHEIE K Short-term loans - 801,249
MEAERE Total current liabilities 870,280 847,316
MEEEFHE NET CURRENT ASSETS 9,783,130 11,474,970
BEERRSEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 9,783,288 11,475,128
FEE NET ASSETS 9,783,288 11,475,128
s EQUITY
e Share capital 152 152
H A (H5) Other reserves (note) 9,783,136 11,474,976
EmBEE Total equity 9,783,288 11,475,128
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A w) AR (4 ) 40. STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
iz - Note:
KRR FEREQAT A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
A1 58 B “Et
Share Retained
premium profits Total
AREFT AREFT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R-ZZTE=—_—F—HF—H At 1 January 2021 11,640,394 (18,138) 11,622,256
A5 A Profit for the year - 152,797 152,797
FAEEW =BT Total comprehensive income
for the year - 152,797 152,797
T TFRERE Final dividend for 2020 = (300,077) (300,077)
WZZE_—F+=-A=+—H At31 December 2021 and
rZZE-_—F—HF—H 1 January 2022 11,640,394 (165,418) 11,474,976
FRiE Profit for the year = 122,437 122,437
FAEEW BT Total comprehensive income
for the year - 122,437 122,437
ZTE—FRERE Final dividend for 2021 = (661,719) (661,719)
ZTEFHHRE The interim dividend for 2022 = (299,328) (299,328)
R RIRR B Special dividend = (853,230) (853,230)
R-Z-—#+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 11,640,394 (1,857,258) 0,783,136

IS 5 3R 41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
PHBRERER_E-_=F=A=_+N\BE The financial statements were approved and

Bl ERIRETHE -

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
March 2023.



296 | #mE%4EERAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

S 5 M

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

“E-Cf CE--% CZEZZTF ZE-NF ZE-N\F
FReE Consolidated results 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ARETT ARE®ETT ARETT ARBTr ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Yrzs Revenue 12,016,179 8875384 6,778,911  5868,103 4,431,727
BREC AT A Profit before tax 2,906,153 2,336,556 1,134,926 496,508 571,965
FIERHAS Income tax expenses (692,905) (610,486) (317,216) (131,580) (149,047)
F R Profit for the year 2,213,248 1,726,070 817,710 364,928 422,918
AT AL - Attributable to:
BARHEAA Owners of the parent 2,206,126 1,724,925 817,170 364,928 422,918
g 5 Non-controlling interests 7,122 1,145 = = =
—E-CF —E--F ZE-TFE —E-NF ZEB-N\E
SEUBMR Consolidated financial position 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ARETT AREFTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current assets 9,998,710 5,561,773 2,744,185 2,478,121 2,381,662
MEEE Current assets 15,839,132 16,030,149 16,331,769 4,623,157 3,359,952
mEEE Current liabilities 8,039,561 6,079,062 5055330 4,637,347 3,685,102
REBEE /(BE)FHE Net current assets/(liabilities) 7,799,571 9,951,087 11,276,439 (14,190) (325,150)
BEERTYEE Total assets less current liabilites 17,798,281 15,512,860 14,020,624 2,463,931 2,056,512
ERBERE Non-current liabilities 3,472,549 1,623,835 1,557,692 1,432,347 1,389,856
EEFE Net assets 14,325,732 13,889,025 12,463,032 1,031,584 666,656
B Equity
INSE2-IN L 2 Equity attributable to owners
of the parent
[LEN Share capital 152 152 152 88 88
[ Reserve 14,279,577 13,887,728 12,462,880 1,031,496 666,568
14,279,729 13,887,880 12,463,032 1,031,584 666,656
Ikt Non-controlling interests 46,003 1,145 = = =
BniaE Total equity 14,325,732 13,889,025 12,463,032 1,031,584 666,656
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires,
the following words and expressions shall have the
following meanings.

[ZZ-=FRFEFARE] FARABR_ZBZ=FARA (EHPD) BTHRRBFEAE

‘2023 AGM”

[ ERAA ]

“Articles of Association”

=0
“Board”

[(ZEERTAI
“CG Code”

[ E

“China” or “PRC”

[REPE]

“Companies Act”

[ARAF ]

“‘Company”

[ 1R AR 3R
“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”
[ HRTT

“CR Bank”

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 6 June 2023

ARRABERAR - BTRHERT - AT IAE M B
the articles of association of the Company, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

RRREEE

the board of directors of the Company

LR RIBER T I pr e R EA<T Al

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

HEARKME  ERXEMEREREFRME - TEEEE - PERFFRITEHE R
the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires and only for the
purpose of this annual report, excluding Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative

Region of the PRC and Taiwan

RERBEE2FRAE(ZEZ=ZFBFIM) - BTRBE] - s A s gk
the Companies Act (2023 Revision), Cap. 22 of the Cayman lIslands, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EREREEERAF
£ (BRI ER  1209)
China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (ZEHBZE/EABR A A]), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability and the shares of
which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1209)

—HERHASREEMRLNERRERAF - EROVBEZ AR

BEREMRAME FORE - OXEME 28 (EE) & EESH
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and as the context requires, CRH
and/or CR Land

KEEBRITRMDARAR A REBMNAWENWMMRT  REBRERAITHE  F#H
AR 158 H AP 4970.28% K ik #

China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (BB RRITRMHERAF), a municipal
bank headquartered in Zhuhai, in which CRI holds approximately 70.28% equity interest
as at the Latest Practicable Date



BE

DEFINITION

[ REE
“CR Group”

[EBEEHEE AL
“CR Land Connected
Persons”

[EBE M

“CR Land”

[FEZEH]

“CRC”

(%8 (%) |

“CRH"

[#EH (5E) BEALT]
“CRH Connected
Persons”

[ R
“‘CRI”

==
“Director(s)”

[AEE ]
“Group”

298 | #mEx4EERAT | China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

24 (5EH)  HERAFRRESENME AR (B HERBEREERIN)
CRH, its holding companies, and their respective subsidiaries, unless specifically
defined otherwise

EHEMREBEA
CR Land and its associates

EHEMARAF  —HRFEHSTMRINERDAF - HROREBERZAER LT (RHK
5% 0 1109) - ARBERSKEER - UAAARNWERIERAR

China Resources Land Limited (ZEEEHBRZAR]), a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and the shares of which are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1109), ultimately held by CRC and the
immediate holding company of the Company

PREEHERAR  —HARPREKINEREERF  TARTEBEEREEEEELEEER
ZESEENRALE  BARQRNRKKIERAT

China Resources Company Limited (FEIZEEARRAF]), a company established in
the PRC with limited liability and a state-owned enterprise under the supervision of
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council,
PRC and the ultimate holding company of the Company

FH(EE)ARRA > —RREBIMKINERAR - HTFBREFREZEE - TAKAF]
B REEAR A A

China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited ((E(%B)BRAF]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, ultimately held by CRC and the
intermediate holding company of the Company

i (KEH)  HERAR HEENNERARRABEAR (TEEEHEMRAEAL)
CRH, its holding companies, their respective subsidiaries and their associates
(excluding CR Land Connected Persons)

ERERHERLIE - —ERPEKIHROAERRE - WAER (SE) F HZERAF
China Resources Inc. (FEFEBRMARAF]), a joint stock limited liability company
established in the PRC, which is an intermediate holding company of CRH

RRAFES

the director(s) of the Company

RRABREMB AR (FIRNEME - AR R REEA - ZBHERF)
the Company and its subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or more of its
subsidiaries, as the context may require)



[
“HK$" or “HKD"

(&%
“Hong Kong”

[RIZBIRAITTAE]

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ i HH ]
“Listing Date”

[ AR Al
“Listing Rules”

[ E77]

“Listing”

[1Z=%E=pAl ]
“Model Code”

[ ER ]
“Prospectus”

[E4]

“Reorganization”

TAR#]
“RMB”

[E5 NS P

“SFO”

[ A7 |
“Share(s)”
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BEZEEERET

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

P EIEERIITRE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

ZEC=FMOAZ R RAFRHNEDEAGRIAEERNFRPAHE TEHNREE
BRAI1T B HA

21 April 2023, being the latest practicable date prior to the bulk printing and publication
of this annual report for the purpose of ascertaining certain information contained in this
annual report

ZEEFTZANR - RO BT KRR D EERE R AFRE SN A E
9 December 2020, the date on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange and
from which dealings in the Shares are permitted to commence on the Stock Exchange

BEEMERXSAERDFERS ETRA - G TRER - 7 A = 75 B
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

A TERE A2 P AR BT
the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

FTARBINSE T AR ( EMBITAERETESFZSNEEFAD
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

RARBHAZZ_THF+—-—A-THBENHERKRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 25 November 2020

REBEREE ITETHEE  FEE2HBREREL SARMCHEERE — 54A]

the restructuring and reorganization undergone by the Group in preparation of the
Listing, details of which are set out in “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure
— Reorganization” in the Prospectus

PEDEEEBARK

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

BEBEOIBST1 BREF LEERD - B ARHERT - HakAHM AR BN
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

AN AR A @R EEO0.00001 ETTH) E R AR

ordinary shares of a par value of US$0.00001 each in the capital of the Company
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FEFR
DEFINITION

[ AR 3R ] SREST=PN

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

[ B¢ 32 7 | BEEMERHRAERRQR

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
[%] AL

“%” per cent

RAFERD - [RXERBAEIN  [BMBEAL
[REMBA][BEAL] [BEXS][H
BRERS ] [BEER] [HBRE] RIE
ZRR | FAREAA EHRAME TR HERE
% o

In this annual report, the terms “associate”, “close
associate”, “connected person”, “connected transaction”,
“continuing connected transaction”, “controlling
shareholder”, “subsidiary” and “substantial shareholder”
shall have the same meanings ascribed to them in the
Listing Rules, unless the context otherwise requires.
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